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The first virtual Prime Minister’s Questions in the UK House of 
Commons, in April 2020.
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When I became Speaker, in November last year, I spoke of 

the importance of making sure that those on the benches of 

the House of Commons have the right to question and hold 

to account whoever is in power.

This resonates strongly with the work that Westminster 

Foundation for Democracy (WFD) undertakes in supporting 

parliaments, civil society, and other institutions in becoming 

more representative, accountable and a safe place to work 

for MPs and staff.

WFD has a close partnership with the House of Commons 

and by drawing on the expertise of MPs and staff alike, it 

helps countries navigate the path to being more resilient and 

representative democracies.  

From making politics in East Africa more inclusive, to con-

ducting pioneering research into the challenges to democracy 

in the Western Balkans – WFD has helped foster democratic 

traditions and build fairer political systems across the world.

In the UK, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic – and thanks 

to the ingenuity and talent of our House of Commons staff – we 

ensured that our strong democratic tradition could continue 

throughout lockdown as we moved to a virtual parliament. 

WFD’s work supporting other countries to do the same should 

be commended.

Foreword
Sir Lindsay Hoyle MP

Speaker of the House of Commons and Patron of WFD

When my esteemed predecessor Baroness Boothroyd wrote 

the foreword to WFD’s first annual report almost 30 years 

ago, I am sure she imagined a very different world than the 

one we face now. Challenges such as authoritarianism and 

environmental and public health emergencies are pushing 

democracy to the brink and testing it like never before. In the 

wake of this adversity, WFD’s work strengthening democracies 

is more important than ever.

I am honoured to support WFD in these endeavours as its 

Patron – and wish it well for the year ahead.
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Richard Graham MP speaks at WFD’s roundtable during the British-Canadian 
conference on media freedom in July 2019.
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The core values of Westminster Foundation for Democracy 

(WFD) – the rule of law, tolerance and freedom – lie at the 

heart of British democracy, and our work around the world 

reinforces our fundamental belief that power lies with the 

people through the ballot box.

At the end of a year when there was much progress on the 

ground to celebrate, the COVID-19 pandemic has cast a long 

shadow on democratic institutions and practice. But WFD 

was still able to help partners in tackling new challenges: in 

Nepal, WFD supported the relevant committee in parliament 

in reviewing the 57-year-old Infectious Disease Act that the 

government invoked to tackle COVID-19.

In Kosovo, on the back of an initiative led by WFD, three out of 

five of the main political parties excluded candidates with crim-

inal indictments or sentences from their election lists in the 

2019 snap elections.

In Jordan, WFD helped develop a new e-voting system in the 

House of Representatives, to make voting more efficient and 

transparent.

These successes are built upon the strength of our local staff, 

some of whom I met when visiting WFD’s offices in North 

Macedonia and Indonesia. 

What also always strikes me on visits are the relationships and 

goodwill – with parliaments, political parties, and civil society 

organisations – fostered by WFD and the British political parties 

who run projects agreed with us.

Introduction from the Chair
Richard Graham MP

Chair of WFD’s Board of Governors 

Last year, for example, WFD brought together an expert 

panel of government ministers from Indonesia and Malaysia, 

along with senior journalists, to discuss media freedom in 

south-east Asia at the joint British-Canadian conference on 

media freedom.

This was one example of practical steps to support UK gov-

ernment priorities to address the root causes of conflict, 

corruption and human rights abuses.

These relationships will be vital in maintaining progress in 

countries where emergency legislation and social distancing 

threaten vibrant scrutiny and democratic challenge. 

We face new threats as the world tries to return to normal – 

but I am confident that WFD staff and partners will again find 

creative solutions. In a year when the Economist’s Democracy 

Index turned negative for the first time in 30 years, there is 

much to do.
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Anthony Smith and Talat Xhaferi, President of the Assembly of the Republic of North 
Macedonia at the opening of the Parliamentary Budget Office in North Macedonia. 
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Among the lessons of the past, remarkable, twelve months, 

one that has stuck with me is the importance of resilience. 

This applies at so many levels – as individuals in the face of 

isolation or injustice, as communities as we mourn the loss 

of friends and family, and as democracies as we seek to build 

or win the rights and freedoms that enable us to live our lives 

as fully as we deserve.

The challenges that we have faced and the ones ahead – wheth-

er they come from our relationship with the natural world, like 

COVID-19 or climate breakdown, or from our relationships with 

each other, like the criminal injustice suffered by minorities 

and women – have one thing in common.

That common thread is that our response depends on the 

quality of our political systems. All parts of our societies 

need a voice and the ability to participate in political life. We 

need to debate these challenges openly and with respect and 

understanding. Our justice systems need to operate fairly and 

apply equally to all. And we need to have confidence in our 

democratic institutions.

Chief Executive’s report
Anthony Smith CMG 

Chief Executive Officer of WFD

The challenges we face are shared. Women and young people 

are leading the response and building the resilience of demo-

cratic governance or, all too often, working to restore it after 

a long period of decline.

Westminster Foundation for Democracy is honoured to support 

that leadership and help democratic institutions to better pro-

tect and address the needs of the most vulnerable in society.
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Chief Executive’s report

This year, inclusion has been at the heart of many of our key achievements:

•	 In the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kyrgyzstan, Morocco, and Nepal, we have worked with women parliamentarians 

and councillors to hone their leadership skills and support them as they prepare for elections. In Sudan, we provided women 

political leaders with negotiation training to strengthen their role in the peace process.					   

•	 We have made sure that the needs of persons with disabilities are properly taken into account in political decision making, 

by supporting new laws which ensure persons with disabilities in three Kenyan counties have the same rights and access 

as other members of society; training new MPs in Sierra Leone on disability inclusion; and facilitating the President of 

Mozambique’s commitment to new laws, policies and strategies to improve inclusion.					   

•	 Through our Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy programme WFD worked with young people to ensure they are 

included in political decision making. In Ghana, we trained 3,000 student leaders on parliamentary ethics, while in East 

Africa, we worked with young people to secure the support of political leaders for a regional commitment to good govern-

ance.														            

•	 In the Western Balkans, we launched the Human Rights and Gender Network (HUGEN) to enable parliaments to better 

promote gender equality in politics and across society and enshrine international standards of human rights in law through 

sharing lessons and experiences. 											         

	

•	 WFD continued to support the Arab League and the Coalition of Women MPs from Arab Countries in drafting the first ever 

regional agreement to tackle gender-based violence. In Lebanon, we also assisted a parliamentary committee in amending 

the Lebanese Penal Code to criminalise sexual harassment and extend the definition of rape – this will serve to reduce the 

impunity of perpetrators of violence against women. 							     

The international development work of the UK political parties has also generated some important results this year:

	

•	 The Conservative Party’s WFD programme is supporting aims to eradicate violence against women in politics in Honduras 

by working with the Union of Latin American Parties to present bills in the local Congress on this important topic.		

•	 The Labour Party’s WFD programme supported the Women’s Academy for Africa (WAFA) in promoting gender equality 

and women’s empowerment across the region. This year, the party organised a workshop to train women leaders from 13 

African countries on how to run their own workshops on fundraising skills and building a campaign profile. 			 

•	 The Scottish National Party’s WFD programme collaborated with the Committee of Voters of Ukraine to host a series of 

roundtable discussions around Ukraine aimed at developing a cross-sector strategy and a guide for citizens to identify and 

combat Russian disinformation in advance of presidential and parliamentary elections. 					   

		

•	 Other parties represented in Westminster implemented a range of programmes, including one which collaborated with 

the Conservative Party of Georgia to help them play a lead role in the government’s response to tackling fake news and 

disinformation ahead of elections in 2020. WFD later provided technical support to the first ever parliamentary inquiry 

on disinformation.
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These are just some of our achievements from this year and you will find many more in this report. These achievements 

were identified through the information that was gathered in our new Evidence and Impact Hub which evaluates the impact 

of our programmes against our intended and expected outcomes. By gathering data from our local offices, we are building 

an evidence base for what we do, which in turn improves the overall quality of our democracy assistance work.

This evidence also feeds into our research, with new findings and analysis being published this year on election observation 

missions, anti-corruption, women on parliamentary committees, and more. Through our partnership with the International 

Development Department of the University of Birmingham, we continue to build a greater understanding of democratic 

governance and use that knowledge to improve the design of our activities.

We are also aided in our endeavours by other partnerships, such as those with the UK’s political parties. By working closely 

with the parties and their sister party networks, we can engage parties around the world to strengthen accountability, gender 

representation, and accessibility to persons with disabilities.

As the COVID-19 pandemic took hold, WFD adapted its programmes as the needs of our partners changed and donors re-as-

sessed priorities. The pandemic affected all the countries in which we work but also reinforced the importance of democratic 

institutions such as parliaments in providing accountability when measures to address a public health emergency are intro-

duced but used to curtail civil liberties.

WFD’s mission – to support legitimate and effective, multi-party, representative democracy - is more relevant than ever in 

the context of the pandemic. The world has changed radically in the past year but, in the face of new challenges, we believe 

that inclusion, equality, and political participation remain the foundation for sustained progress.  

WFD’s achievements this year would not have been possible without the resilience shown by all our staff and partners and 

the excellent work they have done on a daily basis. This report is a testament to the breadth of their efforts to support de-

mocracy around the world, in all its forms.

In the following sections, you will find a review of the year and how the organisation has adapted, a breakdown of our work 

in each region of the world, a summary of what we have achieved through our partnership with the UK political parties, and 

our annual report and accounts. I hope you enjoy reading them.

Anthony Smith CMG

Chief Executive Officer of WFD
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The year in review

Throughout the year, we have continued to improve our systems, refine our methodology, expand our expertise, and extend 

our operations. As a democracy-supporting organisation, we have over 150 people employed across our headquarters and 

32 country offices. 

Programmes

In 2019-20, WFD ran 81 programmes in 47 countries. We launched new programmes in countries such as Sudan, where we 

trained women political leaders in negotiating to help them play an important role in the peace process. While in the Maldives, 

we are working with parliament and its committees to make it more inclusive, gender-responsive and accountable.  Many of our 

existing programmes, including strengthening accountability and inclusion in the Union parliament in Myanmar were extended.

Across our network, we organised over 1,000 activities and employed nearly 300 experts to create tailor-made approaches, 

capable of addressing local challenges to democratic governance.   

Supporting the UK’s global role

As the UK redefines its international role, WFD continues to play an important part in promoting British democratic values 

and supporting the UK’s foreign and development policy.

As a non-departmental public body, sponsored by the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO, formerly FCO), 

WFD partners with the UK government and supports its priorities, while also building collaborative relationships with other 

leading governments, international, regional and local organisations:

•	 WFD is a key part of Global Britain and strengthens relationships between party and institutional leaders in over 30 coun-

tries and their UK counterparts. 

•	 WFD represents the face of UK democracy assistance worldwide, and is increasingly influencing global efforts through its 

participation in networks such as the Declaration of Principles for International Election Observation, the Open Government 

Partnership (OGP), and the Global Organisation of Parliamentarians Against Corruption (GOPAC).

•	 WFD develops strategic and working level links with other leading international democracy assistance organisations and 

donors – including the European Partnership for Democracy, International IDEA, UNDP, National Democratic Institute, Inter-

national Republican Institute, and a range of Commonwealth organisations – to help extend the reach and impact of our work.

•	 WFD builds platforms for increased security and prosperity by addressing the root causes of conflict, corruption, human 

rights abuses, poor governance, and insufficient political inclusion, particularly of women. 

•	 WFD empowers individuals and groups to exercise their democratic rights, as we believe that effective, accountable and 

inclusive institutions provide the groundwork for all democratic and liberal societies. Our support for parliaments and polit-

ical parties enables them to play an active role in: defending the rights of women, the LGBT+ community, and persons with 

disabilities; strengthening human rights committees; promoting legislative reform; and working with parties to formulate 

progressive pro-poor and inclusive policies.

•	 We support the UK Government on specific initiatives in our field, such as defending media freedom. WFD hosted a panel 

discussion on South-East Asia at the joint UK-Canadian conference on media freedom. We also support this work on the 

ground, for example in Georgia, where we have provided journalists with training to help them better understand how par-

liament works and ensure their news reports are accurate. This in turn increases public interest in parliamentary work and in 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo, we trained parliamentary staff in communicating to the country’s 84 million citizens.

•	 By employing local and expert staff in our network of offices in 32 countries outside the UK, we can provide UK Government 

departments and embassies with quick, accurate and in-depth political analysis.
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Young people from East Africa gathered for the second session of the East African Youth 
Parliament, organised by Faraja Africa Foundation with support from WFD, in November 2019.
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WFD staff receiving training on our new finance system, which we 
introduced this year.
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Investing in new ways of working and better safeguards

In this reporting year, we have made significant improvements in our systems and strengthened the way in which we support 

our people and manage our programmes:

•	 We have provided additional training to staff across all our teams on safeguarding, while renewing efforts to ensure con-

tracting and risk management procedures are complied with across WFD. This is to meet our commitment to safeguard all 

staff and beneficiaries from sexual harassment, exploitation and abuse.

•	 We are ensuring inclusion is a core component across our programmes. We continued to develop capacity internally to 

better support women and other marginalised groups.

•	 We continued to improve a new online platform for monitoring and evaluating programmes regularly and consistently: the 

WFD Evidence and Impact Hub. This enabled us to monitor and analyse the latest data on programmes which is collected 

more quickly.  

We have also introduced a new finance system. As well as helping our staff save time, this helps us maintain the necessary 

rigour in ensuring our work represents value for money and is spent in the public’s interest.



As part of an international observation team, we 

sent an election observer to help monitor pres-

idential, parliamentary and regional elections 

which all took place on 17 April in Indonesia. This 

is the world’s third-largest democracy with an 

electorate of about 193 million voters. 245,000 

candidates competed for approximately 22,000 

places with the election spread over an archipel-

ago of more than 17,000 islands, spanning three 

time zones.

In Myanmar, we provided mentors (former MPs) to 

parliamentary committees and trained committee 

members in developing their skills of conducting 

inquiries. On the back of this training, the first ever 

public hearings were held in parliament, a signifi-

cant milestone for transparency and accountabil-

ity. During the same month, a delegation from the 

education committee visited South Africa to learn 

more about how education policy can be used to 

alleviate poverty and build inclusive societies.

April

May

Under our flagship ‘Western Balkans Democracy 

Initiative’, we published research on the cost of 

youth emigration to Western Balkan economies. 

Widely reported findings from Serbia revealed 

80% of young people are actively considering 

leaving the country. WFD is now working with polit-

ical parties, institutions and civil society to identify 

policy responses. Sister reports covering Monte-

negro, North Macedonia and Albania followed later 

in the year.

We hosted a regional conference in Yangon, Myan-

mar, on how parliaments in Asia are taking action 

to monitor the implementation of new legislation 

and review existing laws. The event gathered over 

700 legislators, civil servants and researchers. 

Examples of the legislation being reviewed on the 

back of this conference include: the law which was 

invoked in Nepal to tackle COVID-19; a review of 

the Microfinance law in Myanmar which enabled 

WFD to provide a platform for start-ups to get 

greater financial assistance (include businesses 

drying rice for farmers, which is profitable as dried 

rice is worth more than wet rice); and discrimina-

tion and human rights abuses in local legislation in 

Indonesia.

June

The year in brief

We delivered 
more than

1,182 
activities.
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August

We organised a conference in Ghana for activists 

and legislators from 14 Commonwealth countries 

on women’s political leadership. This informed 

research we are undertaking in partnership with 

the International Development Department at the 

University of Birmingham on women in African 

parliaments and their influence on policymaking. 

We supported the Uganda Parliamentary Forum 

on Youth Affairs as it committed the National 

Youth Moot Parliament to improving the partici-

pation of persons living with disabilities in politics. 

This resulted in proposals to amend the National 

Youth Council Act (2010) to include representation 

of young people with a disability at all levels and to 

provide for a national youth MP to represent this 

constituency.

September

We organised a roundtable on media freedom in 

South-East Asia as part of the UK and Canadian 

Governments’ conference on defending media 

freedom, with a guest panel including: His Excel-

lency Mr Gobind Singh Deo (former Minister of 

Communications and Multimedia, Malaysia), H.E. 

Mr Rudiantara (Minister of Communication Infor-

mation Technology, Indonesia), Ms Maria Ressa 

(Chief Executive, Rappler online news organisation 

(Philippines) and CNN journalist), Mr Myat (Sonny) 

Swe (founder of news outlet Frontier, Myanmar) 

and Ms Daw Tin Htar Swe OBE (former Editor, BBC 

Burmese Service). The discussion was opened by 

Richard Graham MP.

July

We launched 

56 
new programmes.

We implemented

81 
programmes in 

47 
countries 
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We launched the Human Rights and Gender Network (HUGEN) 

in the Western Balkans. This brings together parliamentary 

committees from the region to support progressive action 

on human rights and equality. The programme follows the 

model of the Regional Network of Parliamentary Committees 

for Economy and Finance, which WFD reconstituted in 2012 

to support political and institutional reform in the Western 

Balkans.

In Sierra Leone, we supported the Parliament as it launched a 

mobile app to improve transparency and citizens’ political 

engagement. The app has been downloaded over 1,000 times, 

with an average user rating of 4.5 out of 5.

In Mozambique, we supported the presidency as it organised a 

dialogue with hundreds of persons living with disabilities. The 

event secured a commitment from the President to enact new 

laws and promote executive action on socio-economic and 

political inclusion.

In Kosovo, WFD led an initiative to tackle corruption and pro-

mote fairer politics ahead of the 2019 elections, which resulted 

in three out of five of the main political parties excluding 

candidates with criminal indictments or sentences from their 

election lists.

October

November

In Kenya, powers are being devolved to the 

county level, which is why WFD has been aiding 

organisations for persons living with disabilities in 

lobbying for greater and equal access to politics, 

leading to the passing of inclusive disability laws in 

counties around the country. Following extensive 

engagement with local civil society organisations, 

Disability Bills were introduced in local counties 

such as Kakamega and Homa Bay that enshrined 

this equality in law. 

In Tanzania, WFD supported the largest youth 

leadership gathering in East Africa, the YouLead 

Summit. Over 300 young people from Uganda, 

Kenya, Tanzania, South Sudan, Rwanda and 

Burundi came from hundreds of miles away to 

discuss common issues faced by young people all 

over the region and how they can help their coun-

tries with implementing the region’s sustainable 

development goals.

Across two cities in Kyrgyzstan, Tokmok and 

Bishkek, we organised training for 59 women 

councillors on electoral campaign strategy 

and how to prepare for upcoming elections, 

while in Sudan, we provided women political 

leaders with training to improve their nego-

tiation skills ahead of sensitive talks for the 

peace process. 

December
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February

The Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy 

(CP4D), a partnership programme managed by the 

UK Foreign and Commonwealth Office and imple-

mented by WFD, hosted 17 participants from nine 

Asian countries. This included current and former 

parliamentarians and leading civil society activists, 

and a closed-door roundtable in a South-East Asian 

country to discuss nationally-appropriate ways to 

advance the rights of LGBT+ people in Asia.

We hosted the closing conference for the 2018-

2020 Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy 

(CP4D). The event took place at the Royal Acad-

emy, the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, and 

UK Parliament. It saw over 200 delegates from 14 

Commonwealth countries convene in London to 

share solutions to foster inclusion and accounta-

bility in politics.

As the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic took hold 

across much of the world, our teams started work-

ing to adapt our programmes in partnership with 

donors and help mitigate the risks the pandemic 

poses to democratic progress.

March

As part of our new programme, we facilitated 

meetings between the leadership of the Maldives 

Parliament (the Majlis), the UK House of Commons 

and the Welsh Parliament to share best practice 

on standards of conduct in public life and on public 

and civil society engagement.

January

We deployed 

280 

experts to train and advise 
partners. 20% of  them were 
from the UK and 80% from 
other countries. 38% of them 
were women.

We authored 

235 
original studies, policy briefs,  
guidance documents and multimedia 
products to inform policymaking and 
share best practice. 
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Parliaments and Civil 
Society
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Programmes

Why we work with parliaments

Legislatures are the cornerstones of democratic governance. They check and challenge the work of government, make and 

amend laws and debate important issues. 

Parliaments serve as a central gateway for all citizens to actively participate in public life. They also play a critical role in 

conflict-affected states, bringing together divergent interests and fostering relationships among their members and the 

groups they represent. 

WFD works with parliaments to promote inclusive and effective governance that strengthens policy making, holds government 

to account and represents people’s interests. 
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Representatives of civil society organisations speaking about inclusive politics 
at our Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy conference in March 2020. 
Kenyan disability expert Faith Odidi addresses the audience.
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Freda Liu from BFM, a radio station in Malaysia, 
speaks at the Women Who Lead conference.
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Why we work with civil society

Democracy is about engaging people in the decisions that impact on their lives, whether in traditional ways or virtually with 

technology, as many institutions are doing as a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. The ability of citizens to interact 

with political institutions is critical to the future of democratic systems.

While parliaments and political parties are important for effective democracy, civil society organisations provide an alternative 

channel to engage constructively with government to ensure adequate services are provided and evidence-based policies 

are adopted. 

Civil society organisations are independent and often rely on volunteers from their communities. They range from small 

community-based organisations to larger non-governmental organisations and they often campaign and advocate for better 

human rights standards. 

Engaging civil society is part of many WFD programmes, and we are proud to support these organisations in building inclusive 

societies and holding democratic institutions to account. 
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Sub-Saharan Africa
I

In Africa, WFD worked with parliaments at national and sub-national levels, as well as with civil society organisations 

and independent institutions, to consolidate and strengthen democracy. During 2019-20, we made progress on 

supporting more inclusive political processes and assisting people that are often poorly represented (including 

women, persons with disabilities, and young people) as they become more active in politics. 
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20 

active programmes

299 

activities

65
experts engaged

25 

conferences

19
public facing campaigns, 

such as the campaign to end 

gender-based violence in Nigeria
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Giving young people 
a voice

Uganda

In Uganda, where 78% of the population is below the age of 

30, we worked with Parliament, the youth parliament, young 

politicians, and youth groups to support the representation 

and inclusion of young people. 

A robust legal and policy framework for young people’s 

representation in governance exists, but it has done little 

to address the limited opportunities for them to influence 

national policies. This problem has been amplified by the fact 

that it has been difficult to create meaningful legislation which 

is responsive to the social, economic and political needs and 

aspirations of young people in Uganda.

Over the past two years, WFD has worked with Members of 

Parliament who belong to the Uganda Parliamentary Forum 

on Youth Affairs (UPFYA) to help them turn key decision 

makers into allies. Our work has also assisted our partners 

as they sought to influence Parliament’s legislative agenda, 

ensuring all laws take young people’s needs into account.

For example, an entire session of the National Youth Moot 

Parliament was dedicated to increasing the participation of 

persons with disabilities in politics. This in turn resulted in 

proposals to amend the National Youth Council Act (2010) 

to ensure young people with a disability are represented 

at all levels and to provide for a national youth Member of 

Parliament to represent them. 

In November 2019, WFD supported the YouLead summit 

which took place in Arusha, Tanzania. This was the largest 

youth leadership gathering in East Africa, with over 300 

young people from Uganda, Kenya, Tanzania, South Su-

dan, Rwanda and Burundi arriving from hundreds of miles 

away on a series of buses and other modes of transport, to 

discuss common issues faced by young people all over the 

region. The summit’s objective was to enable young people 

to be more meaningfully involved in the implementation and 

tracking of the region’s sustainable development goals. The 

summit this year was combined with the East African Youth 

Parliament, where 150 young people elected Ashura Michael, 

a deaf youth activist from Kenya, as a Speaker for their Youth 

Parliament. The session was organised by the Faraja Africa 

Foundation with support from WFD, Action Aid, the YouLead 

Summit, and the International Republican Institute.
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Participants during the East African Youth Parliament and YouLead 
Summit in Arusha, Tanzania, November 2019.
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Participants in a session on setting state youth agendas that advocate for 
things that are important to young Nigerians, in June 2019.
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Nigeria

Nigeria is expected to be the world’s third most populous 

country by 2050, with 400 million inhabitants (according 

to UN estimates). Nearly 70% of Nigerians are under the 

age of 35. However, a limited proportion of these people are 

represented in any level of government.

Over recent years, Nigeria has made welcome advances on 

this front. Notably, in May 2018, Parliament passed legislation 

to lower the minimum age necessary to run for office from 35 

to 30 years in the Senate, and 30 to 25 years in the House of 

Representatives and State House of Assembly. Known as the 

‘Not Too Young to Run’ bill, the change started to address the 

generational divide entrenched in the Nigerian body politic. 

In 2019-20, WFD Nigeria, through its ‘Inclusive and Accounta-

ble Politics’ programme funded by DFID, continued to develop 

young political leaders. Importantly, it helped establish a 

new activist network: Young Persons in Politics with Values. 

This aims to advocate for increased opportunities for young 

people in politics. It also underpins, through monitoring and 

evaluation, the work carried out by members of the National 

Assembly who are part of the Young Parliamentarian Forum 

(YPF) caucus. Activities included supporting preparatory 

meetings, network events and courses on value-based ad-

vocacy.
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In June 2019, the local WFD team brought together 26 grass-

roots youth representatives in Lagos and 21 in Enugu State 

to develop local government agendas for youth inclusion and 

good governance in a participatory way. Each document is 

an advocacy tool, which will form the basis for continuous 

engagement between young people and elected represent-

atives at local level. Activists envisage these documents will 

be a useful reference to measure progress against objectives 

in the years to come.

Between June and August 2019, WFD Nigeria, in partnership 

with the Africa Network for Environment and Economic 

Justice and the Government of Edo State, promoted local 

initiatives inspired by the Open Government Partnership, an 

international forum for 79 countries committed to making 

their governments more open and accountable.

These included an introductory workshop for over 70 govern-

ment officials and civil society leaders and a three-day retreat 

to develop an Edo State Action Plan. Edo State Governor, God-

win Obaseki, welcomed the effort and pledged support for 

actions promoting greater transparency, accountability and 

citizen participation.

In October 2019, WFD Nigeria launched the #PoliticsWith-

Values campaign at an event attended by Hon. Babajide 

Obanikoro, Nigerian musician and politician Mr Olubankole 

‘Banky W’ Wellington, and others. The campaign launch 

included training for all members of the Politics with Values 

Network, and an additional 40 activists, on a ‘Politics with 

Values Scorecard’. This will be used to assess the perfor-

mance of young legislators based on set criteria (such as 

how effective they are at representing their constituents) 

and flag opportunities for development.

WFD is also supporting marginalised groups (including young 

people, women and persons with disabilities) to get involved 

in elections through the #OurVoteCountsNG project, with 

the backing of the European Union’s Support to Democratic 

Governance programme in Nigeria (EU-SDGN). As part of the 

project, WFD set up a peer network for young people in three 

pilot states: Imo, Osun, and the Federal Capital Territory, to 

reach out to other young people to shift and improve per-

ceptions around the importance of elections.

The outreach was designed to increase young people’s desire 

to engage in elections and was held under the supervision of 

the Independent National Electoral Commission and National 

Youth Service Corps (NYSC).

WFD’s internal evaluation of the programme revealed that 

these activities formed part of a wider shift which helped 

reduce electoral violence and the number of voided votes in 

Osun State (voided votes fell from 48,000 recorded during 

the governorship elections in September 2018 to 17,000 in 

the presidential elections in February 2019).

In December 2019, WFD Nigeria promoted a social media 

creative contest in support of the 16 Days of Activism Against 

Gender-Based Violence. Members of the National Youth 

Service Corps in Imo State, Osun State and the Federal Cap-

ital Territory were encouraged to participate by submitting 

creative videos, images and write-ups advocating against 

gender-based violence. 

The initiative aimed at increasing the awareness of gen-

der-based violence among NYSC members and the general 

public and eliciting collective efforts towards prevention and 

elimination of violence against women and girls. The contest 

reached over 50,000 users on social media.

Botswana

As part of the WFD-led Commonwealth Partnership for De-

mocracy (CP4D), WFD supported civil society organisations 

in exploring new ways to eliminate barriers to the participa-

tion of underrepresented groups, including young people, 

women and persons with disabilities, in national politics. In 

November 2019, WFD organised a training session for local 

civil society organisations on how to build coalitions and 

manage effective campaigns.
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Building inclusive democracies

Kenya

In 2013, Kenyans voted to decentralise government, ushering 

in a new era of leadership with 47 governors and their teams 

taking up the reins of power in newly-created counties.

Having encountered political, fiscal and administrative chal-

lenges, the devolution of powers to counties now enters a 

critical stage. It is against this background that WFD Kenya is 

supporting marginalised communities such as persons with 

disabilities in ensuring they have equal opportunities to ac-

cess public education, health and employment services – all 

of which have been devolved to county level. 

In 2019-20, WFD Kenya supported local persons with disabilities 

and their organisations in lobbying for greater access to the 

political sphere, leading to the passing of inclusive disability 

laws at county level.  

As a result of activities sponsored by WFD, disabled persons’ 

organisations and allies have achieved significant policy chang-

es, thanks to sustained engagement of elected members of 

county assemblies in Kakamega, Kisumu and Homa Bay.

Over several months, WFD provided training on communication 

and advocacy, and helped activist groups submit representa-

tions to county legislative assemblies on legislation required 

to improve the lives of persons with disabilities.

Coordinated campaigns supported by WFD helped influence 

County Assemblies in Kakamega and Homa Bay, leading to 

the passing of new legislation. The bills focused on ensuring 

that marginalised groups have access to and play an active 

role in parliamentary and political processes.

Our Kenya programme also helped local government in Kisumu 

implement provisions from its Disability Act which, though 

enacted, had been sitting unapplied since its passing over 

three years earlier. 

In focus: how the Kakamega Disability Bill fostered 

more inclusive politics

‘We did not have any policy document to advance the per-

sons with disabilities agenda until this programme’ said 

the Hon. Timothy Aseka, a member of Kakamega County 

Assembly and Kakamega Disability Caucus. Stressing the 

importance of the bill, he explained how, thanks to sup-

port from WFD, over 900 persons with disabilities have 

now been employed using bursaries.

There are also now sign language interpreters in all gen-

eral hospitals across Kakamega county, as well as ramps 

and elevators to access the public gallery and the Of-

fice of the Governor in the county’s main administrative 

building.

Another example of the bill’s positive effect on inclusion 

comes from Lucy Mulombi, who has been appointed to 

a committee to represent the issues facing persons with 

disabilities, on the back of WFD’s work.

‘I was a simple rural teacher, who was not recognised in 

the community until this programme. I am now a mem-

ber of the Kakamega county budgetary economic forum 

that comprises of 11 non-state actors and 11 county com-

mittee members, chaired by the Governor himself,’ she 

explained.

Lucy’s story shows how important governance is to or-

dinary people. WFD is proud to have played a part in 

her journey to represent persons with disabilities at the 

county level through our work with the Kakamega Coun-

ty Assembly, which first established county caucuses, 

integrated them within the County Assembly structures 

and created a stronger platform for disabled persons’ 

organisations. WFD also helped build disabled persons’ 

organisations’ capacity to influence and participate in 

policymaking. Lucy has so far secured 36 bursary awards 

for children with disabilities.
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Uganda

Through supporting a local civil society organisation, the 

Uganda Women Parliamentary Association (UWOPA), in bet-

ter engaging Parliament, WFD has helped to nurture gender 

equality in many aspects of Ugandan society.

This year, WFD has continued to train MPs with new skills 

for policy advocacy, lobbying and communications, and on 

their financial oversight role. Equipped with these skills, WFD 

has assisted MPs in improving their capacity to influence the 

pro-women, gender equality and pro-youth agenda. Over the 

past two years, WFD has provided training on these tools for 

over 280 MPs.

Ghana

In August 2019, over 75 political party and community leaders 

from 14 Commonwealth countries gathered in Ghana at an 

event co-organised by WFD and the Parliament of Ghana 

under the UK’s 2018-20 Commonwealth Partnership for 

Democracy (CP4D), to address the underrepresentation of 

women in leadership positions across Africa.

Participants explored challenges women face in office, such 

as male predominance in family matters, misinformation 

about women’s ability to stand as candidates and dealing 

with widespread online abuse and considered context-ap-

propriate solutions.

The conference informed research WFD published in June 

2019 in partnership with the University of Birmingham on 

women in African parliaments and how they can influence 

policymaking (see the Research section of this report for 

more information). 

South Africa

South Africa’s most marginalised communities face major 

obstacles in accessing elected representatives to seek sup-

port. Civil society organisations play a vital role in supporting 

communities to engage with the democratic process. In areas 

of public health and public safety, it is often these organisa-

tions, rather than politicians, that connect citizen demands 

and local government agencies. 

Starting in 2018, WFD and the European Union supported the 

Johannesburg-based Democracy Works Foundation, which 

works to improve engagement on matters of public health 

and safety between communities and provincial legislatures. 

In 2019-20, activities included training for civil society organ-

isations on how to engage with local legislators effectively 

(May 2019) and a meeting between staff from the Limpopo 

provincial legislature and civil society representatives to im-

prove mutual understanding, priorities and ways of working 

(October 2019).

By upskilling civil society representatives to interact effec-

tively with local government through making submissions to 

elected provincial councils and drafting community petitions, 

and by teaching them how to use local TV and radio to lobby 

for change, the programme is starting to make a difference 

to people’s lives.

For example, in Limpopo, three local organisations, the Treat-

ment Action Campaign, BETA and Ritavi Victim Empowerment 

Programme, lodged public petitions successfully. This included 

demanding the local authority received them, despite the 

Petitions Officer not being available. This is something they 

did based on their new knowledge of the law and their new 

confidence in the process.

In another example, the Optimystic Bikers Against Abuse, a 

not-for-profit bike club which helps survivors of abuse, used 

consistent presence in radio programmes to raise awareness 

about their campaigns. They clocked an impressive 702 

mentions in local shows in 12 months, leading to a significant 

increase in support for petitions.

Sierra Leone

With an estimated 450,000 persons with disabilities in Sierra 

Leone (in a population of 7.5 million), the WFD Sierra Leone 

programme developed specialist expertise in disabilities 

programming. 

In January 2020, the local WFD Sierra Leone team launched 

a #PoliticsWithValues campaign in partnership with organi-

sations representing persons with disabilities. The campaign 

included a panel discussion with the University of Makeni on 

how citizens can enhance inclusive and accountable politics. 

The event attracted 629 participants, including students, 

members of the community, politicians, civil society repre-

sentatives, the media and academia. 

In 2018, WFD Sierra Leone, with funding from UK Aid through 

the Standing Together for Democracy Consortium, support-

ed the Sierra Leone Union on Disability Issues (SLUDI) in 

developing a national agenda to enhance the political par-

ticipation of persons with disabilities and ensure they have 

the same access to infrastructure and support as everyone 

else in society.  

In December 2019, building on that platform, WFD support-

ed SLUDI in holding advocacy events to get more persons 

with disabilities involved in politics in 10 locations across the 

country. The outreach effort was linked to events marking 

the International Day of Persons with Disabilities.
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A session on having an online presence and tackling online abuse in progress at 
the CP4D Women Who Lead conference in Ghana in August 2019.
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Promoting transparency and improving government 
accountability

Sierra Leone

In Sierra Leone, WFD worked to promote inclusive and ac-

countable politics by supporting the operationalisation of 

government commitments on openness and transparen-

cy. The project supports the Parliament of Sierra Leone’s use 

of the Open Government Partnership (an international forum 

for 79 countries committed to making their governments 

more open and accountable) as a tool to promote openness, 

transparency, and inclusion. It started in 2018 and will end 

in March 2021.

The Sierra Leone team’s achievements in this reporting 

year included the development of a free mobile app called 

‘Sierra Leone Parliament’. The aim of the app is to improve 

the Parliament’s openness and transparency and enable 

citizens to follow parliamentary proceedings and get more 

involved in politics (see ‘In Focus’ below).

Starting in August 2019, WFD has supported the National 

Council for Civic Education and Development and relevant 

parliamentary clerk in making sure that Parliament fulfils its 

explicit role in implementing transparency commitments as 

part of the Open Government Partnership. 

In focus: there’s an app for that

In 2019, in partnership with the Parliament of Sierra 

Leone, WFD created a free mobile app called ‘Sierra 

Leone Parliament’ to improve the Parliament’s open-

ness and transparency and enable citizens to follow 

parliamentary activity and get involved in politics and 

the legislative process.

The app does this by creating a new way for Parliament 

and citizens to interact. Users can find information about 

Members of Parliament, read press releases, access 

legislation and consult the parliamentary calendar. Soon, 

they will also be able to watch live sessions. WFD Sierra 

Leone is exploring ways to enable citizens to give feed-

back on new laws using the platform.

The app has been downloaded over 1,000 times from 

the Google Play Store, with an average rating of 4.5 

from 24 reviews.
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Using the Sierra Leone Parliament App whilst on the walls 
of the Parliament of Sierra Leone.
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Participants in a seminar on inclusive representation in the Gambia, part of our 
Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy (CP4D) programme.
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Supporting 
new legislatures

Several of our partner parliaments underwent elections in 

2019-20. WFD supported the arrival and professional training 

of newly-elected parliamentarians in Mozambique and the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), and continued to 

support the fledgling democracy in the National Assembly 

of The Gambia. 

The Gambia

Unlike many of its West African neighbours, The Gambia has 

not experienced long periods of conflict since its independ-

ence in 1965. However, the country underwent 22 years of 

authoritarian rule, and The Gambia held its first elections in 

2016. Whilst a constitutional crisis after the election threat-

ened to embroil the country in a civil war, The Gambia has 

since emerged as a relatively stable new democracy under 

President Adama Barrow. 

In this context, WFD continued to support The Gambia’s 

National Assembly in partnership with the British High Com-

mission in Banjul. In 2019-20, our work included implementing 

local programmes under WFD’s FCO-funded Commonwealth 

Partnership for Democracy (CP4D) and DFID-funded Inclusive 

and Accountable Politics global initiative. Activities included 

establishing a Research and Library Unit to conduct research 

and support evidence-based debates. To date, the new unit 

has produced a series of research briefs for elected repre-

sentatives on a range of policies including education, health, 

tourism, taxation, and international relations, in addition to 

products which aid members in using the research such as 

a handbook, service charter and guidelines. The unit is now 

embedded into parliamentary practice and receives regular 

commissions from Members of the National Assembly. WFD 

has also supported the digitalisation of parliamentary records 

and provided training to newly inducted Members on how 

to use the unit. 

In September 2019, WFD organised an event to mark the 

International Day of Democracy in the National Assembly. 

This launched a national consultation on democracy and 

saw 150 people, including representatives from the United 

Nations, civil society, political parties and members of the 

National Assembly attend an inspiring event on the benefits 

of democracy. British High Commissioner Sharon Wardle 

also attended, and the event was streamed live on YouTube.
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The Democratic Republic of the Congo

The Democratic Republic of the Congo is a vast country with 

immense natural resources but its recent history has been 

marred by disease, widespread corruption and a civil war 

which claimed an estimated six million lives.

In 2019, following a parliamentary election whose results 

were contested, WFD began working with first-time legisla-

tors, helping to induct new representatives, and developing 

their skills as parliamentarians. The activity built on WFD’s 

work in the run up to the 2018 elections which included pub-

lishing an assessment of voting machines, as well as voter 

education activities.

In November 2019, WFD organised training for newly elected 

legislators. The programme covered the role of lawmakers in 

a democratic and open society, how laws are made, the role 

of political parties in parliament, and the role of civil society 

in policy development and monitoring. The activity included 

testimonies and sessions by legislators from Benin, Canada 

and the UK, as well as by local legislative and parliamentary 

experts. 

In addition, during the same month WFD provided training 

for CENCO (Conférence Episcopale Nationale du Congo), a 

leading civil society organisation, in advocating their causes 

to the national parliament. With our support, an expert from 

a Kenyan parliamentary monitoring organisation delivered 

training in Kinshasa on new approaches to parliamentary 

monitoring and engagement. 

In March 2020, WFD delivered communications training to 

the parliamentary communications staff from both houses of 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo Parliament. Communi-

cation professionals from both the Senate and the National 

Assembly attended a series of workshops on principles of 

strategic communication – including identifying different 

audiences and tailoring information to meet their needs – 

and digital communication best practice, including how to 

engage citizens through social media. The programme also 

delivered technical assessments of Parliament’s communi-

cation functions and digital communications.

Mozambique

In 2019-20, WFD supported the Mozambican Association 

of Disabled People (ADEMO) and the Forum of Disabled 

People’s Organisations (FAROD) to ensure the inclusion and 

participation of persons with disabilities ahead of, and after, 

the 2019 elections. This work was undertaken through the 

Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy programme. 

Working with these leading disabled persons’ organisations, 

WFD worked with the Parliament of Mozambique to develop 

a national agenda on disability. This was complemented by 

work with Mozambican political parties as they developed 

inclusive electoral political party manifestos.

In October 2019, WFD facilitated a meeting between hundreds 

of persons with disabilities and the Mozambican President 

Filipe Nyusi. They secured his commitment to new laws, 

policies and strategies to improve the socio-economic and 

political inclusion of persons with disabilities in the country. 

WFD also undertook in-depth research into existing barriers 

to effective inclusion and how to overcome them. 

Under WFD’s DFID-funded Inclusive and Accountable Politics 

programme, our local Mozambique team co-organised a 

policy dialogue event with the Joaquim Chissano Founda-

tion, named after and chaired by the former president. The 

event brought together policy- and decision-makers, parlia-

mentarians, organisations, civil society and political party 

representatives from across Mozambique to discuss leading 

policy issues and topics related to inclusive governance. The 

event was widely reported on national radio and television, 

contributing to raising awareness of policy issues faced by 

persons with disabilities.
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A Mozambican civil society representative at the launch of WFD’s report on the barriers 
to effective inclusion of persons with disabilities in Mozambique, in December 2019.
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i

Middle East and 
North Africa

According to the 2018 Arab Barometer, 80% of people living in the Arab world believe democracy is the best form 

of government. Throughout much of 2019, we saw a new wave of protests emerging across the region. Whether 

that will translate into political change and what lasting effects it will have on regional stability remain to be seen. 

It was against this backdrop of regional instability that WFD’s work in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) 

took place.

During 2019-20, WFD focused on ending gender-based discrimination and violence, promoting openness and 

accountability, and supporting parliaments in reviewing laws and policies.

Our support to national parliaments, civil society organisations and other institutions has been tailored to address 

emerging challenges to security and political and economic stability, while ensuring our engagement is sustainable 

and effective.
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15
programmes

103 

activities

36 

experts engaged

19 

conferences

3 

institutional plans developed
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Supporting gender equality
Morocco

Morocco’s 2011 constitutional reform included the principle of 

equality. Although women make up a significant proportion 

of elected legislators, women leaders are yet to be afforded 

their fair share of positions of influence. This may explain 

why the development of policies to address equality and 

inclusion issues has been generally slow.

Through training throughout the year, WFD shared methods 

of best practice for reviewing laws with the Working Group on 

Parity and Equity and the House of Councillors. As a result, 

working group members used these tools and formulated 

a memo with suggested amendments to the Family Code 

(adopted in 2004) on topics such as birth, marriage and 

inheritance issues. The aim was to improve the law while 

ensuring it is still compatible with Islamic law and overcoming 

any possible implementation issues. 

In March 2020, 35 women MPs participated in a three-day 

workshop on leadership organised by WFD and the Working 

Group on Parity and Equity at the House of Representatives. 

Experts from the Canadian School of Public Administration 

and the Deputy Speaker of the National Assembly of Que-

bec facilitated the workshop, providing the opportunity for 

women MPs to share individual experiences and enhance 

their capacity for leadership by learning from their peers.  

Lebanon

Through WFD’s new programme, which began in 2019 with 

support from British Embassy Beirut, we assisted the Leb-

anese Parliament’s Women and Children Committee as it 

adopted new priorities and planned its future work, which 

consists of embedding principles of gender equality in law. 

This included developing a three-year work plan for the 

committee.

We believe with the additional strategic planning, the new 

approach will increase the effectiveness of the committee’s 

legislative scrutiny, executive oversight, and representative 

roles. It is the first plan of its kind to be developed by a par-

liamentary committee in Lebanon.

WFD also provided legal support to assist the Chair of the 

Women and Children Committee in ensuring any new bills 

which are introduced are assessed for impact on the pro-

tection of women and children. WFD’s legal advisory expert 

and the wider Lebanon office were also deeply involved in 

supporting the Committee in drafting a new bill to help ensure 

alcohol isn’t illegally obtained, and making amendments to 

the electronic transaction and data protection law to protect 

minors from unsuitable content and potential abuse online.

WFD also provided extensive legal support to the Committee 

for amendments to clauses in the Lebanese Penal Code which 

criminalise sexual harassment and extend the definition of 

rape in the penal code and domestic violence law (to include 

political violence in the definition of violence in article 2/ law 

293). The purpose of these amendments is to help reduce 

the impunity of perpetrators of violence against women.  

Through a team of experts, WFD revised and analysed several 

bills related to anti-corruption (stolen assets, anti-money 

laundering, and anti-corruption bills. WFD also revised a law 

which requires parliamentary staff and MPs to disclose their 

assets and any conflicts of interest) and human rights (the 

persons with disabilities law, drug law, data protection law, 

and revising the amnesty bill and whistleblowing medical law).

WFD has supported the Parliament in developing a new 

strategy to better communicate to Lebanese citizens across 

different parts of society. By developing a communication 

strategy and outreach plan for the Parliament, which included 

an online public consultation and the design of a new website 

that is more inclusive and interactive, the Parliament will 

soon be better equipped for its communication outreach. 

The strategy is expected to be implemented in the next 

financial year.

A separate strand of WFD Lebanon’s new programme sup-

ports the Digital Transformation Network, a civil society 

organisation which seeks to support the Lebanese parliament 

and government in empowering people in Lebanon to further 

develop their technological skills and support job creation in 

a growing tech sector. In its first year of operation, the Net-

work has achieved several milestones including establishing a 

close relationship with Parliament and incorporating lessons 

learned on an exchange visit to Estonia in February 2019. 

The Network has supported several MPs by advocating for 

bills which support these aims – for example, the Network 

started an online petition to support Edgar Traboulsi MP’s 

draft bill on remote learning in universities. 

The online petition gained a lot of attention and signatures 

from other MPs, civil society organisations, and members 

of the public. The Network also collaborated with the par-

liamentary committee of technology and information and 

other committees which request its advice. The Network 

signed a memorandum of understanding with the Lebanese 

University in June 2020 to increase cooperation in technol-

ogy and e-governance, as well as to provide employment 

opportunities for students in this area. 
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Women MPs and staff at the Moroccan Parliament participating in the Women Leadership 
Workshop organised by WFD in March 2020.
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Sudan

During late 2019, WFD started working in Sudan with the 

interim government, the Transitional Sovereignty Council, 

and local civil society organisations, to support a peaceful 

transition towards a multi-party democracy in which women 

have an active role.

Under this high-level objective, WFD organised for a delega-

tion from the Sudanese interim government to visit Tunisia in 

February 2020, to learn about the experience of transition-

ing to democracy. The delegation met current and former 

politicians who contributed or are currently contributing to 

Tunisia’s democratic transition, and with experts who followed 

or scrutinised the transition. 

The delegation learned about the mechanisms that enabled 

Tunisia’s successful democratic transition, how they avoided 

deviations towards violence or steps back toward dictatorship, 

and the role women played in achieving success.

In November 2019, WFD helped provide negotiation training to 

women nominated by different parties involved in the peace 

process, to prepare them for the next stage of Sudan peace 

negotiations: the second round that began in December 2019.

In focus: supporting women MPs from Arab Countries 

in combatting violence against women

The programme aims to support parliaments, women 

leaders, regional institutions, and civil society organisa-

tions across the MENA region in becoming more effective 

advocates for the rights of women and girls and protect-

ing them from violence. This is done through increasing 

public debate, developing legislation which affords bet-

ter safeguards, improved parliamentary oversight, and 

stronger political representation and leadership on a 

national and regional level. 

WFD continued to support the Arab League and the Coa-

lition of Women MPs from Arab Countries in drafting the 

first ever regional agreement to counter gender-based 

violence. Known as the Arab Convention to Combat Vio-

lence Against Women and Girls, the international treaty 

is designed to respond to the unique challenges women 

and girls in Arab countries face, both in peace time and 

during conflict and to prevent violence.

The Convention has been discussed by the Arab League’s 

Women Committee (which represents the governments 

of 22 Arab countries) since 2017. A review of the fourth 

version concluded in Saudi Arabia in mid-February 2020. 

The Convention will undergo a further review before 

being presented to the Council of the Arab League in 

late 2020 or 2021 for formal adoption. 
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WFD helped provide negotiation training to women nominated by different parties involved in the 
peace process, to prepare them for the next stage of Sudan’s peace negotiations.
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Parliamentary researchers from Morocco, Tunisia, Algeria, Lebanon, and Jordan gathered 
for a regional research conference in April 2019 in Amman, Jordan.
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Improving transparency and strengthening
parliamentary oversight

 Jordan

Despite regional security crises and a deteriorating economy, 

Jordan has remained largely stable in part due to efforts 

to build the country’s resilience through difficult times of 

austerity. WFD is an implementing partner on a programme 

funded by the European Union: EU Support to Jordanian 

Democratic Institutions and Development (EU-JDID). The 

partnership supports political reforms in the country. WFD’s 

role is to support Parliament in becoming more modern, open 

and inclusive and ultimately more capable of improving the 

lives of ordinary Jordanians.

Over the course of 2019-20, WFD introduced a much-anticipat-

ed Electronic Conference and Voting System in the House of 

Representatives. The infrastructure and technology training 

project required over a thousand hours of work by nearly 50 

engineers and experts, and the training of 129 MPs on the 

new system and its operating procedures. Since installation, 

the new system has proved popular with legislators and staff 

and it has been selected as the preferred voting method in 

the revised parliamentary Rules of Procedure.

The new system allows for transparency in voting, as it 

provides instant voting results that are readily available to 

the public. Also, as there is no longer need for the manual 

casting and counting of ballots, results will be more accurate. 

The system will soon provide the Jordanian public with a full 

breakdown of votes, allowing them to hold their representa-

tives accountable for their voting records. Stringent individual 

identification requirements also mean it is not possible to vote 

on behalf of, or in the place of other legislators, malpractice 

which was possible under the old system.

In 2019-20, WFD also supported the Jordanian parliament as 

it developed and started to implement a new strategic plan, 

which was formally adopted in early 2020. The plan was 

prepared by a working group of senior managers, chaired by 

the Secretary General of the House of Representatives, and 

supported by a WFD human resources expert.

The WFD Jordan team began preparations for conducting 

the first ever Gender Sensitivity Audit at the House of Repre-

sentatives. Promoting gender equality is key to strengthening 

democracy and fostering a tolerant political culture. The audit 

will result in a written report with practical recommendations 

on how to make the House of Representatives more sensitive 

to gender in its work and refer to best practice from other 

parliaments as adapted to the Jordanian context. WFD also 

assisted the House of Representatives with reviewing the 

Decentralization Law to ensure it was working as intended 

– using a method known as post-legislative scrutiny. With 

the support of WFD experts, the responsible parliamentary 

committee produced a report evaluating the law with recom-

mendations on how to improve it. This was submitted by the 

Speaker of the House of Representatives to the government 

for approval. The government submitted amendments to the 

law, which are being discussed in Parliament. 

Through EU-JDID, WFD ran 11 youth workshops in all the 

Jordanian governorates outside the capital, Amman. Each 

workshop gathered around 70 participants between the ages 

of 18 and 25 years. WFD facilitated discussion between MPs 

and these young Jordanian citizens about the challenges 

facing young people in Jordan. Young citizens are under-

represented in political and economic life in Jordan, even 

though more than two thirds of the Jordanian population 

are below the age of 30. A final report is now being prepared 

with recommendations on how to tackle the challenges that 

young people face.

In implementing this programme, WFD has drawn from 

expertise across the region and internationally, including 

secondments from the Dutch and UK parliaments which facil-

itate long-term mentoring, experience sharing, and building 

peer-to-peer relationships.
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Morocco

In Morocco, WFD supports the Moroccan Parliament (House 

of Representatives) as it implements the 2012 strategic plan 

which WFD helped introduce in 2018. A key tenet of the plan 

is to improve communication and engagement with citizens 

– especially young people – through social media. The WFD 

Morocco team have been partnering with the Parliament’s 

communications team to adopt new communication tools 

such as a new website, which was introduced in January 2020 

and offers a wide range of options to enhance parliamentary 

communications with citizens.

The Moroccan House of Representatives was the first Arab 

parliament to join the Open Government Partnership (OGP), 

an international forum for 79 countries committed to making 

their governments more open and accountable. Since 2019, 

WFD has supported the Parliament in fulfilling its OGP com-

mitments such as submitting its action plan to adhere to the 

OGP’s international transparency requirements. The action 

plan has been approved and published on the OGP website 

in September 2019 and will help the Moroccan Parliament 

abide by its international obligations and improve its trans-

parency standards. 

In February 2020, the House of Councillors organised a 

workshop on reviewing laws (post-legislative scrutiny) in 

partnership with WFD that brought together different national 

and international experts, including Lord Alan Beith from the 

UK’s House of Lords, and helped to increase the Moroccan 

parliament’s capacity for implementing legislation.

WFD has been working closely with the Upper House on 

monitoring and overseeing the implementation of all national 

human rights commitments, in line with international obli-

gations. This year, WFD worked closely with the leadership 

of the Upper House on the role it plays in overseeing the 

implementation of the Universal Periodic Review (UPR), 

which is led by the UN’s Human Rights Council and involves 

a review of the human rights records of all 193 UN Member 

States. In December, the Upper House – in partnership with 

WFD – considered this topic in Parliament on Human Rights 

Day, leading to revised by-laws which specifically reference 

the role of Parliament in implementing the UPR, responding 

to human rights treaty obligations and tracking parliamentary 

action. As a result, in March 2020, the Parliament published 

its new by-laws that included sections about human rights and 

the Upper House’s commitment to protecting them. Morocco 

is one of the first countries in the MENA region to put the 

key role of parliament in this process into law.

 Tunisia

During 2019-20, the delivery of our programme in Tunisia was 

limited by political developments in the country. Elections 

took place at the end of 2019, but a political crisis constrained 

parliamentary work for around four months until the end of 

February 2020, when a new coalition was formed. Unfortu-

nately, the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic reached Tunisia 

shortly after this, further inhibiting our local team’s ability 

to effectively deliver activities. 

The work of our office in Tunis focused on supporting the 

openness of the Parliament and civil society organisations’ en-

gagement in policymaking. As result, the Tunisian Parliament 

signed a written commitment to join the Open Government 

Partnership, in order to be more open and transparent and 

to promote role of civil society organisations in legislation 

and policymaking.

Tunisia has large reserves of natural phosphates which can 

be extracted, with phosphates accounting for about 10% 

of Tunisia’s exports before 2011. While phosphate exports 

shrank after the Arab Spring, it is still an important sector 

for the Tunisian economy. WFD’s support for a coalition of 

civil society organisations contributed to achieving a major 

change in Tunisian policy in terms of transparency in the 

management of mines and energy production, including 

phosphates. On the back of this engagement, the Minister 

of Industries declared that Tunisia would join the Extractive 

Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI), an international 

standard for openness around the management of revenues 

from natural resources. It is designed to improve accounta-

bility and public trust for the revenues paid and received for 

a country’s oil, gas, and mineral resources.

Throughout the year, WFD continued to support new MPs 

and their staff with technical advice on key procedural and 

parliamentary issues. This helped ensure that the Financial 

Oversight Committee, which is similar to the UK Parliament’s 

Public Accounts Committee, was maintained in the by-laws 

of the Parliament. Its activity and discussion by MPs in the 

media and on social media show that it will very likely be 

maintained in any amendment of the rules of procedures 

(an amendment is expected to take place shortly in the next 

financial year). The Financial Oversight Committee also con-

tinued to follow the same practices that were established by 

the previous committee (during the 2014 to 2019 mandate). 

These practices are mostly derived from an international 

model of best practice, based on WFD’s technical advice.

Furthermore, the committee in charge of reforming parlia-

mentary practices considered several written proposals of 

reform which aim to improve parliamentary processes and 

practices. This will be followed up through our technical 

support in the next financial year.
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Algeria

In Algeria, WFD’s parliamentary programme aims to promote 

greater transparency in the functioning of the Algerian Par-

liament, and to contribute to pre- and post-legislative scrutiny 

on key issues, in particular economic legislation and policies, 

review of public budget and follow up on its execution and 

a more effective citizen involvement. The programme aims 

to support the two chambers of the Algerian Parliament 

through providing training and capacity building to both 

elected and administrative staff and organising study visits 

to share experience with their counterparts in the UK and 

other countries.

WFD organised a series of workshops in the Parliament on 

drafting legislation, with a view towards creating a guide of 

best practice for parliamentarians to follow. As part of the 

workshops, directors of legislative departments approved the 

new legislative guide, which included recommendations from 

WFD on how to draft laws in a more effective and efficient way. 

Other areas of progress have been the improvements to the 

Parliament’s online presence, MPs’ communications skills, 

and relations with media and citizens.

The WFD Algeria team has also actively engaged the work 

done by the Coalition of Women Parliamentarians from Arab 

Countries to Combat Violence Against Women on discrimi-

nation based on gender. Four women MPs (among them the 

Vice President of the Upper House) joined platform activities. 

Talks about Algeria officially joining the coalition have also 

started and we expect to see further developments in the 

next financial year.
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Europe 
and Central Asia

This year, WFD has supported the development of democratic practices in countries across Eastern Europe, the 

Southern Caucasus and Central Asia. By working with parliaments in countries that are transitioning to democracy, 

WFD is helping them make democratic institutions more approachable and relevant to the people, contributing 

to better governance, delivering for citizens on public services and protecting their fundamental rights. Our work 

with civil society organisations and political parties is also helping improve the quality of democratic oversight and 

marginalised groups’ ability to actively participate in politics. 
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25 

active programmes

507 

activities

116 

experts engaged

301 

training activities

 51 

mentoring or learning placements
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Western Balkans

WFD has been supporting the development of democrat-

ic practices in the Western Balkans – a region which has 

deep-rooted and wide-ranging political and governance 

challenges – since the early 1990s. Across the region, we have 

seen parliamentary and election boycotts and mass public 

protests on the streets – clear evidence of civic dissatisfaction 

and democratic backsliding. Looking ahead, the coronavirus 

(COVID-19) pandemic will pose challenges to planned elections 

and other aspects of good governance practice.

It is against this background that WFD’s Western Balkans 

Democracy Initiative (WBDI) continues to partner with public 

institutions, political parties, and civil society organisations 

across the six Western Balkan countries (Albania, Bosnia 

and Herzegovina, Kosovo, Montenegro, North Macedonia, 

and Serbia). Our aim is to improve the quality of democratic 

oversight, support political parties to effectively represent 

citizens, and increase the meaningful participation of wom-

en, young people and persons with disabilities in political 

decisions and policies that impact on their lives. 

WFD offices in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kosovo, Mon-

tenegro, North Macedonia, and Serbia work at the national 

level to improve democracy across the region. 

During 2019-20, our work focused on researching the structur-

al challenges to democracy, laying the groundwork for future 

activities which will use the results of this research to help 

consolidate democracy in each of the countries we work in.

Due to the pandemic, our aim to support inclusive and ac-

countable politics is even more relevant and pressing than 

when the programme was originally designed. Many of the un-

derrepresented groups we are supporting are at the coalface 

of political marginalisation and are likely to feel the pinch 

of the current crisis – politically, socially and economically 

– even more keenly.

Funded by the UK Government’s Conflict Security and Stability 

Fund, the initiative was announced by Foreign Office Minister 

Alan Duncan in July 2018. 

Serbia
Using novel research to identify ways to improve young 

people’s lives

In May 2019, we began to publish our research on the cost to 

Western Balkan economies of youth emigration. We started by 

releasing results from Serbia in partnership with the Serbian 

Institute for Development and Innovation. These revealed four 

out of five young Serbs consider emigrating and that youth 

emigration could cost Serbia up to 1.2 billion euros per year. 

In response to this challenge, WFD is rallying government 

representatives, businesses, education professionals, and 

civil society organisations to create alliances for change. The 

aim is to formulate policies capable of offering prospects 

for young people. Research on the same topic in Montene-

gro, North Macedonia, and Albania followed later in 2019 and 

revealed similar trends.

Serbia has one of the highest youth emigration levels in 

the Balkan region. While the main reasons for leaving are 

economic, WFD research found correlation with political 

engagement, as the same number that want to leave also 

expressed no interest in politics. Young people perceive 

their concerns as not being heard or addressed by those in 

power. This is why we are encouraging politicians, and the 

institutions they belong to, to respond. Research findings will 

be used in 2020-21 to instigate political action and address 

the structural factors that contribute to unsustainable levels 

of youth emigration.

Across the country, WFD also works with local youth organ-

isations, political parties, state institutions, businesses, and 

the media to explore solutions to this problem. For example, 

in March 2019, WFD helped establish an ‘Academy for Political 

Education’ in partnership with the University of Belgrade. To 

date, this has trained 50 political sciences students so they 

can help educate first-time voters in high schools around the 

country on how democracy works. Since the initial training, 

these 50 academy graduates have started to run education 

activities in high schools across the country.
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A Western Balkans Democracy Initiative activity in North Macedonia: 
the Political Academy for Equal Participation gave space to engaged 

activists and individuals with disabilities to develop their skills for 
political participation.
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A WFD mentoring session for women’s political 
leadership in Bosnia and Herzegovina.
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North Macedonia
Putting persons with disabilities’ needs at the top of the 

policy agenda

In North Macedonia, WFD is working with persons with dis-

abilities (PWDs), one of the most marginalised groups in 

society, to ensure their needs are at the top of the policy 

agenda. We are working with groups that support PWDs to 

create an alliance for change and to engage other actors 

who can contribute to reform.

We are working with a cross-party group of MPs from the 

Assembly of North Macedonia who spent time with PWDs 

and engaged in discussions on the challenges they face every 

day. The 2020 presidential election showed an increased 

awareness of the need to include communication methods 

and specific tools to engage PWDs. The programme aims to 

establish this as a standard practice in the country’s political 

life.

In North Macedonia, we have also worked towards more ef-

fective and efficient public spending by setting up new ways 

to make state institutions more transparent and increasing 

the level of scrutiny over public spending. In one initiative, 

the Assembly is setting up a Parliamentary Budget Office to 

provide independent and impartial information, analysis and 

advice on all aspects of public spending to legislators. We 

believe this will lead to a higher level of trust among citizens 

in key state institutions’ capabilities and more effective de-

livery of public services.

Bosnia and Herzegovina
Enhancing women’s representation in

politics

Despite political parties having an obligatory 40% gender 

quota for candidates in Bosnia and Herzegovina, women’s 

representation remains low across all levels of government. 

The WFD programme is working to improve opportunities for 

women to engage in politics. 

Building on the launch of a women’s political leadership pro-

gramme ‘More than a quota’ in February 2019, our activities 

have engaged women politicians from 10 political parties, with 

topics ranging from grassroots policy development through 

to political campaigning.

Almost 50% of women and girls over the age of 15 in Bosnia 

and Herzegovina have experienced some form of violence. 

That is why we prepared the first dedicated study in the 

country on violence against women in politics in Bosnia and 

Herzegovina. Our aim was to further our understanding of 

gender-based pressures faced by women politicians. 60% 

of the participants revealed that they had experienced some 

form of violence during their political careers. 

Albania
Ensuring everyone can run for office

In September 2019, WFD and the Albanian Enterprise Institute 

published a study on Albania which outlined and analysed 

the costs that are currently incurred by party candidates. 

The ‘cost of politics’ is made up of the costs that a political 

party or a candidate faces from the moment when they 

decide to run for office until the moment votes are counted. 

These costs include money spent on organising meetings 

and renting offices, as well as food and refreshments for 

staff, transportation costs, and printing posters and leaflets.

Our study revealed the barriers which citizens in Albania face 

when they decide to run for office. Currently, the average 

monthly wage in Albania is 227 euros. However, many MPs 

have publicly said that the costs they faced during elections 

were as high as 500,000 euros – almost 100 years of aver-

age income in Albania. These costs can deter citizens from 

running for election.
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Montenegro
Identifying how young people can have their voice heard 

at the top

Young people in Montenegro are underrepresented in political 

decision-making and decision makers often do not listen to 

their voices and needs. For that reason, in 2019, WFD con-

ducted a ‘Survey on Youth Perceptions and Attitudes towards 

Politics in Montenegro’, to better understand the barriers 

they face and look for ways to overcome them.

The main goal of the survey was to explore how young people 

perceive politics in Montenegro and discover how they form 

their political attitudes. The findings have shown that young 

people (aged 16-28 years) are less involved with politics than 

their older counterparts (aged 55 and older). The survey has 

also pointed to some worrying data: 70% of Montenegrin 

young people think about leaving the country, 55% agree 

that individual human rights and liberties are not respected, 

while 49% of them feel that politicians are not addressing 

their concerns.

WFD organised an Academy for Active Youth Cooperation 

that provided training modules and mentorship to young 

people from nine parliamentary political parties and ten civil 

society organisations dealing with issues affecting young 

people. The main result of this approach was the formation 

of an informal network, ATOM (Active Youth in Montenegro), 

which represents an innovative approach to working with 

youth in Montenegro.  

Kosovo
Strengthening political parties’ embrace of democracy 

and inclusion

In Kosovo, WFD continued to support strengthening democ-

racy and accountable political governance by supporting 

political parties from across the political spectrum. Our work 

focused on embracing democratic and inclusive principles 

such as the rule of law, transparency and inclusion, and 

encouraged them to profile themselves according to their 

respective ideologies. With the assistance of WFD, political 

parties developed policy papers and improved their internal 

and external communication procedures, enabling them to 

better profile themselves. By fostering relations between 

political parties in Kosovo with their sister parties in the UK, 

parties in Kosovo were able to learn from their peers, leading 

to more distinguished and accountable parties. 

 

A WFD-led initiative resulted in three out of five main political 

parties excluding candidates with criminal indictments or 

sentences from their election lists in the 2019 snap elec-

tions. This increased the integrity of political parties and 

their respective institutions. A WFD report on criminality in 

politics, and our work to enhance public discourse on the 

topic, were well received by political parties, partners, and 

citizens in general.

 

Furthermore, a WFD-led campaign combining research, data, 

and activities to promote public discourse contributed to an 

increase in votes for women candidates in the snap elections 

and the average age of an MP in the Parliament being low-

ered. Political parties currently have a quota for the number 

of women candidates they must field in an election, but 

this alone did not promote high political representation of 

women MPs. However, as a result of the WFD-led campaign, 

the number of women who entered Parliament who were 

not part of the quota increased from 21 in the 2017 elections 

(when 17 entered as part of the quota) to 29  in the 2019 

elections (when 10 entered as part of the quota). In addition, 

the number of elected MPs under the age of 34 increased 

from 17 (out of a total of 120 MPs) in 2017 elections to 22 in 

the 2019 elections.   
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Regional
Enhancing human rights and gender equality

In October 2019, across the Western Balkans, WFD established 

the Human Rights and Gender Network of MPs (HUGEN) to 

support parliaments across the region in reaching interna-

tional standards for human rights and gender equality. This 

has created a peer network of parliamentary committees 

for parliaments in the six Western Balkan countries.  HUGEN 

enhances human rights and gender equality by facilitating 

peer-to-peer learning, sharing best practice, and improving 

parliaments’ oversight of the implementation of laws and 

policies related to gender and human rights.

Speaking at the launch event, the Vice-President of the 

Parliament of Montenegro, Mr. Genci Nimanbegu said:

‘The problem of past conflicts between the countries 

should be overcome through projects such as HUGEN, 

where WFD is supporting a closer cooperation between 

countries especially in the areas of human rights and 

gender equality.’

Nearly 40 participants from eight parliaments in the Western 

Balkans gathered to launch the network at a conference in 

Montenegro, alongside academics, journalists and our net-

work of partners. They discussed regional cooperation to 

support efforts to improve governance, political institutions, 

rule of law, gender equality, and post-conflict reconciliation. 

WFD is working with six parliaments to assess the impact and 

effects of selected laws. Parliaments have selected different 

pieces of legislation which refer to persons with disabilities, 

access to education for persons with disabilities, gender-based 

violence, and other human rights and gender-related issues.

The practice of official or unofficial boycotts of legislatures, 

the main representative institution for citizens, has become 

the norm within political life in the region. In recent years – and 

decades in some cases – parliamentary boycotts have taken 

place in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, North Macedonia, 

Montenegro, Kosovo, and Serbia. From boycotting a single 

vote to avoiding parliament for an extended period, the tactic 

is being used in different ways. 

To better understand the phenomenon and its potential 

implications for democracy in the Western Balkans, WFD 

commissioned a research study on the causes and effects 

of boycotting parliament. The study found that the boycotts 

contributed to political and electoral crises in Western Balkan 

countries.

To improve the political parties’ work in the region, through-

out 2019-20 WFD worked with them on developing a Political 

Party Transparency Index and ran a pilot to test the indicators 

and methodology, ready for the Index to be rolled out in the 

coming year. 



60 | WFD

Eastern Europe and Central Asia
Strengthening parliament’s capacity to help citizens

Ukraine

Since implementing our first programme in Ukraine in 1992, 

WFD developed an excellent understanding of the political 

context and established strong working relationships within 

the Verkhovna Rada (parliament) and beyond. Ukrainian 

stakeholders value and respect WFD’s expertise and insight, 

and we work closely with them to help foster more inclusive 

and accountable politics.

WFD’s work is helping parliament strengthen its role in holding 

government to account. This includes ensuring progress is 

being made on the United Nations’ Sustainable Development 

Goals, improving accountability for legislative and financial 

matters, and making politics more inclusive of women and 

underrepresented groups.

By making the parliament more accountable to Ukrainian 

citizens, WFD is helping to ensure there is robust scrutiny 

of government policy and performance. This accountability 

has been strengthened by helping the parliament to set up 

better internal oversight practices, particularly supporting 

the parliament to introduce new mechanisms to conduct 

post-legislative scrutiny, a practice of reviewing laws to en-

sure they are working as intended. WFD worked with many 

different sections of the parliament, and engaging staff on 

relevant committees and the parliament’s lawyers to support 

introducing these new ways of working, with activities and 

training taking place between April and December 2019. 

Gender equality is central to all our activities, and we focus 

on ensuring that women, people with disabilities and other 

vulnerable groups have greater and equal access to formal 

and informal ways to participate in politics. To achieve this, 

WFD implemented a series of workshops and training between 

September and October 2019 focusing on how public spending 

can lead to a gender pay gap if funds are not appropriately 

allocated.

Working with colleagues in the EU and UN sponsored Par-

liamentary Reform Office, we have started to undertake a 

thorough review of the parliament’s structures and functions. 

We started the review in December 2019 and it is expected 

to be completed in 2020. This functional analysis makes 56 

recommendations intended to support the functioning and 

strategic structural development of the parliament. The 

analysis is currently being considered by the parliament’s 

leadership ahead of them beginning their strategic planning 

for the months ahead.

Armenia

Following the ‘Velvet Revolution’ and elections of 2018, WFD 

has been working in partnership with local and international 

implementers to increase support to Armenian institutions – 

principally the National Assembly. WFD has led on assessing 

the needs of parliament and designing a substantial new 

package of support to be delivered for the United Nations 

Development Programme. The ‘Modern Parliament for a 

Modern Armenia’ (MAP) programme has come online in 

2020-21, and will provide support to the parliament across 

the breadth of its responsibilities including enhancing its 

oversight work, developing strategic communications, and 

increasing openness. 

Georgia

As Georgia continues its journey towards Euro-Atlantic inte-

gration and seeks membership of institutions such as NATO 

and the European Union, it will be required to make deep and 

wide-ranging democratic reforms. 

WFD has been a key partner in the UNDP/EU programme, 

‘Strengthening the System of Parliamentary Democracy in 

Georgia’ since 2014. In 2019, WFD entered the third phase 

(2019-21) of the programme to strengthen the Parliament of 

Georgia, working with legislators, parliamentary committees, 

civil servants, local civil society organisations and the media. 

Our work aims to increase parliamentary committees’ ca-

pacity to conduct thematic inquiries and review laws using 

post-legislative scrutiny through a long-term training pro-

gramme. With WFD’s assistance, committees such as the 

Environment Committee have been looking into critical topics 

such as environmental protection. For example, an inquiry 

by the Environment Committee has helped manage waste 

electricity and old batteries from electric cars, as after re-

viewing the law which permits a tax reduction for importing 

electric vehicles into the country, the committee found gaps 

in the legislation which it then addressed.

In addition to this work, WFD provide training and a small 

grants facility for civil society organisations throughout the 

country to expand their understanding of new parliamentary 

tools and promote their participation. Likewise, our work with 

journalists helps promote parliamentary understanding and 

ensures that their news reports are accurate, to help increase 

public interest in parliamentary work and fight disinformation.
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Charles Garrett OBE, the British Ambassador to Kyrgyzstan, and WFD’s Senior 
Gender and Politics Adviser, Shannon O’Connell, provided training for women 

candidates running for local office in Kyrgyzstan in December 2019.
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Training for women candidates in local elections in Kyrgyzstan.
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Uzbekistan

Since Uzbekistan’s presidential transition in 2016, wide-rang-

ing and rapid governance reforms are steadily being real-

ised. The results of elections held in December 2019 offer 

a renewed opportunity to continue and bolster this trend. 

WFD has supported the reform agenda in Uzbekistan through 

strengthening the capacity of the Oliy Majlis (parliament). 

The project seeks to complement the parliament’s existing 

reform efforts and builds on recommendations from WFD’s 

assessment of parliamentary structures and practices, fi-

nalised in March 2019.

WFD supported the parliament in its internal reform, strength-

ening its capacity to hold the government to account and 

aiding the development of areas such as human resources 

management and the induction of new members of parlia-

ment.

Our work, in partnership with UK NGO MySociety, has helped 

the parliament assess new ways of working through digital 

technology, including making parliamentary information 

– such as agendas and tracking legislation – available to 

the public, and engaging with constituents online. These 

interventions gained new significance in the context of the 

coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. A report of our assessment 

is available in English, Russian and Uzbek languages. 

This year, WFD has also provided support to the recently 

established Office on State Budget, a parliamentary budget 

office (PBO) within the Oliy Majlis. The office seeks to provide 

independent, impartial and professional advice and analysis 

to parliamentarians on matters related to budget scrutiny, 

public finances and the economy. Our work has included 

supporting the PBO to develop its mandate, providing ex-

posure to international best practices and standards, and 

facilitating a development partnership with the National 

Assembly Budget Office of South Korea. 

Through increasing the capacity of the parliament to fulfil its 

role as a public institution, Uzbekistan’s governance reform 

process is being enhanced, bringing it closer to its citizens 

and making it better able to reflect society’s needs.
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Putting gender equality at the heart of politics

Kyrgyzstan

Following decades of Soviet rule and two revolutions, the 

Kyrgyz Republic is the only parliamentary democracy in 

Central Asia.

WFD’s team in Kyrgyzstan supports public institutions – par-

ticularly local self-government bodies – to interact more with 

citizens and enhance inclusive participation in decision-mak-

ing and oversight. By strengthening the local self-government 

institutions and their elected representatives to build their 

oversight capacity, our programmes seek to improve ac-

countability and increase and improve interaction between 

authorities, civil society and communities. The programme is 

implemented in four partner cities and is in partnership with 

the State Agency on Local Self-Governance and Inter-Ethnic 

relations, supporting a new Code on Local Self-Government 

and disseminating practice nationwide.  

 

In 2019-20, WFD worked with women councillors and election 

candidates in our four partner cities to enhance their mean-

ingful participation in decision making processes through 

creating a network of women local councillors. Through this 

vehicle we have provided support to build capacity and prac-

tice new skills. This is expected to lead women councillors to 

grow in their roles, increase their meaningful participation, 

and build their political capital to be re-elected in the next 

local election. Direct support has been provided to women 

candidates ahead of that contest, with training on how to 

create an electoral campaign strategy. Additionally, radio 

programmes through our partner Radio Salam in Batken have 

contributed to challenging the negative dominant discourse 

about women’s participation in decision-making processes 

and have increased public support for women candidates. 

In December 2019, WFD began implementing a programme to 

support reforming the media to help tackle disinformation and 

prevent conflict around elections, as part of the consortium 

of European NGOs. WFD works with political parties and the 

Electoral Commission to support efforts to eradicate hate 

speech and disinformation during election campaigns.



 65 | Annual Report

In focus: Empowering local councils to address local 

problems

In Kyrgyzstan, the media, citizens, and parliamentari-

ans tend to evaluate parliament’s performance by the 

quantity of bills passed, not their quality. As a result of 

these priorities, 20,000 laws have been passed since 

1991 – without full consideration of their implications or 

what is required for them to be implemented. 

Local councils offer a powerful opportunity to address 

this problem from a new angle as they are responsible 

for implementing laws and providing services that are 

closest to the lives and interests of citizens. They are 

therefore directly impacted by laws – both local and 

national – that fail to deliver on the objectives they were 

written for, and they have an incentive to solve these 

problems.

What is more, local councils often have more established 

practices of citizen engagement than the National As-

sembly. This enables them to conduct post-legislative 

scrutiny with better access to evidence. However, local 

councils lacked the knowledge and skills required to 

check up on how laws are being implemented and what 

their consequences are in a systematic way. 

In order to empower several local councils to conduct 

their own oversight activities to solve local problems and 

enable them to share this method of best practice with 

other councils around the country, WFD supported three 

local Kyrgyz councils to scrutinise activities for the first 

time, in work which began in the summer of 2019. This 

provided locally driven oversight for citizens.  

For example, in Karakol, the council addressed issues 

highlighted by complaints from parents, regarding main-

tenance and food provision in schools. Through an open, 

consultative process with citizens and community groups, 

the council established a case of misuse of public funds, 

and consequently dismissed the director of the educa-

tional department. To prevent similar problems in the 

future, the council decided to set up monitoring groups 

at each school, made up of children and parents.  

Meanwhile in Balykchy, the council conducted an ex-

tensive citizen survey and consultation about a recent 

oil tank leak. This allowed the council to make informed 

decisions on which measures to take to restore the en-

vironment and respond to citizens’ concerns. It is now 

actioning the recommendations by seeking resources for 

physical damage reparation and aims to make environ-

mental matters the legal competency of local councils.  
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Asia

In Asia, we saw political and electoral change in the last financial year, reflecting both the consolidation of power 

of new political mandates, such as in Pakistan and Maldives,  and the change of governments in a rejection of 

new political mandates (via the ballot box and via parliamentary processes), such as in Malaysia. WFD continued 

to work with parliaments as they sought to make democratic institutions more approachable and relevant to 

people. This year, through the Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy (CP4D) programme and the Inclusive 

and Accountable Politics programme, our work in the region had two overarching aims. 

Firstly, we aimed to improve parliaments’ capacity to function effectively as institutions. Secondly, we sought to 

address the processes and structures of parliamentary inquiry and information-gathering to make them more 

inclusive of those that are directly impacted by policies and legislation. In doing so, we are also working to better 

connect civil society with decision-makers. 
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15 

active programmes

211 

activities

57 

experts engaged

21 

study visits organised

50 

activities proving technical support to

parliamentary proceedings
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Making societies more inclusive

Pakistan

In Pakistan, Imran Khan’s Pakistan Tehreek-e-Insaf party won 

the highest number of seats in parliamentary elections in July 

2018, and Khan took office as Prime Minister the following 

month. It was the second consecutive constitutional transfer 

of power, further consolidating multi-party democracy on 

the back of previous federal elections. The country has now 

enjoyed the longest period of civilian rule since independence. 

Consequently, there are greater demands and expectations 

for federal and provincial legislatures to deliver.

One of the key achievements under WFD’s Inclusive and 

Accountable Politics programme was to help devise a stra-

tegic plan for the 15th National Assembly which integrated 

inclusivity as part of its objectives. WFD has strengthened 

the parliament’s capacity for financial oversight by working 

with the public accounts committees (PAC), building on work 

which began after the elections in 2018. This started with a 

nationwide conference on the role of PACs that benefited from 

international experience. Following this, PACs of the provincial 

assemblies recognised that their practices are not as well 

established as in the federal parliament and peer-to-peer 

engagement would help close that gap. Within the Senate, 

WFD shared its approach to reviewing laws (post-legislative 

scrutiny) with the Committee on Delegated Legislation.

 

WFD also worked with the National Assembly to support 

and train their communications team in using social media 

more effectively. 

As a result of our support, the National Assembly’s social 

media platforms have undertaken a more engaging approach, 

resulting in a marked increase in the engagement rate for the 

National Assembly and key stakeholders such as Pakistan 

Institute for Parliamentary Services (PIPS). Work in this area 

has helped professionalise the communication office of the 

National Assembly, while also making it more inclusive by 

increasing the number of citizens and civil society organi-

sations who are engaging with the parliament.

By enhancing the visibility of women parliamentarians and 

helping them develop their leadership capabilities, they 

in turn are seen as role models and can encourage more 

women to be politically active and voice their concerns. This 

represents a strong foundation for change towards a more 

inclusive institutional culture. 

Maldives

In Maldives, the 2019 parliamentary elections gave an over-

whelming majority to the Maldivian Democratic Party (MDP) 

thereby reconfirming the Maldivian desire for change after 

MDP unexpectedly won the presidency in 2018. The new 

government has embarked on an ambitious programme of 

reform and rejoined the Commonwealth in February 2019. 

WFD started working in Maldives in January 2019, following 

in-depth consultations held with political parties, parliament, 

independent institutions, and civil society on a variety of 

reform options to build an inclusive, more representative 

democracy. The consultations were facilitated by the British 

High Commission in Sri Lanka.

 

Our programme in Maldives has two main focus areas: working 

with parliamentary committees to strengthen their role in 

promoting accountability and scrutiny of laws; and working 

with the Parliament to help it introduce new internal proce-

dures which will make it a more inclusive, gender-responsive 

and accountable institution. WFD’s work in Maldives supports 

MPs, parliamentary staff and civil society organisations 

through exposure, technical assistance, and capacity-building 

opportunities. WFD has also collaborated with the Welsh Par-

liament, as it is a relatively new legislature which is a similar 

size to the Parliament of Maldives, and like the Parliament of 

Maldives, its committees scrutinise both bills and policy, due 

to capacity restraints related to its size. In October 2019, an 

expert from the Welsh Parliament visited Maldives to share 

some of the challenges faced by legislatures in drafting new 

legislature. Support has also been provided at other intervals 

throughout the year and additional training sessions are 

being held throughout 2020.  
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The conference offered representatives a chance to discuss their insights into how 
parliaments work, to find better ways of reviewing laws in the future.
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First time women MPs in Nepal take part in an event to celebrate 
International Day of Democracy.
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In focus: How reviewing outdated colonial legislation 

is removing gender inequalities and helping address 

the negative consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic

WFD trained parliamentarians and staff in Nepal’s House 

of Representatives to review outdated laws from the co-

lonial era – a process known as post-legislative scrutiny. A 

pilot scheme for this method of reviewing laws was first 

undertaken by WFD with the Legislation Management 

Committee (LMC). The committee launched the first 

formal exercise of reviewing a law in October 2019. The 

chosen law was the Social Practices Act (1976), which 

defines social practices such as marriage and traditional 

Hindu coming-of-age ceremonies. While the act sought to 

encourage gender equality, the clauses also legitimised 

the practice of paying a dowry and restricted weddings 

to a maximum of 51 guests.

Since the Act was introduced, societal norms have 

changed in Nepal. Given the improvement in living stand-

ards and the expansion of the urban population, festivities 

and parties have become bigger and more expensive. 

Even the most modest wedding ceremony is now likely 

to see more than 51 people participating, and the Act is 

regularly flouted. 

As part of the pilot scheme, WFD and the committee 

assessed how public attitudes to these practices have 

changed, through undertaking an online public consul-

tation. Based on fresh evidence, the committee created 

a report which recommended provisions that aimed to 

end discriminatory practices against women should be 

prescribed in the law. 

The committee has proven that this change to its way of 

working is useful and sustainable as it has already start-

ed a second investigation, utilising skills gained during 

previous inquiries, into the 57-year-old Infectious Disease 

Act that the government invoked to fight the coronavirus 

(COVID-19) pandemic. The WFD Nepal team advised the 

committee chair that this Act could be selected for scru-

tiny, but the impetus for the second inquiry came from 

the committee, suggesting the rationale and practice 

of legislative oversight seems to have bedded in locally.

Nepal

Nepal’s bicameral parliament entered its second full year in 

2019-20 and while there is some optimism for democratic tran-

sition following the National Assembly elections in January 

2020, challenges remain around freedom of expression and 

transitional justice, particularly in relation to the perpetrators 

of crimes in the conflict which ended in 2006.

The 2015 Nepalese Constitution guarantees inclusivity in 

terms of gender, minorities and disadvantaged groups. There 

is a requirement that one third of MPs are women. This 

representation is achieved by a proportional representation 

system and most women MPs sit alongside constituency MPs 

who, in turn, are elected on the first-past-the-post system. 

Although list MPs and constituency MPs play the same role 

in law-making, lack of access to Constituency Development 

Funds by list MPs means they are at a disadvantage. WFD 

devised a programme to support women elected on a list 

system in their first mandate with their parliamentary work, 

profile, and networking in their constituencies.

WFD provided training to first-time women MPs who were 

elected in January 2020, to help them overcome the addi-

tional challenges they face due to gender bias.
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Malaysia

Starting in February 2020, a political crisis occurred in Ma-

laysia which resulted in the collapse of the ruling coalition 

government of Pakatan Harapan and a new coalition gov-

ernment, Perikatan Nasional, being ushered in later that 

month. At the end of the reporting period in March 2020, 

the parliament had not been formally reconvened. 

Before the change of government, WFD led on a parliamentary 

advocacy programme for the newly elected MPs, following 

elections in May 2018 which brought the first change of 

government in Malaysia after 61 years. Through our office 

in Kuala Lumpur, WFD also supported the parliamentary 

leadership on considerations to embed institutional reform. 

These reforms were designed to strengthen Parliament’s role 

at the nexus of the country’s political life and make it relevant 

to the people it serves. The reform-focused interventions of 

WFD include enhancing capacity of the parliamentary staff to 

support members of parliaments, providing technical support 

and guidance to the newly formed parliamentary committees 

and establishing accountable and inclusive parliamentary 

processes and systems.

WFD Malaysia has also supported women’s participation in 

politics during 2019-20. As part of the broader Commonwealth 

Partnership for Development (CP4D) initiative, WFD worked 

with a local civil society organisation to promote gender 

equality in Sabah, a state of Malaysia in northern Borneo in 

which only 10% of seats in the State Legislative Assembly are 

held by women. WFD has assisted the civil society organisation 

in creating links with other organisations as they develop 

advocacy strategies to raise awareness about gender issues.

Thailand

An opportunity arose in Thailand this year to partner with a 

local organisation, the Gender and Development Research 

Institute (GDRI), to deliver a small project funded by the UK 

Embassy in Bangkok. The project aimed to set up a mul-

ti-stakeholder policy analysis working group comprising 

MPs, party politicians, women’s rights organisations and 

other civil society groups to analyse the extent to which the  

government’s policies would be better.

With WFD’s support, the group started to make sure the 

group’s core research and analysis took into account the 

needs of women in society and was gender equal. WFD con-

ducted two activities to introduce the group to concepts and 

tools to undertake a gender analysis and to then build the 

group members’ capacity to use these tools.  

 

There remains a lot of work to be done to have an impact on 

inclusive and gender-responsive policymaking in Thailand. 

This project was successful in initiating the process of moving 

towards this desired change and WFD will continue to look 

for opportunities to progress this work. 

Promoting LGBT+ rights in Asia

Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and other (LGBT+) rights 

in Asia are limited in comparison to many other areas of the 

world. Same-sex sexual activity is outlawed in at least twenty 

Asian countries, while only eight countries have enacted 

protections for LGBT+ people. It is against this background 

that WFD sought to explore new ways to help promote the 

rights of LGBT+ people in Asia and tackle the challenges they 

face. As part of the FCO-funded Commonwealth Partnership 

for Democracy programme, in February 2020 WFD hosted 

current and former parliamentarians and leading civil society 

activists at a closed-door roundtable in a South-East Asia 

country to discuss nationally-appropriate ways to advance 

the rights of the LGBT+ community across Asia. 

17 participants from nine countries in Asia attended the 

discussion. See Commonwealth of Nations section for more 

details on the other achievements of the Commonwealth 

Partnership for Democracy.
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Zila Fawzi of the Sabah Women Action Group (SAWO) in Malaysia speaks at the CP4D 
conference in London, in March 2020.
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Making Parliament more accountable

Sri Lanka

In 2019, the political situation in Sri Lanka changed signifi-

cantly following the Easter Sunday bombings which resulted 

in the death of nearly 270 people. Parliament’s response 

was to establish a special committee to investigate lapses in 

security. The committee was widely acknowledged to have 

undertaken its task in a way which defused heightened com-

munal tensions in the immediate aftermath of the bombings.  

The Sri Lanka Freedom Party (SLFP) won the presidential 

election in November 2019 and won a two-thirds majority in 

parliamentary elections held in August. 

Institutionally, WFD worked closely with the Secretariat of 

the Parliament to develop guidance material for deputising 

presiding officers. The materials are inspired by best practice 

in Westminster but adapted to the Sri Lankan context. The 

draft manual will be an important tool for the new parliament 

as it will guide presiding officers, who deputise for the Speaker 

in the plenary and in business committees. 

Throughout the year, WFD continued to facilitate and increase 

cross-party engagement in the tense political environment. 

As part of our work to enhance national unity, in February 

2020, Lord Malcolm Bruce met with the Foreign and Defence 

Ministers as well with government and opposition parties 

from across the political spectrum to discuss parliament’s 

role in strengthening national security. 

In October 2019, committee clerks undertook a study visit to 

Westminster in partnership with the UK branch of the Com-

monwealth Parliamentary Association (CPA-UK) and under 

our joint CP4D Commonwealth programme (see Common-

wealth of Nations). This complemented previous missions by 

the Chairs of the new Sectoral Oversight Committees (SOCs) 

to increase their understanding of how select committees 

worked in the House of Commons, as the SOCs’ model is 

heavily based on how Select Committees operate. Engaging 

both the Members and parliamentary officials has helped 

foster a mutual understanding of the oversight and scrutiny 

roles of the SOCs.

In addition, in partnership with British High Commission 

Colombo, we trained officials at the Auditor General’s Office 

on how to be rigorous when conducting forensic accounting. 

We also provided technical assistance to the National Audit 

Office of Sri Lanka to support anti-corruption initiatives. 

 

WFD’s approach to all its activities is gender-responsive and 

inclusive. As part of our work in this area, our office in Co-

lombo is exploring the role and responsibilities of parliament 

in fostering racial and religious harmony and reconciliation, 

following the civil war which ended in 2009.  
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Our panel at the British-Canadian conference on media freedom featured 
speakers from across the Asia region, including H. E. Mr Gobind Singh Deo, 
who was then Minister of Communications and Multimedia, Malaysia and Mr. 
Rudiantara, Communication and Information Technology Minister, Indonesia.
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Myanmar

WFD continued to support Myanmar’s Union Parliament 

(Hluttaw) for a fourth consecutive year following the 2015 

general election and the transition to the National League 

for Democracy’s government. 

In 2019, WFD launched a second phase of the Strengthening 

Governance and Accountability in Myanmar programme, 

implemented in partnership with the UK House of Commons 

and the British Council. The programme is due to run until 

July 2021 and focuses on building the capacity of Myanmar’s 

Hluttaw to make legislation, oversee the government, and 

represent the peoples of Myanmar. 

Building on the first phase of the programme which focused 

on strengthening parliament as an institution, the second 

phase of the programme is geared towards supporting Hlut-

taw committees. Our work will help them influence and shape 

the policy and legislative agendas as well as enhancing the 

relationship and channels for engagement between the par-

liament and civil society. 

WFD has focused on promoting accountability and better 

policy outcomes through expanding our work with sectoral 

committees and the mentorship programme. This began in 

phase one of the programme, which pairs Hluttaw committees 

with former committee chairs from the UK and the region. In 

2019-20, WFD supported committees (on education, health, 

natural resources, and the environment, women and children’s 

rights, and fundamental rights) in launching inquiries and 

conducting oversight of the government in key policy areas. 

Through their informal and formal inquiries, committees 

have gathered evidence, conducted fact-finding visits and 

public hearings, and presented their committee reports and 

recommendations in plenary.  

We have prioritised education in 2019-20, as reform in this 

sector is critically important to Myanmar’s future generations, 

especially after decades of mismanagement. WFD supported 

the education committees of the upper and lower houses of 

Myanmar’s parliament in conducting an inquiry into Myanmar’s 

education curriculum and teacher training frameworks, a 

process accompanied by UK education experts and which saw 

the first ever public hearings in Myanmar’s Union Parliament. 

This was a significant move by Hluttaw towards opening its 

work to citizens. The committees also visited South Africa as 

part of their inquiry to learn about the challenges the country 

has faced reforming its education system over the last few 

decades as the apartheid system was dismantled. During this 

visit, the committees also learnt about the role that national 

and provincial parliaments in South Africa have played in the 

process. 

We have also redoubled our focus on supporting committees 

to reach out to and address the concerns of some of the most 

marginalised communities and vulnerable groups in Myanmar, 

which historically have had less engagement from central gov-

ernment. This has included supporting the Natural Resources 

and Environmental Conservation Committee on a fact-finding 

mission to the jade mines of Myanmar’s northernmost Kachin 

State in October 2019 (see In focus).

The fisheries sector in Myanmar accounts for over half of 

local government revenue. Following widespread reports of 

potential human rights abuses of fisheries workers, our office 

in Nay Pyi Taw supported a mission by the Fundamental Rights 

Committee to examine the situation and visit the southern tip 

of the country, in the Tanintharyi region, to consider potential 

policy solutions. 

Another highlight of the year was the regional conference on 

post-legislative scrutiny – a method of reviewing laws to assess 

any unintended effects – that WFD hosted in Yangon in June 

2019. The summit was attended by over 700 legislators, senior 

civil servants, and experts in democracy from 21 countries. 

They came together to share insights on how parliaments in 

Asia and around the world are monitoring and reviewing laws 

to ensure they work effectively for citizens. The conference 

was held in partnership with the University of Jember (In-

donesia) and the University of Yangon (Myanmar), and was 

opened by H.E. Dr Than Win, the chair of the international 

relations committee.

WFD’s work in this area has helped the government provide 

better financial assistance to entrepreneurs, typically in ru-

ral areas, who are a growing part of the Burmese economy. 

Through conducting a review of the Microfinance law (2019), 

WFD was able to provide a platform to help start-ups such as 

a business drying rice for farmers, which is profitable as dried 

rice is worth more than wet rice.  

Speaking at the conference in Yangon on improving how 

parliaments review laws, Benjamin Powis from the UK 

Department for International Development said:

‘UK Aid recognises the fundamental role that the Hluttaw 

has to play in driving forward Myanmar’s development – 

and this conference provides an opportunity to share ex-

perience from across the region on the transition towards 

more accountable and effective democratic institutions.’
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A speaker at the regional conference on 
post-legislative scrutiny in Myanmar, June 2019.
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Members of the Natural Resources and Environmental Conservation Committee of Myanmar’s 
Upper House on a fact-finding mission to a jade mine in October 2019.
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In focus: Regulating the world’s most valuable jade 

mines in Myanmar

Forming the southern tip of the Himalayas, Kachin state in 

the far north of Myanmar is home to some of the richest 

mines in the world. Kachin’s abundant natural resources 

— gold, amber, jade, copper, and rubies — have fuelled a 

long-running civil war and fighting continues to afflict 

communities in resource-rich mining areas.

Myanmar produces 70% of the world’s jade, which can 

be worth more than gold, generating billions of dollars 

annually. Yet government revenues capture only a frac-

tion of this value, and most citizens do not share in the 

potential benefits.

Even though the government suspended issuing mining 

licenses until it had crafted a more equitable system for 

awarding them, regulation of the mining sector is opaque 

and enforcing the laws is difficult. On the ground, poor 

regulation jeopardises the safety of workers and, all too 

often, leads to preventable deaths in the mines. 

The legal framework is recognised as part of the problem, 

with key legislation such as the Myanmar Mining Law and 

Myanmar Gemstone Law currently unable to establish a 

robust system of accountability. Densely technical, it is 

also a difficult sector for lawmakers to understand and 

change the way that regulation works.

Supported by WFD, in October 2019, the Natural Re-

sources and Environmental Conservation Committee of 

Myanmar’s Upper House – the Amyotha Hluttaw – con-

ducted a week-long fact-finding mission to several sites 

in Kachin State, including the world’s largest jade mine 

at Hpakant, in order to better understand the challenges 

around mining in Kachin State and the effects potential 

reforms could have.

During the visit, the members met with local authorities, 

mining companies, jewellers, mine workers, civil society 

organisations, and the local community – the first time 

these groups had come together to meet members.

The committee collected information from these groups 

and will use the evidence as part of a quick legislative 

impact assessment. There are concerns that the current 

regulations are not working as intended, which is why 

the committee is looking into how they encourage better 

secondary legislation to improve implementation.
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Indonesia

More than twenty years since Indonesia’s political transition 

started, the country stands as an example of democratic pro-

gress in Asia. Indonesia is the world’s third largest democracy 

with 192 million voters, and its simultaneous presidential 

and parliamentary elections in April 2019 were a significant 

achievement, as they were the fifth democratic election 

since the country’s transition started two decades ago and 

the largest single-day election on record.

Yet, while Indonesia has achieved impressive democratic 

consolidation, there remain challenges to inclusive and ac-

countable governance across the different levels of Indone-

sia’s still young democracy. 

Over the past five years, WFD has worked with Indonesia’s 

national and subnational legislatures as well as civil society 

from across the country to advance more open governance, 

robust parliamentary scrutiny, and better laws that protect 

citizens’ rights.

In 2019-20, WFD continued to focus on supporting parliaments 

to protect human rights by working with local legislators to 

help bring their laws in line with international human rights 

obligations, as part of our three-year programme which 

began in 2018. 

Indonesia was the first country in the region to ensure there 

was a focus on parliaments when it comes to transparency 

and accountability. As part of the Open Government Partner-

ship (OGP), an international forum for 79 countries committed 

to making their governments more open and accountable, 

the Indonesian parliament has committed to being more 

transparent by using new technology. In most of the 79 OGP 

member countries, parliaments are not involved at the na-

tional level with implementation. Indonesia bucks this trend. 

In April 2019, WFD organised a roundtable on this important 

topic in Bali, Indonesia. 40 members of parliament and civil 

society organisations from Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, 

Nepal, Pakistan, and Sri Lanka came together to discuss 

what a commitment to transparency and openness means 

for parliaments and legislators. 

WFD also coordinated training events throughout the year 

for technical and expert staff, such as the workshop with the 

Public Accounts Committee (Badan Akuntabilitas Keuangan 

Negara) in February 2020 on enhancing accountability of 

public spending, budgeting, and financial reporting. 

WFD helped local and national government to apply innovative 

techniques to review laws intended to combat discrimination 

and human rights violations in local regulations, to make sure 

they are achieving their intended outcome (post-legislative 

scrutiny). This built on WFD’s previous support for the House 

of Representatives as they helped bring new counter-ter-

rorism legislation into line with international human rights 

principles.  

Laos

While Laos remains a one-party state and political change in 

the country is a piecemeal and carefully managed process, 

there have been encouraging signs for reform over the past 

several years. WFD has worked in Laos since 2016 to help 

strengthen the capacity of members and staff of the National 

Assembly of Laos and the People’s Provincial Assemblies, 

through a programme supported by the British Embassy in 

Vientiane. 

Our work with the Law Committee of the National Assembly 

continued to focus on developing core legislative review and 

scrutiny skills, including by introducing a better approach to 

reviewing laws. The Law Committee has actively engaged 

in the development of a tailored manual on post-legislative 

scrutiny (PLS), a process supported by WFD, throughout 

2019-20. With the manual nearing completion, the next step 

will be for WFD to support the Committee in piloting the 

practice of conducting PLS for the first time. We also worked 

with the Law Committee and the Women’s Caucus of the 

National Assembly to help make new laws more inclusive and 

facilitate the input of citizens, particularly women, into the 

legislative process. We organised a consultation workshop 

focused on reviewing the Gender Equality Bill, proposed 

by the Laos Women’s Union (LWU), with stakeholders. The 

bill was finalised in early 2020 and enacted as the national 

Gender Equality Law, which aims to protect women’s rights.

We also continued to support the National Assembly’s Justice 

Committee to improve its petitions handling system and en-

able it to manage a large amount of public submissions more 

efficiently. Members reported that the Justice Committee 

is functioning more effectively thanks to WFD’s ongoing 

support. Clear guidance on the petition handling process is 

now in place and 5,000 copies of petition brochures were 

printed and circulated to citizens to enhance their under-

standing on the petitions process this year. Committee staff 

report that they have improved capacity on both technical 

and soft skills to better support the Committee on handling 

and analysing public petitions and producing more concise 

committee reports.

Another highlight of the year was an exchange visit to the 

UK by the leadership of the National Assembly and People’s 

Provincial Assemblies in February 2020, which featured trips 

to London and Belfast for senior members and officials of 

Laos’ legislatures to learn from counterparts at Westminster 

and Stormont.  
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A speaker from Indonesia at our regional conference on 
post-legislative scrutiny in June 2019.
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Latin America
In 2019-20 WFD delivered initiatives in several Latin American countries including Bolivia, Ecuador, Guatemala, 

Mexico, and Venezuela. Venezuela continues to host WFD’s only full-scale programme and permanent office in 

the region, building upon work that began in April 2016. 
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36 

activities
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Venezuela

Over the course of the year, Venezuela’s economic and social 

crisis continued, with an increasing demand for international 

humanitarian aid to relieve the crisis affecting the population. 

Furthermore, the country is still involved in a political crisis 

that sees the executive faced with an interim government 

named by the National Assembly and backed by a number of 

countries that did not recognise the presidential elections of 

2018 as legitimate. The situation has led to EU and US sanc-

tions on individuals and more recently to US sanctions on 

Venezuelan state institutions controlled by President Maduro.

 

In this challenging context, WFD has continued its work 

with the National Assembly by supporting it to implement 

a modernisation strategy. This year, we supported the Na-

tional Assembly with policy briefings on gender equality and 

helped familiarise legislators and staff about its importance 

to help mainstream this value across the institution. We also 

delivered a workshop tailored for and targeted at women 

MPs to further strengthen their position within parliament.

Also, the WFD Venezuela team undertook programming 

in regions of Venezuela outside Caracas for the first time, 

organising eight regional encounters between MPs and lo-

cal civil society organisations. WFD helped ensure that the 

meetings were as diverse as possible, and included a range 

of entrepreneurs, farmers, academics, workers, indigenous 

representatives and NGOs. 

Across the region

In April 2019, WFD worked in Mexico with the Supreme Au-

dit Institution and the Chamber of Deputies to deliver an 

event that focused on financial accountability and the role 

of parliaments. In November, WFD delivered an MP induction 

programme in the Congress of Guatemala, with contributions 

from a House of Commons research specialist, a former 

MP from Chile and an expert in transparency and financial 

accountability from Mexico. This enabled a wide range of 

practices to be shared from three different country con-

texts, including the role of an MP, parliamentary research 

practices, financial accountability, citizen engagement, and 

gender equality.

In February 2020, WFD also delivered a post-legislative scru-

tiny workshop in Ecuador, working with staff and MPs from 

their newly established Parliamentary Unit, to share good 

practice examples and regional knowledge from the Congress 

of Guanajuato in Mexico.

During the same month in Bolivia, in the wake of the annulled 

elections, a scoping mission was undertaken by an expert 

team to assess opportunities for WFD to support in the fu-

ture. While in La Paz, the team was able to contribute to the 

British Embassy’s ‘40 under 40’ event which was successful 

in bringing together different young actors from a wide 

range of sectors in Bolivian society, to consider options for 

resolving political and social tensions, at a challenging time 

in the country’s political history.
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WFD worked in Mexico with the Supreme Audit Institution and the Chamber of Deputies to 
deliver an event that focused on Financial Accountability and the role of parliaments.
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Commonwealth of 
Nations

Starting shortly after the London Commonwealth Summit of 2018 and over the last two financial years, the 

UK Government has helped advance inclusion and accountability across the Commonwealth through the 

Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy programme (CP4D), which worked with parliaments and local 

governments in 18 Commonwealth Member States to improve the representation of women, young people, 

persons with disabilities and the LGBT+ community in democratic processes.
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CP4D has been managed by the Foreign and Commonwealth Office and implemented by WFD in partnership with Common-

wealth Parliamentary Association Headquarters (CPA), Commonwealth Parliamentary Association UK (CPA UK) and the 

Commonwealth Local Government Forum (CLGF).

Together, the partnership:

•	 Supported the enactment of legislation to include persons with disabilities in three Kenyan counties and trained new MPs 

in Sierra Leone on disability inclusion.

•	 Updated the only Commonwealth-wide standards for parliaments, known as the CPA Recommended Benchmarks for Dem-

ocratic Legislatures, so they align with the UN’s Sustainable Development Goal 16 and helped 11 parliaments to self-assess 

against these benchmarks. 

•	 Advanced women’s political leadership in India by helping local mentors address the barriers to entering politics for women 

contesting local elections, and in Africa and Asia by bringing together hundreds of women political leaders to build their 

skills to better carry out their work.

•	 Shared insights from the Commonwealth Association of Public Accounts Committees across the Commonwealth amongst 

committee chairs, members and clerks, to help them improve their skills in exercising their oversight function.

•	 Trained 3,000 student leaders in Ghana on parliamentary ethics and practices.

•	 Helped young people to secure the support of key political leaders in East Africa for the African Charter on Democracy, 

Elections and Governance (ACDEG) and promote youth inclusion in politics.

•	 Supported LGBT+ rights by hosting parliamentarians, activists and others at a regional roundtable in a South-East Asian 

country in February 2020 to facilitate dialogue on ways to advance equality and inclusion for LGBT+ persons.

•	 Advanced parliamentary standards and oversight of Commonwealth governments, partnering with parliaments in Sri 

Lanka and Malawi to share experiences between their own parliamentary committees and counterparts in the UK, helping 

to strengthen parliamentary oversight.

The Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy came at a critical time as the global landscape is changing dramatically, with 

traditional democratic structures and alliances being challenged in new ways.

The Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy was announced in London by then Foreign Secretary Boris Johnson during 

the Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting (CHOGM) in 2018, building on the Commonwealth Heads of Government 

Meeting’s Communique ‘Towards a Common Future’ which was agreed by Commonwealth Heads of State.

The partnership was implemented over the two years in which the UK chaired the Commonwealth. It closed on 31 March 2020. 

To ensure the programme had a lasting legacy for inclusive and accountable politics, we invited parliamentarians from 

across the political spectrum, civil society organisations, experts in democracy, and parliamentary staff and Speakers from 

parliaments across the Commonwealth to come together in London at the Foreign and Commonwealth Office for a three-

day conference to share lessons which were learnt over the last two years. At the conference, guests called for inclusion and 

accountability to be put high on the agenda for the Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting (CHOGM) in Rwanda in 

June 2020, although the meeting was later postponed.

‘When our leaders met in 2018, they recognised that if sustainable development is to flourish, we 

need effective, accountable & inclusive national institutions. We need the full social, economic 

& political participation of all our citizens.’

Lord Ahmad of Wimbledon

Minister of State at the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office

•	
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Number of parliaments in 
Commonwealth countries engaged

Percentage of implementing partners that 
believe CP4D programmes have raised the 

standards for inclusion and/or accountability

Parliaments that completed a facilitated 
self-assessment

Local partners surveyed stating that outcomes 
from their programme(s) are likely or very 

likely to be sustained 

Student leaders trained 
in Ghana

PWD appointed to a National Cabinet 
position in Mozambique

Indian women committed to running 
in upcoming local elections

Disability bills passed in Kenya
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Political Parties
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Why we work with political parties

Parties that are inclusive, policy-oriented, and staffed by competent professionals can act as the strongest constraint on the 

executive and are essential for the proper functioning of democracy.

Political parties build support among broad coalitions of citizens and interest groups. They integrate conflicting views and 

demands into coherent ideologies and manifestos, providing voters with a choice of leaders and policy programmes. 

Parties select and train legislative candidates and political leaders and, following elections, organise the business of govern-

ment and formal opposition. In between elections, political parties can build stronger relationships with voters and improve 

their internal capacity to develop policy ideas that address citizens’ needs.

WFD’s unique approach to political party assistance has helped many political parties over the last 28 years, from individual 

parties to party networks, both regionally and internationally. 

We have supported political parties to develop and present platforms and policies with coherent ideology and that respond 

to the challenges that societies face and voters prioritise. WFD has worked with parties to adopt more inclusive practices; 

women, young people, and vulnerable groups such as minorities, the LGBT+ community, and persons with disabilities have 

become more empowered and their needs served as a result of the reforms our party partners have made. 

The UK parties continue to be the critical engines of international party networks, as well as leading the way in developing 

party networks in Africa, the Caribbean, Europe and MENA. Through ‘sister party’ work, the UK parties are a vital partner to 

build relationships of trust with parties that are in the same political family, as well as with other parties that want to tap into 

UK party skills even if ideological positions do not coincide.

WFD sponsors the international work of UK political parties represented in the UK House of Commons. In 2019-20, WFD 

supported four offices and programmes:

•	 the Conservative WFD Programme

•	 the Labour Party WFD Programme

•	 the SNP WFD Programme

•	 the WFD Multi-Party Office (a shared facility supporting the work of the Liberal Democrats, Democratic Unionist Party of 

Northern Ireland, Plaid Cymru – The Party of Wales, and the Green Party)
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Melani Leimena Suharli MP pledges her commitment to getting more women 
into the Indonesian House of Representatives during an activity organised by 

the Conservative WFD Programme which worked with local partners on tackling 
barriers to women’s political participation in Indonesia.
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The Conservative Party WFD Programme

‘The Westminster Foundation for Democracy’s work to help parliaments respond effectively to the COVID-19 pandemic and 

adjust to new ways of working is hugely important. This is all whilst continuing to strengthen democracy and boost human 

rights around the world. I am proud of the Conservative Party’s support for WFD and our work with our sister parties across 

the globe.’

Rt Hon Boris Johnson MP 

Prime Minister and Leader of the Conservative Party
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The Conservative Party is a British centre-right political 

party and it has been the leading party of government in 

the UK since 2010. 

The Conservative Party’s WFD Programme is an expression 

of the Prime Minister’s vision for a truly global Britain and it is 

underpinned by the Conservative Party’s values of promoting 

freedom, democracy, the rule of law and human rights. The 

Conservative WFD Programme delivers support to sister 

parties, focusing on capacity building and on fostering the 

mutually beneficial sharing of best practices bilaterally and 

through regional and international political networks.

In 2019-20, the Conservative WFD Programme’s portfolio 

focused on the themes of empowering women in politics; 

promoting youth political participation; facilitating the devel-

opment of evidence-based policies; training political parties 

on how to be more inclusive and accessible to persons with 

disabilities; and sharing best practices through north-south 

and south-south collaborative approaches.

The use of online technologies for training sister parties 

through webinars, online workshops and e-discussions was 

an integral part of this year’s programme delivery. This 

meant that the Conservative WFD Programme had a wider 

global reach and that it could readily adapt to the delivery 

challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Encouraging the political participation of underrepresented communities in Africa

In Africa, the Conservative WFD Programme has been encouraging women’s political participation by facilitating capacity 

building training. As a result, one of the programme’s beneficiaries from Tanzania was elected to the Board of the International 

Women’s Democrat Union (IWDU). Moreover, in Namibia, a participant of our programme was elected as an MP, becoming 

the youngest woman parliamentarian in Namibia. 

The programme also trains political parties on how to reach underrepresented groups, including through training on how 

to communicate with minorities and illiterate voters. This encourages political parties to be inclusive and diverse, as well as 

facilitating citizen participation. 

Building capacity in the Caribbean

In 2019-20 the Conservative Party worked to build the capacity of the Caribbean Democrat Union (CDU) and of its member 

parties at all levels. Expert training to the CDU’s youth network resulted in the development of the #LetsVote initiative - a social 

media campaign to encourage youth voter engagement and increase election turnout among young voters. At the beginning 

of 2019, the Conservative WFD Programme started developing a CDU Training Hub which will become the network’s focal point 

for training in political campaigning and strategic communications, candidate preparedness and institutional strengthening.

Advancing women’s political leadership in Latin America

In Latin America, the Conservative WFD Programme works to advance women’s political leadership through supporting the 

Women’s Network within the Union of Latin American Parties. Some of the highlights brought about by our programme in 

2019-20 included:

•	 Development and presentation of bills that seek to punish and eradicate violence against women in politics in the Congress 

of Honduras and in the Central American Parliament.

•	 Establishment of a new Women’s Secretariat within the structure of a party from the Dominican Republic.

•	 Election of a network member to the Board of the International Women’s Democrat Union.
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The Caribbean Young Democrat Union (CYDU) discuss the 
#LetsVote Campaign.



98 | WFD

Participants at a regional conference on calling out violence 
against women in politics in the Western Balkans.
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#CountMeIn in the Western Balkans

In the Western Balkans, the Programme works regionally to promote inclusion by encouraging the participation of women, 

youth and persons with disabilities in political processes. 

•	 Through our #AskHerToStand campaign, we championed the participation and representation of women in politics. As a 

result, a sister party in Bosnia and Herzegovina altered its party statute and granted a vote to the Women’s Forum in its 

party board.

•	 Through the #NotMyStyle campaign, we engaged young people to encourage cross ethnic cooperation, which is vital to 

sustaining peace and stability in the Western Balkans. 

•	 As part of the #CountMeIn campaign, in partnership with the International Foundation for Electoral Systems, we facilitated 

training for political parties on how to be more accessible to persons with disabilities. 

Promoting inclusive and accountable politics in Indonesia

The Conservative WFD Programme worked with local partners on tackling barriers to women’s political participation in Indo-

nesia. We assessed current funding challenges to women’s parliamentary candidacies and developed proposals for effectively 

addressing them. The proposals were used by women’s caucuses to advocate for political funding models that facilitate the 

upskilling of women candidates and foster a more efficient allocation of funding to their parliamentary campaigns.

In addition, the project helped four political parties strengthen their policy development processes. Parties turned their 

manifestos into more accessible documents that can be used by their parliamentarians, ministers and activists alike as the 

guiding document underpinning their policy agenda.  
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The Labour Party WFD Programme

‘For over 25 years the Westminster Foundation for Democracy has played a vital role in supporting democracy and human 

rights across the world. 	

I am honoured to lead the Labour Party and excited to continue our work with the WFD to help improve people’s lives by 

promoting more open and fairer political systems. 

At a time when international cooperation is needed more than ever we must continue to build alliances and work together to 

champion democracy and promote our common values.’

Sir Keir Starmer MP

Leader of the Labour Party

Image credit: UK Parliament
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The Labour Party is a centre-left party in the UK, made up of 

over half a million members, and an alliance of social demo-

crats, democratic socialists and trade unionists. The Labour 

Party has a long history of international work and established 

links with many parties around the world. Our international 

links help us support the Labour Party’s progressive inter-

national policy agenda and share best practices with other 

parties.

Labour’s WFD programme supports political parties and net-

works in new, fragile and emerging democracies. The Labour 

Party’s values of social justice, human rights and challenging 

inequality underpin our work. 

During the year, Labour put gender equality and political 

representation at the centre of its programme activities. 

The emphasis has been on supporting future leaders to 

overcome barriers to participation in political selections 

and policymaking. This is delivered in practice through fos-

tering cooperation and networks with Labour’s sister party 

family across Eastern European, Western Balkans, sub-Sa-

haran Africa, and the Middle East and North Africa regions.
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Europe and Central Asia 

In Europe and Central Asia, the Labour Party’s work focused on gender equality and inclusion within policymaking. 

The Labour Party organised a Progressive Alliance Activist Academy in Vienna in October 2019, which delivered training on 

modern party organisation and communication work in the context of political campaigns and how to engage in online and 

social media debates. 

In Bosnia and Herzegovina, our work continues to support Social Democratic MPs build their capacity to navigate the legislative 

processes, increase the political participation of youth leaders through a mentoring scheme and to develop elected women 

to lead public discussions on key policy issues. Social Democratic women MPs became the most prominent voices on policy 

issues around social protection and transparency. 

Through a series of focus groups in Serbia (in Belgrade, Novi Sad and Niš), our partners in the Western Balkans, the Centre 

for Modern Skills and Youth for Exchange and Understanding International, strengthened the policy-making process by de-

vising mechanisms for inclusive, regional policymaking. Regional focus groups were organised on topics including migration, 

social welfare and tackling youth unemployment. In North Macedonia, the groups analysed proposed government policy to 

address the migration and demographic crises. The focus group in Bosnia and Herzegovina in February 2020 examined and 

reviewed policies already in place to deal with outward migration (in this case, to what extent maternity benefits influence 

people’s desire to emigrate), while in other countries focus was on both analysis of current policy and devising new ideas. In 

total, the focus groups engaged 265 people across the Western Balkans, a clear demonstration of the willingness to engage 

with policy development.

Activities to mark International Women’s Day played a prominent role in capacity building and the increased engagement 

of women in Ukraine. A series of workshops on social democratic theory and practice on gender equality, women’s rights, 

support for women’s spaces and their ability to influence the political process proved vital for identifying ways to improve 

women’s political representation. Our partners organised and mobilised huge levels of participation for the International 

Women’s Day march, which also helped them build new partnerships and engage and exchange ideas with civil society groups 

on strategies for change. 

In December 2019, our partners in Montenegro, Ninimedia kliping doo, started their new programme in three municipalities 

(Bijelo Polje, Podgorica and Bar) to support the development of activists and members through a Political Academy that will 

provide training on party organisation, effective campaigning, diverse communication methods, policy development and 

member mobilisation. There are 25 young and promising political activists and potential parliamentarians now engaged in 

the Academy.  We encouraged our young alumni, especially those from Eastern Europe, to lead trainings for young activists 

within their regions. 
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Labour’s sister party partners learnt about best practice for 
election campaigning in the 2019 UK general election .
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Election best practice - Labour’s sister party partners sharing 
campaigning experience.
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Middle East and North Africa 

Across the Middle East and North Africa, the Labour Party continued to support Tha’era, the Arab Women’s network, to ad-

vocate for women in leadership and eliminating violence against women. The programme supported the development of an 

advocacy manual on eliminating violence against women, which has been shared with women across the region. The Labour 

Party helped build a programme of workshops to deliver training on how to use the manual and implemented activities within it. 

In Egypt, our partners the Popular Socialist Alliance party and Tha’era, the Arab Women’s network, prepared and delivered 

training in October-November 2019. The training was attended by over 50 members of the party in Upper Egypt’s gover-

norates. The session provided advocacy techniques on how members might organise a national campaign on the issue of 

violence against women. As a direct result, there is now new and improved draft legislation to combat violence against women 

awaiting approval in the Egyptian Parliament.

In Tunisia, a young participant of our Future Leaders’ Programme, which supports political partners in the MENA region to 

develop the campaigns and communication of young leaders, was selected to stand in their parliamentary elections. 

In Jordan, through its WFD programme, the Labour Party worked on a party-to-party basis to enhance collaboration with 

trade unions, union members and party leadership. This took the form of education activities to raise awareness of trade 

unions and their importance in developing legislation to defend workers’ rights. Training workshops were prepared and de-

livered in September 2019 to promote increased and active participation in the trade union sector. These meetings had the 

benefit of high-level engagement from the Secretary General of the Jordanian Social Democratic Party and a Member of 

Parliament, Jameel Al-Nimri, who engaged with civil society, beyond his peers, to advance outreach initiatives and address 

common challenges.

Sub-Saharan Africa

The Labour programme has been supporting the Women’s Academy for Africa (WAFA) to promote gender equality, empow-

erment, and the political advancement of women across the region for nearly a decade. The network brings together women 

from 13 countries across Central, East, Southern and West Africa. Representatives from WAFA identified the lack of access to 

and control over resources and political party practices as significant barriers to being selected as candidates in elections. 

WAFA has challenged this by providing political fundraising skills. Building on the previous training on women’s representation, 

a ‘train the trainers’ workshop was organised in September 2019 to train participants to run national workshops across the 

region, focusing on building fundraising skills and building a campaign profile. So far, 95 women have engaged with these 

workshops in Sao Tome e Principe, Uganda, and Mozambique. On a bilateral level, work with our sister parties continued to 

focus on their needs by fostering dialogue between parties, with civil society, on human rights and equalities.
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The Scottish National Party WFD programme

‘The Westminster Foundation brings political parties together to promote and strengthen democracies throughout the world. 

This is important work, based on the values of human rights, justice and fairness for all.’

Nicola Sturgeon

Leader of the Scottish National Party and First Minister of Scotland 
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The Scottish National Party (SNP) is a progressive, left-of-

centre party with an internationalist outlook. The SNP has 

been in government in the Scottish Parliament since 2007 

and has been the third largest party in the UK Parliament 

since 2015.

This unique position allows the SNP to share experience of 

devolution and the experience of being simultaneously in 

government and opposition. The SNP’s international work 

funded by WFD focuses on select projects on cross-party, 

thematic bases, to maximise depth of intervention and use 

limited funding effectively.  

The SNP’s approach to representation and equality, particu-

larly with regards to women’s political representation, is at 

the heart of our international democracy support. With a 

female party leader, First Minister Nicola Sturgeon, and the 

UK’s first gender-balanced Cabinet, our programming shares 

good practice with partners moving closer to gender equality.
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MENA: Arab Women Parliamentarians’ Network for Equality (Ra’edat)

Ra’edat is a network of 400 women who are current or former legislators from 14 countries across the Middle East and North 

Africa. In 2019-20, the SNP WFD programme supported the network in hosting country-level conferences to adapt a regional 

policy on gender equality to national contexts. The conferences demonstrated strong engagement between the network 

and civil society across the MENA region, as well as cross-party collaboration. The SNP WFD programme then supported the 

network as they conducted a research study and developed a policy paper on violence against women in politics, the first of 

its kind in the Arab world. 

Malawi: Parliamentary Women’s Caucus
 

The SNP WFD programme continues to partner with a local NGO in Malawi, the Centre for Civil Society Strengthening. The 

NGO hosts the programme’s full-time Lilongwe-based Project Officer, allowing for regular stakeholder collaboration, engage-

ment with the caucus and representation in meetings. Work in 2019-20 was affected by the context of the May 2019 election. 

In the lead-up to the election, the SNP WFD programme supported the existing 32 female MPs in maintaining visibility as a 

united caucus through their campaign, and shared messaging about the importance of female political representation. 45 

women were elected in May 2019, and the office in Malawi continues to work with the new caucus on combating violence 

against women in politics, creating positive visibility in the media, developing ongoing campaign strategies and maintaining 

constituency engagement. They have reported that the SNP WFD programme is the only organisation to work with the caucus 

through the electoral cycle, rather than just in the lead-up to elections. This programme was supported by DFID through its 

Inclusive and Accountable Politics programme. 

Ukraine: Elections and disinformation

In 2019-20, the SNP WFD programme collaborated with the Committee of Voters of Ukraine (CVU) to develop a guide for 

voters on how to recognise and avoid the disinformation surrounding elections, which was shared via video presentation and 

social media channels. The academic Dr Yevhan Mahda was commissioned to publish a research paper on the findings from 

both elections. Additionally, through 2019, CVU hosted a series of roundtable discussions in different regions of Ukraine with 

local stakeholders to develop a cross-sector cohesive policy strategy to identify and combat Russian disinformation in the 

country in advance of the presidential and parliamentary elections. This culminated in a final event in January 2020 with 

participants from Scotland, several former Soviet Union states, and Ukraine. 
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Women MPs from Malawi visit the Scottish Parliament as part 
of the SNP WFD programme.
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The WFD Multi-Party Office

‘I’m hugely supportive of the work that the Westminster Foundation for Democracy do to promote inclusive politics and 

women’s empowerment.

The Liberal Democrats are proud of the role that we take, alongside the Africa Liberal Network, in ensuring that women have 

the skills to win elections.  

I am delighted that last year we were able to work with women from across Africa, as part of the Women’s Leadership Pro-

gramme, and that all of them will be standing in elections in the next two years.

We maintain our commitment to both campaign training and mentoring with our liberal sister parties as we strive to promote 

women’s full political participation.’

Ed Davey MP

Leader of the Liberal Democrats.
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WFD’s Multi-Party Office (MPO) works with a group of UK po-

litical parties, including the Liberal Democrats, the Democratic 

Unionist Party, Plaid Cymru – The Party of Wales, and the 

Green Party of England and Wales, to undertake international 

engagement and development programmes around the world. 

By partnering with smaller and opposition parties in countries 

dominated by one or two major political parties, WFD Multi-Par-

ty Office projects help to build truly multi-party democracies 

that offer citizens alternative choices and represent a range 

of views, issues and groups. Through its activities, the MPO 

shares political experience that is relatable and can be adapted 

to the local context by minority political parties campaigning 

on specific issues or representing a certain region or group.  

The WFD MPO’s projects support UK parties in their work 

with sister parties and regional networks to enhance internal 

party rules and procedures, strengthen party branches, run 

effective political campaigns, improve membership outreach 

practices, adopt evidence-based and inclusive policy develop-

ment processes, and increase opportunities for participation 

by historically marginalised groups.
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Liberal Democrats:
Supporting women standing for election

The Liberal Democrats have supported the Africa Liberal 

Network for over 10 years. Most recently, this has involved 

partnering to launch and run the ALN Women’s Leadership 

Programme, a regional initiative aiming to improve the rep-

resentation and participation of women within the network 

and within its member parties. The programme provides 

training and support for women planning to stand for elec-

tion in the following two years and includes three regional 

workshops, along with remote political mentoring.

In 2019, fourteen participants from nine different countries 

completed the programme, with training workshops held 

in Morocco, Ethiopia, and South Africa. In March 2020, the 

first workshop of the programme’s second year took place 

in Kenya, with a new group of fourteen participants repre-

senting eleven different parties and ten different countries 

across the continent.  

Democratic Unionist Party: 
Tackling disinformation in Georgia

Building on work that began in early 2019, the Democratic 

Unionist Party continued their collaboration with the Con-

servative Party of Georgia, supporting the party to play a 

leading role in the Georgian government’s response to the 

issue of disinformation. As part of this, WFD’s Multi-Party 

Office provided technical support to the first ever parliamen-

tary inquiry by the Georgian Foreign Affairs Committee on 

Disinformation and Propaganda, and arranged a study visit 

to the UK for committee members to meet and exchange 

with UK Parliament committee staff and experts on disin-

formation. The final inquiry report was published in early 

2020, receiving wide media attention. 

Following this, a delegation from the Conservative Party of 

Georgia also visited Belfast and London in March 2020 for 

several meetings with DUP staff and leadership to discuss 

and provide support on different elements of the party’s 

campaign preparations ahead of the Georgian parliamentary 

elections in October 2020. 
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The Georgian Foreign Affairs Committee on Disinformation and Propaganda on 
a study visit to the UK for committee members to meet and exchange with UK 

Parliament committee staff and experts on disinformation.
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The youth wing of the Democratic Renewal of Macedonia party 
taking part in the Green Academy training programme.
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Plaid Cymru: 
Helping their sister party develop a credible and informed 

policy programme in Kosovo 

Plaid Cymru continued their partnership with Alternativa, their 

sister party in Kosovo, through supporting them to develop a 

credible and informed policy programme in preparation for 

the country’s parliamentary elections held in October 2019. 

Following a series of consultations with party members and 

policy experts, Alternativa developed policies in five priority 

areas, including economic development, education and youth, 

environment, health and social welfare, and the rule of law. 

The project also supported Alternativa to organise several 

public outreach meetings across Kosovo to raise awareness 

of their new policy programme. 

Green Party of England and Wales: 
Helping the leaders of tomorrow promote democracy

In spring 2019 the Green Party of England and Wales launched 

the Green Talent Accelerator in partnership with the Eastern 

Africa Greens Federation (EAGF), a network of parties they 

have been supporting since 2013. The programme identifies 

and provides tailored support to emerging leaders within 

member parties seeking to hold public office, promote dem-

ocratic values, and contribute to the advancement of their 

parties and the network. Participant programmes included 

shadowing senior women within the Green Party of England 

and Wales; in-person and remote coaching on public speaking, 

messaging and communication; and the development of an 

election campaign plan.

The Young Greens of England and Wales also developed the 

Green Academy in North Macedonia with the youth wing of 

the Democratic Renewal of Macedonia, MODOM. Drawing 

on the Young Greens’ own experience of their ‘30 Under 

30’ youth training initiative, they worked with MODOM to 

develop a seven month programme open to young people 

interested in Green politics from across the country. The 

programme focused on political activism, campaigning, and 

public speaking skills and included sessions on LGBT+ issues 

and environmental sustainability led by representatives from 

the Young Greens and local civil society organisations.
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Elections

WFD is the public body responsible for the recruitment and selection of UK election observers for overseas 

missions and believes that free, fair and credible elections are a key pillar of an effective and representative 

democratic state.

During 2019-20, WFD continued to expand its work in the field of elections using the integrated electoral cycle 

approach which it adopted the previous year to support the integrity of electoral processes. The approach cen-

tres on engaging political parties, parliaments, civil society organisations, and electoral bodies before, during, 

and after elections, instead of solely engaging during the election itself. It promotes the integration of electoral 

topics into governance work to help bolster democratic governance.

In addition to a long- and short-term election observation training held in May 2019, which expanded the UK’s 

election observation database, WFD sent UK election observers to participate in three election observation 

missions: in Malawi, Tunisia and Kosovo.
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Reforming elections

Reforming elections is the most meaningful way to combine a long-term perspective with strong stakeholder engagement 

in areas of governance which enhance electoral integrity.  As the process of reforming elections often suffers from a lack of 

transparency and consultation, which leads to a negative impact, WFD began its work in this area during 2018-19 with a clear 

focus on transparency and supporting long-term consultation mechanisms. It is WFD’s goal to enable relevant stakeholders 

to engage with the reforms in an active and meaningful way.

To this end WFD conducted detailed research on implementing baseline recommendations for reforming elections. We de-

veloped a Guide for Political Party Representatives which we published internally and shared with partners in February 2020 

to foster long-term monitoring of electoral reforms. With these first steps, WFD will continue to develop a strong support 

programme on reforming elections in the coming year.

Helping women overcome barriers to selection

This year, WFD has also delved into researching how to overcome the biggest challenges faced by women who want to get 

elected: selection (as party candidates) and election (to public office). We know from extensive research that the most significant 

barrier to women’s participation in formal politics is political parties and the way they operate. With both the programmes we 

run directly, and in coordination with the UK political parties and their WFD programmes, we have been making headway on 

this using a twin-track approach that engages both decision makers within political parties and provides technical support 

to the women who are ready to take on these political competitions.
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 A roundtable discussion on the security concerns facing 
national and municipal elections in Libya in February 2020.
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Research
WFD research and expertise has helped build an evidence base for improving the quality of our work and that of our partners 

in supporting democracies around the world.

This year, research by our in-house team of experts, independent experts, and through our long-standing partnership with 

the University of Birmingham, has included new research on women’s political leadership, anti-corruption and election ob-

servation missions.

Women political leaders on parliamentary committees in Africa

A growing body of evidence shows that women have a substantive impact when they are included in legislatures, particularly 

when it comes to health. Yet, our understanding of how women in parliament achieve this impact remains poor. The policy 

paper we published in June 2019 helps to fill this gap by examining the extent to which parliamentary committees provide 

women in African parliaments with an avenue for influencing laws and policies in the health sector. It maps the inclusion of 

women in parliamentary committees across sub-Saharan Africa and presents a case study of Malawi, where in 2017 female 

legislators made use of parliamentary committees to influence a new law on HIV and AIDS – an issue of vital importance to 

women.

Regulating referenda: an international survey of democracies

Our survey of 34 countries’ regulation of referenda, which was published in March 2020, shows that worldwide, regulation 

of referenda is minimal and open to abuse.

The paper argues that countries’ institutions everywhere need urgent reforms of how they incorporate direct democracy. 

The paper covers issues around online campaign regulation, campaign spending limits, limits on government spending, and 

the role of the media and marginalised groups.

Addressing structural challenges to democracy in the Western Balkans

In the Western Balkans, we have published novel research throughout the year, including on the cost of youth emigration to 

national economies and why boycotting parliament is undermining democracy in the region. These papers have helped to 

illuminate the structural challenges to democratic governance in new ways. See the Western Balkans section for additional 

information.

Implementing election observation recommendations in sub-Saharan Africa

International election observers invest significant time and energy in making recommendations which are designed to improve 

the integrity and credibility of future elections. Yet, observers do not always have the opportunity to monitor the implemen-

tation of their recommendations over time, nor the capacity to conduct in-depth research into why certain recommendations 

may be successfully implemented while others are not. WFD and the University of Birmingham tracked the implementation 

of observers’ recommendations across five countries in sub-Saharan Africa: Ghana, Kenya, Liberia, Nigeria, and Uganda. Our 

analysis revealed significant variation in terms of which recommendations are implemented.
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A conference attendee examines an infographic of 
WFD’s research.
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British Ambassador to North Macedonia, Rachel Galloway 
reads WFD’s research on the socio-political participation of 

young people at a conference to present its findings.
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Accountability and anti-corruption

In collaboration with Phil Mason, the former senior anti-corruption adviser at the UK’s Department for International Devel-

opment (DFID), our in-house team of experts produced new research on anti-corruption agencies and how they interact 

with parliament. The framework included an update on WFD’s approach to programming in this area and case studies from 

across Europe and Asia.

In March 2020, WFD launched a new publication on independent oversight institutions, which offered a global and coun-

try-specific analysis of parliaments’ relationships with the institutions which audit public funds, tackle anti-corruption, and 

support human rights. The publication, which was supported by a parliamentary guide and related education materials, has 

been used extensively throughout country teams’ programming in this area.

Women’s political leadership

In spring 2020, WFD formed a partnership with the Global Institute for Women’s Leadership and Kings College London to 

commission a literature review on what supports and sustains women’s political careers. This unique piece of work brings 

together 500 different pieces of research on this topic and was published in July 2020.

We also initiated a meeting for donors and organisations like us who implement programmes, on applying new ways of thinking 

about gender, politics (thinking and working politically), and fragile and conflict-affected situations to our work. The group 

identified challenges to working holistically and consistently with these lenses and produced several recommendations that 

we will follow up on next year. 

Key risks and uncertainties

Working on political governance abroad is complex and often delicate. WFD acts to reduce, avoid, transfer or tolerate risks 

as appropriate. The Board acknowledges that accepting a degree of risk is a characteristic of WFD’s work when setting its 

risk appetite. Without this it would not be possible for WFD to carry out programme work in several of the jurisdictions in 

which we operate. 

WFD has in place a risk management policy and procedures to identify and to manage risks at the corporate level and pro-

gramme-by-programme. Key risks and uncertainties are those that could have a material impact on WFD in carrying out 

its work. During the year, eight strategic risks were monitored and managed as part of a Corporate Risk Register reviewed 

monthly by the Executive Management Committee and quarterly by the Board. The outbreak of coronavirus (COVID-19) 

towards the end of the reporting period has impacted on the risk ratings and mitigation activities of several strategic risks. 

Risk management and key risks are reported in more detail on pages 84 and 89.
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Finance review
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Finance review
Incoming resources for the year, including our grant-in-aid from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, totalled £16.2million. 

DFID

FCO-Other

UK Government-Other

European Union

FCO-Grant-in-Aid

UK Government-CP4D

Third party

35 %

5 %

20 %

4 %

11 %

20 %

5 %
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Total expenditure for the year was £16.3 million.

Income

Grant-in-aid

WFD receives an annual grant-in-aid (GIA) from the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office out of monies voted by 

Parliament, to enable us to achieve agreed objectives. As required by the Governmental Financial Reporting Manual, GIA is 

treated as financing and is taken directly to the core reserve, as opposed to being recognised as income. The conditions of 

the GIA require that it be applied for according to need and be spent in the year to which it relates. In the current year the 

GIA available to WFD was £3.3 million. £0.2m was received in 2018-19 but spent in the 2019-20 financial year. Therefore, the 

overall value to WFD of the FCO GIA for the period 2019-20 remained at £3.5 million as in the prior year.	

 

Other funding

Despite the impact of COVID-19 on activities in the last quarter of the financial year, 2019-20 has been a year of growth for 

WFD, with our total income, excluding GIA, increasing by £908,000 (7.5%) to reach £13 million. 49 grants and contracts 

were managed in 2019-20 (2018-19: 51).

Parliamentary and integrated

Political parties

Staff costs

Other operating costs

61 %
20 %

13 %

6 %
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UK Government – Department for International Development (DFID)

 DFID, and going forward the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office, continues to be an important strategic partner 

and funder for WFD programmes. This is the second year of a three-year Accountable Grant (AG), to support inclusive and 

accountable politics. The grant commenced in August 2018 and DfiD has committed up to a total of £12 million of funding to 

31 March 2021, with an additional performance related amount of £2.8 million available. In the current year, £3.9 million of 

income was recognised under the new DFID AG (2018-19: £3.8 million).

DFID also provided a separate grant of £1.6 million for activities in Myanmar (2018-19: £1.2 million). In addition, DFID provided 

further grants totalling £0.2 million in 2019-20 for WFD work in the DRC, Ethiopia, and Nigeria (2018-19: £0.5 million). 

Work in Myanmar and Ethiopia will continue in 2020-21, with budgeted income of approximately £1.5 million.  Extensions to 

continue WFD’s work in Nigeria are being considered. 

UK Government – Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO)

Overall income from FCO funds decreased in the year by 22% to £0.7 million (2018-19: £0.9 million), but, as noted in the 

UK Government section below, income from cross-governmental funds increased significantly in the year. The reduction in 

funding from FCO funds were in line with expectations, with several grants ending 31 March 2019 and new funding being 

secured from the CSSF (see section below).  Financially the most notable was the ending of the Arab Partnership Fund (APF) 

for programming in Morocco (2018-19: £0.6 million), which was replaced in 2019-20 with the Conflict, Stability and Security 

Fund (CSSF) funding of £0.4 million.  

New FCO grants secured in 2019-20 supported WFD’s work in number of countries, including DRC, Laos, Lebanon, Sudan, and 

Venezuela. All existing grants ended by 31 March 2020, but new funding opportunities for several countries are being explored.

Year ending 31 March
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UK Government-other UK Government-CP4D Third party EU
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UK Government – Cross-Government Funds

UK Government funding from the Conflict, Stability and Security Fund (CSSF) provided total income of £3.3 million in 2019-

20 (2018-19: £2.0 million). This supported WFD programming and scoping missions in Algeria, Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH), 

Lebanon, the Maldives, Morocco, the Philippines, Uzbekistan, and the Western Balkans. 

The Western Balkans CSSF grant was awarded in September 2018 and is due to run to 31 March 2022. This provides funding 

of up to £4.7 million to support embedding democratic culture for the benefit of citizens of the Western Balkans. In 2019-20 

income totalling £1.6 million was recognised. For more information on this programme please see page 54. 

Funding for Algeria, BiH, Lebanon, Maldives, and Morocco also continues in 2020-21. New funding for the Philippines is being 

considered.

On 17 April 2018, WFD secured funding for a new programme to build political engagement in 18 Commonwealth countries over 

two years to 31 March 2020. The programme was funded by the Commonwealth 18-20 Fairness Fund, a fund made available 

by the UK for the period that it is the Chair-in-Office of the Commonwealth of Nations. In 2019-20, WFD recognised income 

of £1.8 million. Funding opportunities to continue the work of this programme will be considered during 2020-21. For more 

information on this programme please see page 88.

Other funding

During the year, EU funding totalling £772,000 (2018-19: £1.0 million) was recognised. This relates to seven grants to support 

programming in the DRC, Jordan, Kyrgyzstan, Nigeria, South Africa, and the Western Balkans. The reduction in funding this 

year is predominantly due to the DRC grant ending part way through the year, as expected. The grants for Jordan, Kyrgyzstan, 

Nigeria and South Africa will continue in 2020-21, with total budgeted income from the EU of £0.9 million.

Third-party income of £755,000 was recognised in the year (2018-19 £990,000). This related to 13 grants from a range of do-

nors. A number of these grants continue in 2020-21 and new funding opportunities aligned with WFD’s strategy will be pursued.

Expenditure

In line with WFD funding increases, total expenditure has increased by £1.3 million to reach £16.3 million. The growth has been 

in programmes implemented directly by WFD, with proportional growth in WFD staff and operating costs.
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2020
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Programmes implemented directly by WFD

Parliamentary and integrated project costs are those directly related to WFD programming, including all WFD staff working 

in offices based outside the UK. Direct programme spend has increased by £716,000 (8%) to reach £9.9 million (2018-19: 

£9.1 million). It accounts for 61% of total spend in 2019-20, in line with the previous year (2018-19: 61%). This percentage has 

been maintained despite an increase in total expenditure of 9% which can be directly linked to the additional income secured 

in 2019-20, that funded WFD programming as opposed to Political Party programming.

 

UK political party international programmes and offices funded by WFD

Political party programmes and offices (PPOs) receive an allocation of the grant-in-aid (GIA) and the accountable grant (AG) 

received from FCO and DFID respectively. Under the AG, the PPO allocation to be funded by the AG is capped at 20% of the 

total PPO funding, with the remainder provided by the GIA. Each financial year funding is agreed and contracts between WFD 

and relevant PPOs are signed, specifying the amount and the conditions attached to the allocation. 

The total PPO funding made available in 2019-20 was £2.4 million of which £2.2 million was utilised by the PPOs (2018-19: 

£2.3 million). The consistent PPO funding levels are in line with the consistent level of GIA funding receivable by WFD. 2020-21 

PPO funding has been agreed at £2.2 million, to enable WFD to reallocate resources in light of the challenges COVID-19 has 

presented, to adapt programming and support staff.

Staff costs

Staff costs are for UK-based WFD staff; as at 31 March 2020, WFD employed 46.5 permanent full-time equivalent staff in the 

UK (2019: 48.5), a decrease of two or 4%. This was due to one permanent role being filled on a temporary basis at 31 March 

2020 through an agency, and one permanent role being vacant as at 31 March 2020. The majority of UK staff (2020: 29.5; 

2019: 30.5) are directly responsible for the design, management, delivery and monitoring of programmes and for managing 

local and UK partnerships. The remaining staff support have been employed in Finance, HR, Operations, and Communications 

& External Affairs services. UK staff also include the executive management team. Local staff that are located overseas are 

deemed to be direct programme costs and thereby accounted for in this manner. 

Staff costs totalled £3.25 million in 2019-20 (2018-19: £2.77 million), an increase of 17%. This is above the funding increase 

in the year (8%) and overall expenditure increases (9%). Consequently, staff costs relative to total spend have risen slightly, 

from 19% of total spend in 2018-19 to 20% in the current year. The increased staff costs this year were expected, with the 

reasons including:

•	 the impact of incurring a full year cost for new positions which were recruited part way through 2018-19

•	 adjustments to the FCO pay bands (which WFD follows) to ensure they aligned with other government departments, resulted 

in a net average pay increase for eligible staff in the UK of 4.9%

•	 increased employer contributions to the Civil Service Pension scheme from 1 April 2019

Current staffing levels in most UK teams are considered appropriate and any changes in 2020-21 will be linked to changes 

in funding levels. An increase in the technical advisor unit is planned in 2020-21 to strengthen WFD’s work on Inclusion and 

Environmental Democracy.  
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Other operating costs and investment 

Other operating costs increased by £0.2 million to total £0.9 million. Total operating costs represent 6% of total expenditure. 

During the year, WFD continued its investment in new systems and processes, under the ‘Building for the Future’ programme. 

This included implementing various online systems in finance, HR and an Evidence and Impact Hub.  

Financial position and liquidity

Although Covid-19 was beginning to have a practical impact on global offices operating, this did not impact significantly on 

this financial year. There were no events during the year that adversely affected the financial position of WFD. Total net assets 

reduced by £0.53k to total £0.7 million at 31 March 2020. This decrease is largely reflected by the decrease of trade creditors 

and other liabilities compared to the previous financial year.  

WFD’s GIA funding requires the related cash balances be minimised, with funding used in the year in which it is received. WFD 

applies for GIA bi-monthly, based on latest cash flow forecasts. From next financial year, it has been agreed with FCO that 

cash drawn downs will take place on a quarterly basis. 

Other funding arrangements are agreed on a donor-by-donor, grant-by-grant basis with most large grants providing funding 

in advance.

During the year, WFD cash and cash equivalents decreased by £1 million to total £1.2 million at 31 March 2020 (2019: £2.2 

million). Please see the Statement of Cash Flows in the Financial Statements for further analysis.

Looking forward, the WFD budget for the next financial year has incorporated the expected likely impacts of the COVID-19 

pandemic.  Whereby, programmes have been re-calibrated and redesigned, where relevant, to take account of the changing 

environment that WFD is expected to operate in. This, together with the assurance that FCO has provided ongoing concern 

for the period beyond financial year 2020-21 provides assurance to WFD during this period of general uncertainty.

Regularity of expenditure

In spending public money, WFD operates in accordance with the principles of HM Treasury’s Managing Public Money (MPM).

Creditors

WFD adheres to the Government-wide standard on bill paying, which is to settle all valid bills within 30 days. Whenever possi-

ble, WFD will settle valid bills within supplier payment terms, if earlier. In 2019-20, the average time taken to pay invoices was 

12.8 calendar days (2018-19: 12.5 calendar days). 96% of undisputed invoices were paid within the agreed credit terms. The 

proportion of the aggregate amount owed to trade creditors at the year-end compared with the aggregate amount invoiced 

by suppliers during the year was equivalent to 35.9 days (2019: 36.8 days).

On behalf of the board

Anthony Smith

Chief Executive and Accounting Officer

7 September 2020
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Governors’ report
The purpose of the corporate governance report is to explain the composition and organisation of the entity’s governance 

structures and how they support the achievement of the entity’s objectives.

Board of Governors

Governors who served on the Board during the year ending 31 March 2020 and who were Directors under the Companies 

Act 2006 were:

Board member
Appointment 
in the year

Resignation 
in the year

Appointment      
ends

Rushanara Ali MP (Vice Chair) 30-Jan-22

Mark Babington 23-Oct-21

Louise Collings (ex-officio) 4-Dec-21

Rt Hon Sir Jeffrey Donaldson MP 28-Feb-20

Patrick Grady MP 24-Mar-21

Richard Graham MP (Chair) 6-Apr-21

Rt Hon Dame Margaret Hodge MP 25-Aug-21

Thomas Hughes 24-Oct-20

Susan Inglish (Vice Chair) 25-Oct-20

Christine Jardine MP 28-Feb-20 28-Feb-23

Andrew Rosindell MP 17-Aug-19

Anthony Smith (ex-officio) 24-Jun-21

Simon Walker 25-Aug-21

The office of Company Secretary continued to be held by Christopher Lane, who was appointed on 29 November 2018.

In October 2019, WFD appointed a new Finance Director, Joyti Mackintosh, who also attended relevant meetings of the Board 

and Audit & Risk Assurance Committee. This change has not been formally filed yet. 
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All Board members and senior managers are required to declare any interests they may have to enable possible conflicts to 

be managed. (No Board member holds company directorships or has other significant interests which may conflict with their 

responsibilities. No Board member has undertaken any material transactions with related parties). The Register of Interests 

is available to the public on WFD’s website or at WFD’s registered office with 24 hours’ notice.

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

During the year ending 31 March 2020, membership of WFD’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee comprised:

Mark Babington Chair

Rt Hon Dame Margaret Hodge MP

Simon Walker

Thomas Hughes Resigned, September 2019

Personal data

In 2019-20, there was one potential personal data related incident, which was reported to the Information Commissioner’s 

Office on 23 September 2019. No regulatory action was taken. 

Statement of Governors’ and Accounting Officer’s responsibilities

In accordance with Company Law and with the Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Governors (who are also the 

directors of WFD for the purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing an annual report and financial statements 

in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Accounts Direction given by the Secretary of State for Foreign and 

Commonwealth Affairs and relevant International Financial Reporting Standards.

Within the terms and conditions of a Management Statement agreed between the Foreign and Commonwealth Office and the 

Governors of WFD in 2013, the Governors, through the Chief Executive, are required to prepare financial statements for each 

financial year on an accruals basis which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of WFD and of the incoming resources 

and application of resources, changes in taxpayers’ equity, and cash flows for the financial year. The same requirement is 

included in the new Framework Agreement signed on behalf of the Foreign and Commonwealth Office and WFD in May 2019, 

which replaces the previous Management Statement. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Governors and the Accounting Officer are required to comply with the requirements 

of the Companies Act and then, secondly, the Government Financial Reporting Manual and to:

A.	 observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, including relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

B.	 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

C.	 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual have been 

followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and

D.	 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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The Governors and the Accounting Officer are responsible for ensuring:

•	 proper accounting records are kept that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of WFD and 

to enable them to ensure the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and the Accounts Direction given 

by the Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs and relevant International Financial Reporting Standards;

•	 the assets of WFD are safeguarded and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities;

•	 sound financial systems and management controls are in place to safeguard public funds;

•	 funds from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office are used only for the purposes for which they have been given and in 

accordance with the Management Statement;

•	 funds from the Department for International Development are used only for the purposes for which they have been given 

and in accordance with the relevant Accountable Grant; and

•	 funds from all other grants are used only for the purposes for which they have been given.

The Governors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on WFD’s website. 

Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements may differ from legislation in 

other jurisdictions.

Accounting Officer

Sections 5.1, 5.2, and 5.3 of the Management Statement define the Permanent Under-Secretary for Foreign and Commonwealth 

Affairs as Principal Accounting Officer. The Principal Accounting Officer has appointed the Chief Executive as Accounting 

Officer of WFD. 

The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances 

for which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for safeguarding WFD’s assets, are set out in 

Managing Public Money published by HM Treasury.

The Accounting Officer is required to confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understand-

able and that he takes personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for determining 

that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

Statement of disclosure to our auditors

In so far as the Governors and the Accounting Officer are aware at the time of approving our Governors’ annual report:

•	 there is no relevant information, being information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing their report, of 

which WFD’s auditor is unaware

•	 the Governors and the Accounting Officer, having made enquiries of fellow directors and WFD’s auditor that they ought to 

have individually taken, have each taken all steps that they are obliged to take as a directors in order to make themselves 

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

The Comptroller & Auditor General is the statutory auditor for the accounts of WFD. 

Approved and signed on behalf of the Board on 7 September 2020.

Mark Babington		  Anthony Smith

Governor		  Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
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Governance statement
Scope of responsibility

As Accounting Officer of WFD, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 

achievements of WFD’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 

responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I am therefore responsible for 

ensuring that WFD is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively to 

deliver our agreed goals.

In addition, I am accountable to the Principal Accounting Officer of the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) to enable 

him to discharge his overall responsibility for ensuring that WFD as an FCO executive non-departmental public body has ad-

equate financial systems and procedures in place. WFD’s multi-year Strategic Framework, annual Corporate Plan, objectives 

and associated risks are discussed regularly in my meetings with the FCO. In September, the FCO and DFID merged to form 

a new department called the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO).

During this reporting period, WFD commenced an ambitious and wide-ranging ‘Building for the Future’ change programme 

to expand and upgrade WFD’s organisational systems and processes. This investment is intended to save staff hours, provide 

improved assurance to donors and give staff better tools to deliver quality programmes. More information on this change 

programme is set out below.   

The Governance framework

The relationship between WFD and the FCO is specified in the Management Statement and its associated Financial Memo-

randum. These framework documents also include specific guidance documents that WFD must comply with. The Tailored 

Review, which reported in early 2019, recommended that the Management Statement be updated. WFD and the FCO started 

this process in April 2019. As a result of these discussions, a new Framework Agreement has been agreed to replace the 2013 

Management Statement. This document was approved by WFD’s Board and the FCO in February 2020 and signed in May 2020. 

This new document provides an updated framework for the governance relationship between WFD and the FCO founded on 

clear expectations, structured oversight accountability processes and improved collaboration.  

The Tailored Review and the associated implementation plan agreed with the FCO also made several other recommendations 

aiming to further improve WFD’s governance arrangements. These actions were implemented during the period and included 

the appointment of a second, independent Vice Chair (Sue Inglish); adoption of a new Governance Handbook, which sets out 

formal procedures relating to Board and Committee business; and a renewed approach to a structured induction for new 

Governors and Committee members. During the period, WFD’s Governors also participated in an externally facilitated Board 

effectiveness review and started a process to identify additional expertise for co-option to its three Committees. 

The effectiveness review presented a useful opportunity to reflect on strengths and weaknesses of WFD’s current governance 

arrangements. Several of the actions emerging from the exercise were captured in the new Governance Handbook, including a 

revised scheme of delegation of authorities; other actions included implementing new arrangements for reviewing the perfor-

mance of the CEO, clarifying the mandates of the three Board committees, and guiding the process for strategic review. WFD 

continues to be guided by the principles set out in HM Treasury’s Audit Committee Handbook and complies, where applicable, 

with the ‘Corporate governance in central government departments: code of good practice 2017’, published by HM Treasury 

and the Cabinet Office. This code is intended for the boards of government departments. The composition and role of a gov-

ernment department’s board, which includes ministers, senior civil servants and non-executives, differs from that of a board 

of an arms-length body, such as WFD, comprising unremunerated Governors serving with two ex-officio executive members. 

However, WFD complies with a wide range of principles of the central government code, except that, rather than arranging 

a formal and rigorous annual board performance evaluation, as noted in 2019-20, it arranged an externally facilitated board 

effectiveness review and will repeat this exercise every two years. The code’s other principles are less directly applicable as 

WFD is not a ministerial department; it is established as a mid-sized company limited by guarantee, which means the company 

and its directors act in accordance with the requirements of company law. The principles in section 6 are relevant to arms-

length bodies such as WFD, but they are principally a matter for the Foreign and Commonwealth Office.
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Accountability within WFD is overseen and exercised through the Board and its three committees, each chaired by a gover-

nor. The Board met three times formally during the year; with one scheduled Board meeting cancelled due to the timing of 

the General Election. The average attendance by Board members during the period was 61%. At each meeting, the Board 

received and agreed reports that demonstrated satisfactory approaches to managing risk and monitoring governance, oper-

ations, programmes, and resourcing matters. Throughout the year, they tracked delivery of organisational objectives, in line 

with the Strategic Framework, and received regular progress reports on the implementation of the Annual Plan and budget. 

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee supports the Board to discharge its fiduciary, risk control, and governance responsi-

bilities by monitoring and providing advice to me in the exercise of my duties, and by promoting a climate of financial discipline 

and control within the organisation. The Committee performs the key role of reviewing and monitoring the systems of internal 

control and receives regular reports on the work and findings of the internal auditors, Crowe LLP, and the external auditors, 

National Audit Office (NAO) assisted by BDO. It provides assurance on the full range of WFD systems and processes and 

reviews any notifiable incidents in relation to our key corporate policies. For this year, the Internal Audit was able to provide 

an overall opinion of reasonable assurance in respect of governance, risk management, and internal controls. Minutes are 

prepared following each meeting and a report provided to the Board, together with an annual report from the internal auditors.

The Committee is chaired by Mark Babington and includes members with a range of audit and risk management experience. 

As at the date of this report, the Committee is reviewing potential candidates for co-option who would offer a range of addi-

tional expertise and experience. 

During the year, the Committee met five times. Its principal activities over the year included:

•	 Reviewing Management’s work to develop a new Framework Agreement with the FCO and new Partnership Agreements 

with the political party offices; 

•	 Scrutinising the implementation of WFD’s Building for the Future change programme; 

•	 Reviewing management information on organisational performance and the Corporate Risk Register; 

•	 Reviewing and endorsing a new Counter Fraud Strategy; 

•	 Overseeing an internal audit programme to examine key risks and business practices, including safeguarding, WFD’s 

overseas operating model, Nigeria Country Office operations, cybersecurity, business continuity planning, and two audits 

relating to the provision of assurance on the implementation of the new finance system;

•	 Reviewing the work of the external audit to confirm the independence of the auditor and the effectiveness of the work 

done; and 

•	 Monitoring audit recommendations and ensuring follow-up. 

The Programme Quality Committee

The Programme Quality Committee maintains an overview of all WFD programmes to assess the overall quality of WFD’s 

work and helps shape and monitor initiatives to strengthen its impact. The Committee is chaired by Thomas Hughes (as of 

September 2019).

During the year, the Committee met three times. The Committee:

•	 considered the regular outputs of WFD’s Programme Performance Review process, scrutinising progress in delivering 

outputs and outcomes across the programme portfolio and relevant mitigation plans; 

•	 discussed challenges and opportunities for specific programmes;

•	 scrutinised WFD’s renewed approach to measuring and demonstrating the impact of democracy support programmes, 

including the new Evidence and Impact Hub and the research agenda; and

•	 reviewed WFD’s approach to thematic work, including post-legislative scrutiny and anti-corruption. 
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The People Committee

The People Committee assists the Board to discharge its responsibilities relating to the terms and conditions of employment 

of WFD staff. The Committee reviews WFD policies relating to terms and conditions of service (which are linked to those of 

the FCO), health and safety and security. The Committee has historically met once per year but is now committed to meeting 

twice per year in the future. The Committee is kept regularly informed on matters relating to staff, including relevant issues 

identified by the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. The Committee is chaired by Patrick Grady MP.

At its meeting during the period, the Committee: 

•	 considered matters relating to staff engagement and communications between Management and staff;

•	 reviewed WFD’s approach to implementing its Code of Conduct and Safeguarding Policy; and

•	 discussed terms and conditions and the gender pay gap. 

The committee structures reporting through to the Board have been clearly defined and the terms of reference, membership, 

and reporting arrangements are reviewed annually as part of the Governance Handbook. The Governance Handbook also 

covers the role of the Executive Management Committee (EMC), chaired by the CEO and consisting of WFD’s leadership and 

senior managers. The EMC meets monthly, to steer the management of WFD and its future development.

Board and subcommittee attendance (1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 inclusive)

Attendance presented as: Actual attendance/Possible attendance

Board Member Board Audit & Risk 
Committee

Programme Quality 
Committee

People    
Committee

Rushanara Ali MP 1/3 0/3

Mark Babington 3/3 5/5 1/1

Louise Collings (ex-officio)* 1/3 3/3

Rt Hon Sir Jeffrey Donaldson MP 0/3 2/3

Patrick Grady MP 2/3 1/1

Richard Graham MP 3/3

Rt Hon Dame Margaret Hodge MP 1/3 2/5

Thomas Hughes 2/3 2/2 2/2

Susan Inglish 2/3 1/1

Christine Jardine MP N/A N/A

Andrew Rosindell MP 1/1

Anthony Smith (ex-officio) 3/3 5/5 3/3 1/1

Simon Walker 1/3 3/4

*Joyti Mackintosh, Finance Director was appointed in October 2019, and as result attended relevant Board and Committee 

meetings, replacing Louise Collings as the executive Finance lead.  This has not been formally filed yet, hence it is not reflected 

in the table above. 
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Key Risks

During the year, the Board and Audit and Risk Assurance Committee regularly reviewed WFD’s key strategic risks in the form 

of a Corporate Risk Register. The Corporate Register comprised the same eight risks throughout the period, although risk 

ratings and mitigation activities varied throughout. During the period, WFD’s Management also monitored four operational 

risk sub-registers covering Governance, Operations, Resourcing, and Programmes, and a bespoke risk register for each 

WFD-funded programme. 

From February 2020 onwards, WFD started to proactively consider and address the consequential impacts of the outbreak 

of coronavirus (COVID-19) on the key strategic risks presented in the Corporate Risk Register. In response to the emerging 

pandemic, in early March 2020, WFD reorganised its work around four priorities: protect staff and partners, adjust ways of 

working, assess and pivot to meet new short-term and long-term scenarios, and engage our donors and stakeholders. WFD 

also developed a Pandemic Response Plan (the ‘Response Plan’), as an appendix to its existing Business Continuity Plan. In 

addition, local business continuity plans for all country offices and a key person contingency plan were rapidly commissioned. 

The Response Plan set out a framework for decision making in relation to the status of each of its offices around the world, 

face-to-face engagement and activities or events, and business travel. The Response Plan included a clear process and principles 

for each predicted phase of the pandemic, following public health advice as appropriate. Internal Safe Offices, Meetings, and 

Events guidelines were adopted and followed to ensure the safety of ongoing operations for as long as conditions allowed our 

offices to remain open and face-to-face interaction to continue. However, in accordance with the Response Plan, by the end 

of March 2020, most of WFD’s offices around the world had been temporarily closed and all face-to-face activities cancelled. 

As at the date of this report, WFD continues to implement its Response Plan. WFD anticipates that the COVID-19 pandemic 

will present significant challenges, together with some opportunities, in the next period, 2020-21.   
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Strategic risk Key risk management

Governance

Lack of effective leadership and 

oversight by the Board and its 

committees governing strategic 

direction, internal leadership, or 

risks assessment and management, 

could undermine FCO and donor 

confidence and expose the 

organisation and its Governors to 

reputational harm

•	 Five-year Strategic Framework adopted by Board. 

•	 Annual Corporate Plan adopted, with regular reporting against key 

deliverables and KPIs. 

•	 Board Effectiveness Review completed in 2019. 

•	 Tailored Review Implementation Plan agreed with FCO and largely 

delivered. 

•	 New and improved Framework Agreement agreed with FCO. 

•	 Governance Handbook adopted providing improved clarity on 

governance roles and responsibilities.

•	 Committee responsibilities clarified and agreed for cross-cutting 

issues, search for additional co-opted Committee members under way. 

•	 Dedicated Board briefings organised on COVID-19.

WFD’s reputation is materially 

damaged by failure to expect the 

unexpected, or to monitor the 

environment for unforeseen events

•	 Adopted a communication strategy that aids informed awareness of 

WFD’s activities within stakeholders and focuses on outcomes and key 

programme deliverables in its messaging, in event of adverse publicity 

either directly or across our sector. 

•	 Maintained relations with network of media contacts to ensure quick 

notification of adverse issues and develop interim holding responses. 

•	 Pandemic plan developed to address coronavirus related issues and 

business continuity planning under way, approach linked to HMG/FCO 

advice.

Operations
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Operations

Loss or misuse of funds under WFD 

management could expose WFD to 

reputational harm, legal/regulatory 

action, and/or a deterioration in its 

reserves 

•	 Staff intranet includes a one-stop shop of accessible policies, toolkits, 

due diligence assessments, templates, and incident management 

procedures. 

•	 Basic orientation provided to all staff on key policies during induction 

and in-depth training provided to all staff on key compliance issues, 

including financial risks, procurement, and safeguarding. 

•	 Standard financial controls implemented and checked via annual con-

trols self-assessment exercise and targeted internal audit. 

•	 Vetting and checks carried out on all new staff, consultants/experts, 

suppliers, and partners.

•	 Standard contracts include a partner/consultant pack including sum-

maries of key WFD policies and recommended online training.  

•	 Cash handling risks mitigated through use of online banking and pre-

paid charge cards. 

•	 Code of Conduct introduced for all staff, experts, partners, and event 

participants, plus Reporting Concerns Policy. 

•	 New Counter Fraud Standards introduced by HMG for ALBs reflected in 

new WFD Counter Fraud Strategy. 

•	 Special guidance on terrorism risks introduced as and when required. 

•	 New finance system, Business Central, provides more robust document 

storage and approvals.

WFD’s reputation amongst 

stakeholders suffers material 

damage owing to poor control over 

the behaviour and standards of the 

organisation, including in relation to 

safeguarding staff and beneficiaries, 

and compliance with applicable laws

•	 Rigorous selection processes enforced for new staff and consultants/

experts.

•	 Compliance Working Group established, informed by organisation-wide 

Compliance Tracker, Annual Declarations, and Annual Self-Assess-

ments. 

•	 Safeguarding Working Group established, chaired by the Chief Ex-

ecutive, to lead efforts to establish a safe environment based on a 

Prevent-Report-Respond-Learn approach. 

•	 New Code of Conduct and Reporting Concerns Policy adopted and 

introduced. 

•	 New partnership agreements with PPOs include Code of Conduct and 

similar standards.

•	 New contract templates ensure partners/experts are bound to comply 

with WFD Code of Conduct and Reporting Concerns Policy. 

•	 PPOs provide additional assurance from Party HQ for any experts. 

•	 Senior WFD staff received specialist training on prevention of and 

response to safeguarding incidents.

•	 All staff invited to Safeguarding Essentials training delivered via webi-

nars.

•	 Internal audit on safeguarding policy positively benchmarked against 

DFID/sector standards.  

Resourcing
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Inadequate systems and processes 

reduce productivity and efficiency, 

which can lead to reduced staff 

morale, poor value for money, and 

increased exposure to business 

disruptions, thereby reducing our 

impact

•	 All core processes mapped and streamlined.

•	 ‘Building for the Future’ change programme underway, each based on 

a change case and benefits realisation plan, including a new: 

•	 Evidence and Impact Hub delivered to expand collection of pro-

gramme data for MEL purposes. 

•	 HR (People HR) and Finance (Business Central) systems successfully 

implemented. 

•	 Internal collaboration and communication tool (MS Teams) introduced.

•	 Policy and Practice Hub and Programme Management Hub introduced 

to collate guidance, tools, resources, examples of best practice, and 

learning opportunities to support all staff to design and deliver pro-

grammes and operate in line with corporate policies. 

•	 In FY 2020-21, the change programme will deliver IT security upgrades, 

a new travel management platform, and an improved programme man-

agement system. 

•	 New central vetting solution to assist due diligence. 

Threats to the general health, 

safety, security, and wellbeing 

of WFD staff, contractors, or 

participants could lead to individuals 

suffering mental or physical harm, 

damage to WFD’s reputation, 

legal action, and breach of donor 

agreements

•	 Safety and Security Policy and Guidance adopted. 

•	 Threat Assessment exercise carried out for all countries of interest to 

WFD, reviewed bi-monthly by Security Working Group. 

•	 Security Approach mandates a risk-based approach to (a) Country 

Office Local Security Plans, and (b) traveller safety. 

•	 All Country Offices have an updated Local Security Plan and/or Wel-

come Pack. 

•	 IT security upgrade under way and Signal introduced for secure com-

munications. 

•	 Travel insurance in place and health insurance for staff in countries 

with poor quality local provision. 

•	 Schillings security database and daily updates in place. 

•	 Pre-departure briefings given for all high-risk travel. 

•	 Recommended e-learning course adopted as basic training offer for 

staff and consultants, with hostile environment training commissioned 

as required.

•	 Pandemic Response Plan developed to address increased health and 

safety risks associated with COVID-19, resulting in all international 

travel prohibited and all offices temporarily closed as at 31 March 

2020.
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Programmes

WFD fails to deliver programmes of 

sufficient quality and relevance, or 

inadequately monitors, measures, 

and evidences impact

•	 External effort towards political engagement, stakeholder 

management, schedule of thematic events, strong research 

partnerships with respected institutions, strengthened 

communications strategy. 

•	 Programmes utilise political economy analysis to drive programme 

design and delivery, underpinned by rigorous outcome mapping and 

monitoring of progress markers, together with case studies.

•	 Monthly reporting on the Corporate Plan (Key Deliverables, KPIs) to 

EMC and quarterly to Board.

•	 Programme Performance Review process ensures quarterly review 

of all programmes, with Programme Improvement Plans introduced 

where necessary and monitored by EMC. 

•	 Programme Quality Committee provides further scrutiny of 

programme implementation/discussion of underperforming 

programmes, and if necessary reports upwards to Board meetings. 

•	 Evidence and Impact Hub to facilitate collection and analysis of data 

and Programme Management Hub introduced as a support resource 

for programme staff, with learning pathways, tools, templates, and a 

requirement to complete the PMD Pro course. 

•	 New programme quality benchmarks introduced, embedded in a new 

programme benchmarking review process. 

•	 All ongoing programme plans and activity-based budgets under review 

for FY 2020-21 to take account of the opportunities and challenges 

presented by COVID-19, including a pivot to more online engagement 

and digital delivery.

Resourcing

Inability to maintain adequate 

funding over the short, medium 

or long term (3-5 years), could 

result in liquidity - or sustainability 

challenges - undermining our ability 

to achieve impact

•	 Maintaining funders’ confidence through political engagement, 

structured response to reviews, and engagement in the field. 

•	 Business Development Team sustains business development efforts, 

including more rigorous horizon scanning and advice, offering wider 

scope of specialisms, and targeting funders more accurately, looking 

to attract new funding in countries where WFD has established a 

reputation for its work, and longer-term programmes. 

•	 Business development training delivered to key staff and new 

opportunities policy and toolkit under development.

•	 Successful accession to key HMG Framework Agreements (for example, 

CSSF, IMDP). 

•	 Pipeline review of projected income and expenditure commissioned for 

FY 2020-21 considering COVID-19.
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Risk management
WFD recognises that its Governors and employees have a duty to identify, assess, and manage the risks faced by the organ-

isation in its strategic decision-making and day-to-day operations. These risks are managed by WFD having  a robust and 

documented risk management process in place. The purpose of risk management are to preserve and protect WFD’s assets, 

reputation, and staff; strengthen corporate governance by integrating risk management with operational systems, internal 

controls and improve business performance. Integral to WFD’s approach is the identification of opportunities, not just chal-

lenges, and the risks of not trying things which could help us to achieve our ambitions.  WFD believes that risk management 

is about taking conscious positive risks, as well as mitigating negative risk. This relies on creating a culture of risk awareness 

and transparency within the organisation, facilitating regular, open, and honest discussions across WFD about risk.  It is also 

about proactive engagement of all leaders and senior managers in risk oversight and management.  

Overall responsibility for the management of risk lies with me as the Accounting Officer and I am assisted in this task by the 

Director of Operations. The WFD Board has responsibility to ensure that robust systems of internal control and management 

are in place. To this end, WFD will:

•	 identify, assess, manage, and review the nature and extent of the risks facing WFD; 

•	 agree the extent and categories of risk which it regards as acceptable for WFD to bear;

•	 analyse the likelihood and impact(s) of the risks concerned materialising;

•	 regularly document the organisation’s ability to reduce the incidence of risks, and the impact on WFD of risks that do 

materialise; 

•	 review the costs of operating controls relative to the benefit thereby obtained in managing the related risks; and 

•	 always endeavour to adhere to relevant donor policies and requirements, legislation, and applicable regulations. 

A framework for risk control is provided by the Risk Management Policy and Risk Management Procedures. One element of 

this is the Corporate Risk Register that is reviewed by the Executive Management Committee (EMC) and Board at each of its 

meetings. The Corporate Risk Register reports the current strategy for managing each strategic risk, the relative strength 

of that risk control, and the net risk outcome - whether low, moderate, high, or severe. This is a standing item on the monthly 

EMC agenda. The four sub-registers, covering Governance, Operations, Programmes and Resourcing, are reviewed period-

ically by risk owners.

The Board’s responsibility is supported through the sub-committees of the Board, with appropriate membership or input 

from members of the EMC. Risk is considered on the agenda at all meetings of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 

(ARC). The ARC members review the action plans presented for each risk and the progress made towards reducing risk to 

the tolerance level set on an individual risk basis. 



144 | WFD

WFD also regularly reports to the FCO in relation to risk, its Strategic Framework for 2017-22, and its Annual Corporate Plan 

and Budget; and to its donors on programme-related risks as required.

The EMC ensures a consistent focus on operational risk management. This includes:

•	 Developing an Annual Corporate Plan, with key deliverables and key performance indicators linked to an aligned budget 

approved by the Board.												          

•	 Reviewing monthly Corporate Management Reports, including dashboards to report progress on the Corporate Plan. This 

is provided together with management accounts providing analysis on programme and project expenditure and income 

with variance analysis. This ensures that we deliver our corporate and programme activities on time and within a balanced 

budget. These reports are reviewed by the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and approved by the Board.		

	

•	 Scrutinising a quarterly, comprehensive Programme Performance Review (PPR) process ensuring all programmes across 

the WFD portfolio are subject to detailed scrutiny, risk-assessed, and actively performance managed.			 

•	 Enforcing a requirement for all new programme proposals to include a risk assessment and, following approval, for pro-

gramme risk registers to be reviewed on a quarterly basis as part of the PPR. Following a pilot, moving forward, all pro-

gramme risk registers will address several standard risks and adopt a more rigorous three lines of defence approach to 

mitigation, encompassing front-line controls, internal verification mechanisms, and external assurance.			 

•	 Ensuring all staff are trained in the identification and management of risk appropriate to their authority and duties.		

•	 Establishing EMC Working Groups, from time to time, to ensure a coordinated, multi-disciplinary approach to tackling key 

risk areas, such as safeguarding, local compliance, and security. 

The EMC has also directly overseen critical cross-organisational initiatives that have contributed and will continue to contribute.  

This is to improve the infrastructure in which risks can be well-managed. As noted above, WFD expects the new or upgraded 

systems and processes introduced as a result of the Building for the Future change programme to result in significant effi-

ciencies and improved operational effectiveness. WFD is tracking these benefits to demonstrate the value of this investment 

over time. In parallel, WFD has implemented a Stronger Culture initiative, which comprised the development of a bespoke 

Skills and Competencies Framework, a Learning and Development Strategy, and the launch of our new corporate values: 

Excellence, Missions-oriented, People-focused, and Integrity and Accountability, supported by a Values Charter. 

In the next period, WFD will complete the Building for the Future change programme. Our focus will then shift to increasing 

internal operational performance, as measured against a new set of Head Office Standards and the Country Office Minimum 

Operating Standards and improving staff performance. This is through expanded opportunities for learning and development, 

targeted leadership coaching and a cross-organisational management development programme.  
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Review of effectiveness 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing and reporting the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and senior 

managers within WFD who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework, and 

by comments made by the external auditors in their annual management letter and other reports. 

Internal audit

WFD has an internal audit function provided by an independent firm of auditors, which operates to standards defined in the 

Government Internal Audit Standards. This service is currently provided by Crowe LLP. 

The work of internal audit is informed by an analysis of the risks to which WFD is exposed. An internal audit plan is proposed 

on an annual basis. I am responsible for approval of the analysis of risk and internal audit plans. The Audit and Risk Assur-

ance Committee reviews these plans and they are endorsed by WFD’s Board of Governors. The rolling programme of internal 

audit provides me with regular reports on effectiveness of controls in WFD. Reports are also provided to the WFD’s Board of 

Governors, to the Human Rights and Democracy Department of the FCO and to the Head of the Internal Audit Department 

of the FCO.

In each internal audit report, a level of assurance is normally provided for the overall system subject to review, and prioritisation 

of individual findings according to their relative significance depending on their impact to the risk environment. Assurance 

provided in the reports is classified as: Full Assurance, Substantial Assurance, Partial Assurance, and No Assurance. Each 

report contains detailed findings categorised as having high, medium, or low priority.

During this year, internal audit efforts focused on providing assurance on the implementation of the new finance system, 

safeguarding policies and practice, WFD’s operating model, the operations of our Nigeria Country Office, cybersecurity, and 

business continuity planning.  

I am pleased to report that for the current year the Internal Auditors were able to provide an overall opinion of reasonable 

assurance in respect of governance, risk management, and internal controls during the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. 

Overall, Crowe LLP considered that there is a generally sound system of internal control, risk management, and governance 

designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and controls are being applied consistently. The Internal Auditors highlighted 

WFD’s change management programme, Building for the Future, which they consider has contributed to the improvements 

in internal control. Crowe LLP also noted that the internal audit plan for 2019-20 was designed to add most value for man-

agement by directing internal audit work to areas of known weakness. As such, Crowe LLP advised that some weaknesses 

in the design or inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of particular objectives at risk. In response to the 

various internal audit reports, Management committed to implementing a range of actions to address the Internal Auditors’ 

recommendations, some of which were implemented during the period, some of which will be implemented in the next period. 

I am satisfied that an effective system of internal control has been in place at WFD throughout the year ended 31 March 2020 

and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts and accords with Treasury guidance. 

Anthony Smith

Chief Executive and Accounting Officer

7 September 2020
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Accountability Report 

Remuneration and staff report

This report provides details of the remuneration, service contracts, and pensions for WFD’s senior civil servants (‘SCS’) and 

Governors.

WFD entered into a Service Agreement with Anthony Smith, Chief Executive, on 18 August 2014 and this remained in effect 

throughout the year to 31 March 2020. 

In the current year, the Chief Executive and the Director of Programmes SCS’ remuneration was reviewed.  In the prior year, 

this also included the remuneration of the Finance Director. It is reviewed annually and is determined by reference to the 

recommendations of the Senior Salaries Review Body. It is based on the annual performance appraisal conducted by the 

Chair of the Board. Performance objectives are set for the succeeding year and these are reviewed on an iterative basis 

through the year, to assess performance. A performance related bonus can be paid dependent on performance in line with 

Civil Service guidelines. 

In the year to 31 March 2020, WFD’s SCS were awarded a 1% consolidated increase. This is in line with the approved SCS pay 

award across the wider UK Government. The Chief Executive and Director of Programmes also received non-consolidated 

performance related payments of £1,800 and £2,350 respectively in 2019-20, based on their performance in the prior year, 

2018-19. 

Governor and SCS remuneration and pensions

The following table has been subject to audit. During the year, the single total figure of remuneration made to senior man-

agers was as follows:

Salary                 
£000

Bonus payments        
£000

Pension benefits1 
(to nearest £000)

Total       
£000

2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19

Anthony Smith 100-105 100-105 0-5 - 6 - 105-110 100-105

Devin     
O’Shaughnessy

80-85 75-80 0-5 0-5 31 31 110-115 110-115

Paul Naismith - 35-40 - - - 15 - 50-55

Louise Collings 65-70 20-25 0-5 0-5 25 3 90-95 20-25

Paul Naismith resigned as an employee of WFD on 30 September 2018. If he had continued, his full-time equivalent salary 

for the complete reporting period would have been in the range £75,000-£80,000. 

There were no benefits-in-kind paid to staff in the year (2019-20: £nil).

Governors did not receive any remuneration or benefits-in-kind in respect of their roles during the period 2019-20.  

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid employee in their 

organisation at the reporting period end date, and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. 

1	 The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension multiplied by 20) plus (the real increase in any lump sum) 
	 less (the contributions made by the individual). The real increases exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or decreases due to a transfer of pension rights.



 147 | Annual Report

The following table has been subject to audit. 

2019-20 2018-19

Mid-point of band of highest 
paid employee’s total 
remuneration £0002

102.5 102.5

Median total remuneration £ 42,988 39,999

Ratio 2.38 2.6

In 2019-20 no employees (2018-19: nil) received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director. Remuneration ranged 

from £25,000 to £101,209 (2018-19: £25,000 to £100,207).

Total remuneration includes salary and non-consolidated performance-related pay but excludes severance payments. It does 

not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Compensation for loss of office (audited) 

During the year, no compensation was paid to staff members for loss of office (2018-19: nil).

Pension benefits at 31 March 2020

The following table is subject to audit.

Accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
as at 31 March 

2020 and 
related lump 

sum

Real change 
in pension and 
related lump 

sum at pension 
age 

CETV at 31 
March 2020

CETV at 31 
March 2019 

Real change 
in CETV 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Anthony Smith
40–45 plus a 
lump sum of    

125–130

0–2.5 plus a 
lump sum of 

0–2.5
982 974 6

Devin 
O’Shaughnessy

5-10 0–2.5 80 57 14

Louise Collings 0-5 0-2.5 33 19 8

2	 See ‘Governor and SCS remuneration and pensions’ table above
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CETV is the Cash Equivalent Transfer Value and is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits 

accrued by a member at a point in time. As the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) is a multi-employer fund, the 

CETV values will include accumulated accrued benefits from any previous employers that operate the PCSPS. 

Real change in CETV reflects the increase/(decrease) in CETV that is funded by WFD. It does not include the increase in 

accrued pension due to inflation or the contributions paid by the employee and uses common market valuation factors for 

the start and end of the period. 

Governors

Governors are appointed by the Secretary of State for the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office for a term of three 

years. Appointments can be renewed for a maximum of three consecutive terms (nine years). As noted above, Governors are 

not remunerated and WFD does not pay allowances and benefits in kind to Governors. Details of the dates of appointments 

of new Governors and the dates that appointments end are shown in the Governor’s Report on page 132. 

Staff report 

Staff numbers and composition

The breakdown of each gender as at 31 March 2020 was as follows:

Female Male

Governors 4 5

Senior civil service staff 0 2

UK staff 29.5 15

Rest of world staff 57.9 46

Organisational structure

UK based staff are organised into regional operational teams covering Africa, Europe and Central Asia, Middle East and North 

Africa (MENA), Asia, and Latin America. These teams are led by Regional Directors responsible for strategy, policy, business 

development and high-level engagement with strategic partners and stakeholders. 

Programme management, communications, monitoring and evaluation, finance, HR and operational team support, as well 

as specialist technical advice are provided by WFD’s London office.

As at 31 March 2020, WFD employed 46.5 full-time equivalent staff in the UK (2019: 48.5), of whom 29.5 (2019: 30.5) were 

directly responsible for the design, management and delivery of programmes and for managing local and UK partnerships. 

Overseas arrangements are continually assessed and determined by the scale and complexity of the programming. Most 

follow the model of a Country Representative leading a country team. Where programmes can be managed effectively from 

local hubs or the UK, this alternative model is used. In countries where WFD is represented, WFD engaged local staff either 

on contract of services terms or contract for services terms, as determined by the local circumstances, registration status 

and labour law requirements. As at 31 March 2020, there were 104.4 full-time equivalent appointments overseas (2019: 89).  

For additional information on staff numbers and costs, including the Remuneration and Staff Report, please see:

•	 the finance review on page 130; and

•	 note 4 of the financial statements 
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Performance management and engagement

Each member of staff has their performance appraised annually against agreed objectives and behavioural competencies. 

An integral part of this review is the identification of learning and development needs. Staff can access internal knowledge 

sharing and learning initiatives. They are also encouraged to pursue professional studies and learning opportunities, which 

will support their career development and benefit WFD by improving performance. 

Staff meetings held during 2019-20 afforded the opportunity for consultation.  This was by providing information to employees 

on operational delivery and organisational improvement projects and encouraging views to be expressed. Meetings between 

management and WFD’s (PCS) union representatives also provided opportunity to receive feedback from staff on a range of 

organisational matters. WFD’s internal communications agenda continues to be integral this year. This further contributes 

to stronger engagement with staff on WFD programme achievements and organisational progress.  

Expertise

WFD’s Technical Advisory Unit (TAU) provides in-house expertise on parliaments, governance, gender and inclusion, human 

rights, elections, transparency and environmental democracy. The TAU also enhances programme design, directly delivering 

aspects of WFD programmes and contributing to WFD’s research programme.

In 2019-20 WFD’s Research programme focused on four strands: studying the opportunities and barriers to supporting 

women’s political leadership; documenting the drivers of the rising cost of parliamentary politics; understanding how and 

under what circumstances parliaments can make a positive contribution towards post-conflict peacebuilding; and exploring 

existing narratives on political trust and how parliaments and political parties can foster the kind of social contract necessary 

for legitimate democratic governance. To find out more please see page 43. 

Access to UK political parties’ expertise and trainers, and the ability to draw on specialist expertise in Parliament and the 

devolved UK Assemblies, provide WFD with an extensive network of skills and knowledge as well as a unique selling point. 

Learning and Development

WFD’s new three-year learning and development strategy was launched this year providing a more focused and inclusive 

learning agenda. Phase one of the strategy (October 2019 – September 2020) targeted skills and knowledge development on 

our six core behavioural competency areas, as well as programme management, safeguarding and management development. 

Staff policies 

Organisational values and behavioural policies

WFD has developed and embedded a set of core organisational values, which aim to guide the way in which we work and 

make decisions internally. Also, these make clear what our donors and partners can expect when working with WFD. These 

values are Excellence, People-Focused, Integrity and Accountability and Mission-Oriented. Our values have been embedded 

in a number of key HR policies and procedures, including recruitment and selection and performance management. These 

are being promoted through a new values charter and staff engagement activities. During the period, WFD revised its code 

of conduct and promoted the safeguarding policy. This was via a variety of learning initiatives delivered to staff, focusing on 

prevention and response. This led to developments in a new streamlined reporting concerns policy and complaints process 

(which includes our whistle-blowing policy) and response procedures. Staff are expected to use these procedures if they 

witness or experience any unethical or inappropriate behaviour by colleagues or external stakeholders. 
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Equal opportunities

WFD observes all aspects of the Equality Act 2010 and is committed to be an equal opportunities employer. Our aim is there 

will be no discrimination of any kind against any person on the grounds of age, colour, disability, ethnicity, gender, marital 

status, nationality, race, religion, belief, or lack of religion or belief, sexual orientation, being or becoming a transsexual person, 

or any other personal characteristics. We will make reasonable adjustments for people with disabilities and should a member 

of staff become disabled while working with us, we will do everything possible to ensure they can continue working with us.

Equality of opportunity and remuneration are priorities for WFD. To ensure this, rates of pay by gender are monitored at 

regular intervals. This is undertaken even though WFD is not required to report on gender pay gaps under statutory require-

ments because of our size.

  

As of 31 March 2020, the figures showed that women slightly out-earned men in three out of six delegated pay grades. A 

comparison was not possible at two other grades, because there were either no staff at that level or all staff were of the 

same gender. At an overall level, the gender pay gap on 31 March 2020 was calculated with men out-earning women. This is 

inclusive of all WFD staff at delegated grades and SCS positions. 

Recruitment and selection

WFD also complies with the principles set out in the Civil Service Commissioners’ Recruitment Code. We manage our recruitment 

and selection processes based on openness, fairness and appointment on merit. This ensures there is no unlawful direct or 

indirect discrimination and enables the development of good employment practices. WFD’s application process for externally 

advertised vacancies is designed to ensure that applications from disabled candidates are given full and fair consideration. 

General

WFD’s management and staff policies are maintained, reviewed and updated on a regular basis and made available to all staff. 

They are also subject to internal audit to ensure compliance with legislation and best practice. 

WFD has a grievance procedure to be used by staff if they believe they may have been subject to unfair treatment, including 

perceived cases of discrimination.

WFD has implemented a range of operational actions following the outbreak of COVID-19 and the management of the pan-

demic, to ensure they continued to meet their duty of care requirements for their staff. This included a swift response to office 

closures internationally and compliance with local public health advice, such as social distancing measures and restricted 

travel and shifting to remote working for all staff. 

Sickness absence

WFD recorded 158.5 days of staff sickness absence across UK and overseas offices in 2019-20.  

This equated to 1.1 days of average recorded sickness absence per FTE.

Off payroll engagements

There were no off payroll engagements in the current or prior year. 

Expenditure on temporary staff 

During the year, WFD employed an average of 2.8 UK temporary full-time equivalent staff. The total cost was £129,000.
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Staff Costs
The following table is subject to audit.

 

 

Permanently 
employed 

staff

Others 2020
£ Total

2019
£ Total

Wages and salaries 2,288,933 138,236 2,427,169 2,010,368

Social security costs 242,824 0 242,824 209,321

Pension costs 485,524 0 485,524 335,637

Recruitment and other staff costs 82,033 0 82,033 187,122

Change in untaken holiday entitlement 14,853 0 14,853 30,288

Total net costs 3,114,167 138,236 3,252,403 2,772,736

Direct expenditure on WFD projects includes overseas locally engaged staff: £2.1 million (2019: £1.5 million) and is included 

in note 3.

The Governors did not receive any remuneration for their services. Travel costs of £nil (2019: £nil) were reimbursed in 

the year.

Staff numbers
The following table is subject to audit.

The average number of employees (excluding Governors and vacancies) during the year was: 

  2020 2019

Permanent - UK 47.6 43.3 

Temporary - UK 2.8 1.3 

Rest of World 96.9 69.2 

  147.3 113.8 
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Pension commitments

As a publicly funded body listed in Schedule 1 to the Superannuation Act 1972, WFD is included in Civil Service pension arrange-

ments. The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) and the Civil Servant and Other Pension Scheme (CSOPS) – known 

as ‘alpha’ - are unfunded multi-employer defined benefit schemes. As multi-employer schemes, it is not possible for WFD to 

obtain sufficient information to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities. Therefore, they are accounted for as 

defined contribution schemes. Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the website www.

civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk.

For 2019-20, employers’ contributions of £381,000 were payable to the PCSPS and CSOPS (2019: £255,000) at one of three 

rates in the range 27.1% to 30.3% of pensionable pay, based on salary bands. The Scheme Actuary usually reviews employer 

contributions every four years following a full scheme valuation. The contribution rates are set to meet the cost of the benefits 

accruing during 2019-20 to be paid when the member retires and not the benefits paid during this period to existing pensioners. 

The report on the actuary valuation as at 31 March 2016 was released during 2018-19. As a result, employer contributions increased 

from 1 April 2019. The full valuation report can be found in the ‘scheme valuations’ section of the Civil Service Pensions website.

Employees can opt to open a partnership pension account, a stakeholder pension with an employer contribution. For 2019-20, 

employers’ contributions of £100,000 were payable (2019: £78,000). Employer contributions are age-related and range from 

8.0% to 14.75% of pensionable pay. WFD also matches employee contributions up to 3% of pensionable pay.

During the year, contributions of £4,000 were paid to other personal money purchase pension schemes (2019: £3,000).

Parliamentary Accountability Disclosures
Losses and special payments

There were net realised foreign exchange losses totalling £38,765 in the year (2018-19 loss £21,289). There was one special 

payment of £8,000 made during the year in relation to an employee litigation matter. This was approved by FCO and HM Trea-

sury, in line with HM Treasury guidance.   

Anthony Smith

Chief Executive and Accounting Officer

7 September 2020
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The certificate and report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the members of 
Westminster Foundation for Democracy

Opinion on financial statements 

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Westminster Foundation for Democracy for the year ended 31 March 

2020 under the Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000. The financial statements comprise the Statement of Compre-

hensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity 

and the related notes, including the significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 

their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. I have 

also audited the information in the Accountability Report that is described in that report as having been audited.

In my opinion:

•	 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its net 

expenditure for the year then ended; and 

•	 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the European Union; and

•	 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects the income and expenditure recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the 

purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities 

which govern them.

Basis of opinions

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) (UK) and Practice Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial 

Statements of Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom’. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my certificate. Those standards require me and 

my staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Revised Ethical Standard 2016. I am independent of the Westminster 

Foundation for Democracy in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit and the financial state-

ments in the UK. My staff and I have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe 

that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require me to report to you where:

•	 the Westminster Foundation for Democracy’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or

•	 the Westminster Foundation for Democracy have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncer-

tainties that may cast significant doubt about the Westminster Foundation for Democracy’s ability to continue to adopt the 

going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 
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Responsibilities of the Governors and the Accounting Officer for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Governors’ and Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities Statement, the Governors and Accounting 

Officer are responsible for:

•	 the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

•	 such internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

•	 assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, if applicable, matters relating to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company 

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the Government Resources and 

Accounts Act 2000. 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism through-

out the audit. I also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Westminster Foundation for 

Democracy’s internal control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related dis-

closures made by management.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 

the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of the Westminster Foundation for Democracy’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Westminster Foundation for Democracy’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Westminster Foundation for Democracy to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 
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I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

In addition, I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the income and expenditure reported 

in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform 

to the authorities which govern them.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information included in the Strategic 

Report and Governors’ Report but does not include the parts of the Accountability Report described in that report as having 

been audited, the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover 

the other information and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with my audit of the financial 

statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is ma-

terially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I 

am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion:

•	 the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Government Fi-

nancial Reporting Manual;

•	 in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have 

not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Governors’ Report; and

•	 the information given in the Strategic and Governors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which I report by exception

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have not been received from branches 

not visited by my staff; or

•	 the financial statements and the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting 

records and returns; or

•	 I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or

•	 the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s guidance.

Report 

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Gareth Davies								      

Comptroller and Auditor General

National Audit Office, 157-197 Buckingham Palace Road, Victoria, London, SW1W 9SP

9 September 2020
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Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020

    31 March 2020 31 March 2019

  Notes Total £ Total £

INCOME

European Union 2 772,336 993,195

UK Government funding 2 11,407,928 10,043,908

Other Income 2 754,608 990,180

TOTAL INCOME   12,934,872 12,027,283

DIRECT EXPENDITURE

Direct expenditure on WFD projects 3 (12,097,019) (11,441,171)

    837,853 586,112

OTHER EXPENDITURE

Staff costs 4 (3,252,403) (2,772,736)

Depreciation 6 (20,223) (16,561)

Amortisation of right-of-use assets 10 (244,328) -

Property costs (142,121) (276,993)

Office consumables (176,921) (201,912)

IT and systems (298,104) (181,510)

Professional fees (28,979) (49,895)

Audit fees (20,500) (18,500)

TOTAL OTHER EXPENDITURE   (4,183,579) (3,518,107)

NET OPERATING EXPENDITURE   (3,345,726) (2,931,995)

Interest receivable  481                           - 

Finance expense 10 (7,947)                           - 

NET EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR   (3,353,192) (2,931,995)

Total other comprehensive expenditure                           -                           - 

COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR   (3,353,192) (2,931,995)

The result for the year arises from WFD’s continuing operations.

Income does not include grant-in-aid received in the year £3,300,000 (2019: £3,500,000). In accordance with note 1.10 grant-

in-aid is accounted for through reserves.

Notes to the accounts are on pages 160 -174
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Statement of financial position at 31 March 2020

    31 March 2020 31 March 2019

  Notes Total £ Total £

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant and Equipment 6 23,459 32,740

Right-of-use assets 10 244,328 -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 267,787 32,740

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables and other current assets 7 2,189,180 1,697,668

Cash at bank and in-hand 1,236,046 2,165,471

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   3,425,226 3,863,139

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables and other current liabilities 8 (2,704,060) (3,100,493)

Provisions 11 (32,401) (32,401)

Lease Liability 10 (246,759) - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   (2,983,220) (3,132,894)

TOTAL NET ASSETS   709,793 762,985

TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY

General fund 13 709,793 762,985

Total equity   709,793 762,985

Notes to the accounts are on pages 160-174.

These accounts are exempt from the requirements of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 by virtue of section 482 (non-prof-

it-making companies subject to public sector audit) of that Act.

The accounts were approved by the Board on 7 September 2020. 

Mark Babington			   Anthony Smith

Chair Audit and Risk Assurance Committee	 Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2020

   
31 March 

2020
31 March  

2019

Notes Total £ Total £

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net operating expenditure for the year (3,345,726) (2,931,995)

Adjustment for depreciation 6 20,223 16,561

Adjustment for amortisation of leases 244,328 - 

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables and other current assets 7 (491,512) (1,054,899)

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables and other current liabilities 8 (396,433) 1,378,426

Net cash outflow from operating activities   (3,969,120) (2,591,907)

CASHFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of non financial assets 6 (10,942) (27,064)

Interest received 481 -

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (10,461) (27,064)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Grant-in-aid from FCO 3,300,000 3,500,000

Capital element of payments of lease liability (241,897) -

Interest expense on lease liabilities (7,947) -

Net cash inflow from financing activities   3,050,156 3,500,000

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH          
EQUIVALENTS IN THE PERIOD

  (929,425) 881,029

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,165,471 1,284,442

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   1,236,046 2,165,471

Notes to the accounts are on pages 160 -174
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

General Fund     Total £

Balances as at 31 March 2018     194,980

CHANGES IN EQUITY 2018-19

Total recognised Income and Expenditure 2018-19 (2,931,995)

Grant-in-aid from FCO 3,500,000

Balances as at 31 March 2019     762,985

CHANGES IN EQUITY 2019-20

Total recognised Income and Expenditure 2019-20 (3,353,192)

Grant-in-aid from FCO 3,300,000

Balances as at 31 March 2020     709,793

Notes to the accounts are on pages 160 -174
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Accounting policies

1.1. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as applied in 

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost 

convention, and in accordance with those parts of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) that do not conflict 

with the Companies Act 2006. The format of the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SoCNE) has been adapted 

from that prescribed by the Companies Act to better reflect the nature of WFD’s activities.

WFD is required to apply the IFRS 16 standard (Accounting for leases) in this financial year.  This accounting standard elim-

inates the previous distinction between operating and finance leases and imposes a single accounting model regarding all 

leases. The standard recognises the right of use of assets and the corresponding lease liabilities. 

1.2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In application of WFD’s accounting policies, Governors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 

the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying 

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

There is an ongoing review of estimates and underlying assumptions. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period; or recognised both in the period of the revision 

and in future periods, if the revision affects the current and future periods.

The following areas involving judgment, estimations and assumptions are considered to have the most significant effect on 

the amounts recognised in the accounts:

 

•	 Accrued income / contract assets – this requires a judgement to determine the likelihood that income will be received; and 

•	 Deferred income / contract liabilities – this requires a judgement to defer the recognition of income already received for 

the future period(s).

These areas are considered further in note 1.4 below. WFD does not consider the value or useful economic life of tangible 

fixed assets to be a significant issue for judgements, estimation, or assumption for WFD due to the low volume and value of 

such assets. 

In the view of the Governors, no assumptions concerning the future or estimation uncertainty affecting assets and liabilities 

at the Statement of Financial Position date are likely to result in a material adjustment to their carrying amounts in the next 

financial year.
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1.3 Going Concern

The Board has reviewed WFD’s financial position based on known information and has concluded that WFD has sufficient 

access to resources to remain sustainable and that it is appropriate for the Foundation to adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting.  In making this assessment, the Board considered the impact of the following factors.

First, HM Government is expected to undertake a comprehensive spending review in 2020. The outcomes of this review are 

expected to guide departmental budgets based on financial year 2021/22 and beyond. This represents a potential opportunity 

and threat to WFDs’ funding from the FCO and DFID. However, the Governors note that the recent Tailored Review, commis-

sioned by HM Government, found that WFD’s purpose remains aligned with Government objectives, working in support of 

both FCO and DFID departmental objectives to champion democracy and to promote effective, accountable, and inclusive 

institutions. The Report also confirmed that WFD is effective, represents value for money for the taxpayer, and should be 

considered a trusted partner of FCO.

Second, the Board has considered the impact of EU-Exit on WFD. At present, WFD benefits directly and indirectly from EU 

funding, although this does not represent a significant proportion of income. However, the Board notes that HM Government 

has issued a ‘No Deal financial assurance’ to UK agencies on current EU development funding and that it is a member of a 

network, the European Partnership for Democracy, which would still have access to EU funding. As such, the Board does not 

consider that EU-Exit would have a material impact on WFD’s ability to act as a going concern.

Third, the expected impacts of the current pandemic (Covid 19), have been factored into the budget for financial year 2020/21. 

Funding plans expected from all sources have been revisited and remain stable, with expenditure plans aligned accordingly. 

The budget was revised soon after the pandemic impacts of social distancing, national lockdowns and travel restrictions be-

came apparent.  Programme and corporate plans were re-shaped to reflect the changes in ways of working and the change 

in the approach required for delivering programmes. 

In August 2020, the government announced its intention to reduce expenditure on Official Development Assistance (ODA) in 

2020, in line with the reduction in Gross National Income. As a result of this, the FCDO agreed with WFD a reduction in the level 

of grant due to WFD in 2020/21 of £845k. This was agreed following detailed discussions between officials, based on costed 

plans to ensure that WFD remains sustainable and a going concern. WFD will offset this reduction by savings in programme 

expenditure and central overheads, a freeze on the recruitment of new staff, and the use of reserves.

FCO has provided a Letter of Comfort to WFD noting that it will continue to support WFD by providing adequate financial 

assistance (as needed) to enable WFD to continue operating as a going concern for at least a period of twelve months from 

the date  of these accounts.
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1.4 Income

Contract assets and liabilities as defined under IFRS have been recognised in replacement for accrued and deferred income.

WFD partners with UK political parties, parliaments, electoral and financial audit institutions to help over 30 developing 

countries make their governments fairer, more effective and accountable. WFD meets its obligations mainly through funding 

received from the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office (formerly DFID and FCO) and the EU.

In accordance with the FReM, FCO grant-in-aid received in the year is accounted for through the reserves in the year to which 

it relates. 

Other income is recognised when:

•	 WFD has entitlement to the funds; 

•	 Any conditions attached to the item(s) of income have been met; 

•	 It is probable that the income will be received; and 

•	 The amount can be measured reliably.

WFD’s portfolio includes a mix of grants provided by institutional donors, such as the DFID Accountable Grant and FCO, for 

democracy assistance activities, some of which are paid in advance, with others paid in arrears. Grants received in advance 

of expenditure are recognised as income or carried forward at year-end as a contract liability (in accordance with IFRS 15) 

and released to the net expenditure account in the period in which costs are incurred. Grants awarded, but received after 

costs are incurred, are recognised as income or as a contract asset (in accordance with IFRS 15) in the period in which the 

costs are incurred. 

WFD is also party to several contracts for services, including with the FCO, under which funders pay against invoices, in con-

nection with the delivery of agreed democracy assistance services by WFD. Work undertaken has no alternative use for WFD 

and the contracts require payment to be received for the time and effort spent on progressing the contracts. In the event of 

the customer cancelling the contract prior to completion for any reason other than WFD’s failure to perform its obligations 

under the contract, payment covering work to date would be receivable.

On partially complete contracts, WFD recognises revenue based on stage of completion of the project which is estimated 

by comparing the number of hours actually spent on the project with the total number of hours expected to complete the 

project (that is, an input-based method). This is considered a faithful depiction of the transfer of services as the contracts 

are initially priced on the basis of anticipated hours to complete the projects and this therefore also represents the amount 

to which WFD would be entitled based on its performance to date.

Within the Statement of Financial Position, a contract asset and contract liability have been recognised:

•	 Contract asset – the difference between the amount invoiced to the customer and the latest milestone achieved. An accom-

panying receivable will be recognised if the customer has yet to pay the invoice. This balance will also include recognition of 

a receivable for costs which have been incurred to support milestones that have not yet been fully achieved. Any impairment 

relating to this balance will be measured, presented and disclosed in relation to IFRS 9.

•	 Contract liability – the difference between the invoiced income and the latest achieved contracted milestone. An accom-

panying receivable will be recognised if the customer has yet to pay the invoice.
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1.5 Expenditure

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third party, it is probable 

that settlement will be required, and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost against the activity for which the expenditure was incurred. 

1.6 Grants payable

WFD has no liability for claims for grants that are not received by the end of the financial year.

1.7 Pension costs

Pension contributions paid by WFD in respect of employees to a defined contribution scheme are charged to the SoCNE when 

they become payable. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions paid are shown in ‘Trade 

payables and other current liabilities’ in the Statement of Financial Position (SoFP). 

Pension contributions paid by WFD in respect of employees to a defined benefit, multi-employer scheme are charged to the 

SoCNE when they become payable. This is line with IAS 19 requirements for multi-employer schemes where the assets are 

co-mingled for investment purposes and the benefits are paid out of the scheme’s total assets. 

Please see note 4 for further details.

1.8 Foreign exchange transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency 

balances are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences are 

taken to the SoCNE.

1.9 Taxation

WFD is not liable to Corporation Tax on grants received but is liable to tax on investment income.

1.10 General fund

Core funds represent the unspent balances of income received, for use by WFD in the future at its discretion. Designated 

funds relate to grants received for specific purposes which may be spent only on those purposes. Grant-in-aid is received 

from the FCO and recognised directly in the General Fund.

1.11 Non-current assets and depreciation

Non-current assets costing more than £2,000 are capitalised and included at cost, including any incidental expenses of 

acquisition, on the SoFP. All such tangible assets are owned in full. 

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic lives on a straight-

line basis as follows: 

Computer equipment 3 years

Furniture and fittings 5 years

Right of use assets Over the life of the lease
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1.12 Reserves policy

WFD has recently agreed with its sponsor department, the FCO, that it is appropriate to retain reserves to ensure the stability 

and sustainability of the organisation for the foreseeable future. This includes an assessment of current and future working 

capital requirements. WFD has adopted a Reserves Policy based on the following principles: risk-based, justified and appro-

priate, current, and good governance and is subject to regular consultation and review.

1.13 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 includes requirements for classification recognition and measurement, impairment, derecognition and general hedge 

accounting. WFD’s financial instruments are trade receivables and payables. Receivables are shown net of expected credit 

loss. 2019-20 accounts would not need transition disclosures in respect of IFRS 9, due to the effect of IFRS 9 on WFD’s ac-

counts not being significant. This is because WFD holds receivables with customers with low credit risk (central government 

departments, overseas governments and organisations and other well-respected organisations), and other receivables are 

simple trade receivables held for collecting cash in the normal course of business.

WFD has financial assets and financial liabilities of the kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic financial instru-

ments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at the present value of future cash flows 

(amortised cost).

Financial assets held at amortised cost comprise cash at bank and in hand and trade and other receivables, excluding pre-

payments and accrued income and contract assets.

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost comprise trade and other payables, excluding accrued expenditure and deferred 

income and contract liabilities.

No discounting has been applied to these financial instruments on the basis that the periods over which amounts will be 

settled are such that any discounting would be immaterial.

At the Statement of Financial Position date WFD held financial assets at amortised cost of £2,048,000 (2018-19: £2,930,000) 

and financial liabilities at amortised cost of £1,091,000 (2018-19: £1,072,000).

1.14 Leases

WFD leases its UK head office and until 31 March 2019, payments and related lease incentives were charged to the SoCNE on 

a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. WFD adopted IFRS 16 with effect from the financial year commencing 1 April 

2019 and hence its lease obligations have been treated in line with this standard.

 

The adoption of IFRS 16 has been applied to the accounting of leases in this financial year. It is based upon an examination of 

all leases held by WFD and the material impact of such leases. The material impact has been a key consideration with regard 

to our leases in our overseas offices: these total 28 in number. All leases have been considered separately in terms of the 

length of the lease and judgements made on options to extend the lease. Four of these leases with a combined annual rent 

of £28,000 are considered as exempt as they are considered low value leases. Eighteen of these leases are exempt as short-

term leases, as these have lease agreements of 12 months or less.   

In this regard, only the leases for the London office are seen as material and not short term for consideration in terms of 

applying IFRS 16. There are two leases for the London office, both due to end in March 2021. This includes the service charges, 

that are considered to be components of both the leases. The other component of these leases is the additional cost result-

ing from the cost of future repairs. These are already accounted for in previous financial years and the current year in the 

current dilapidations provision, as per note 11 below. The current option of renewing or extending the London office lease is 

not currently considered an option that WFD will be undertaking. The incremental borrowing rate that has been applied to 

determine the current cost of the London office leases is as per the most recent PES paper in calculation for the discount rate.
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Based on practical expedients, the retrospective modified approach has been applied and this excludes initial direct costs from 

the measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of initial application in recognising the lease liabilities in the Statement 

of Financial Position. For subsequent measures, the cost model approach has been applied.

More details on the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 can be found within note 10 on page 171.  

1.15 IFRS in issue but not effective

IFRS 17 (a standard for insurance contracts) will be effective from the financial year 2022-23. However, this standard is unlikely 

to have any impact on WFD’s reporting.  

2.	 Income

  2020 £ 2019 £

European Union 772,336 993,195

DFID 4,047,811 4,270,967

DFID Myanmar 1,603,817 1,185,622

Other FCO 691,374 930,896

Commonwealth Partnership for Democracy (CP4D) 1,803,625 1,699,120

Other UK Government 3,261,301 1,957,303

Third Party 754,608 990,180

Total 12,934,872 12,027,283

During the year WFD received £3.9m (2018-19: £3.8m) from DFID in relation to our Accountable Grant funding. This was part 

of a new £12 million, three-year Accountable Grant, which commenced in August 2018. 
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3. Direct expenditure on WFD projects
In the opinion of the Board, owing to the scale of activity there is a single segment of business activity which is strengthening 

pluralist democratic institutions, particularly political parties. Further segmentation on direct projects’ expenditure table is 

currently not disclosed. 

Costs of programmes directly implemented by WFD include expenditure in respect of EU grants received totalling £772,000 

(2018-19: £993,000).

    2020 £ 2019 £

Programmes directly implemented by WFD 9,855,364 9,139,519

Conservative Party 937,151 958,497

Labour Party 789,069 878,859

Scottish National Party 173,342 192,245

Multi parties 274,275 261,130

Travel and subsistence 67,818 10,921

Total   12,097,019 11,441,171
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4. Staff costs

 

 

Permanently        
employed staff

Others
2020 £  

Total  
2019 £   
Total

Wages and salaries 2,288,933 138,236 2,427,169 2,010,368

Social security costs 242,824 - 242,824 209,321

Pension costs 485,524 - 485,524 335,637

Recruitment and other staff costs 82,033 - 82,033 187,122

Change in untaken holiday entitlement 14,853 - 14,853 30,288

Total net costs 3,114,167 138,236 3,252,403 2,772,736

Direct expenditure on WFD projects includes overseas locally engaged staff £2.1 million (2019: £1.5 million) and is included 

in note 3.

The Governors did not receive any remuneration for their services. Travel costs of £nil (2019: £nil) were reimbursed in the year.

Staff numbers

The average number of employees (excluding Governors and vacancies) during the year was: 

    2020 2019

Permanent - UK  47.6  43.3 

Temporary - UK  2.8  1.3 

Rest of World    96.9  69.2 

    147.3 113.8 

Pension commitments

As a publicly funded body listed in Schedule 1 to the Superannuation Act 1972, WFD is included in Civil Service pension ar-

rangements. The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) and the Civil Servant and Other Pension Scheme (CSOPS) 

– known as ‘alpha’ - are unfunded multi-employer defined benefit schemes. For further details about pension arrangements 

please refer to the pension commitments section above on page 152.
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5. Other operating charges

  2020 £ 2019 £

Loss on foreign exchange 38,765 21,289

Auditor’s remuneration 20,500 18,500

Operating leases - 164,698

Finance costs 7,947 -

Depreciation and amortisation 264,551 16,561

Total 331,763 221,048

NAO received no payments for any work conducted outside the normal annual audit (2019: nil). 
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment

 
Leased     

equipment £
Computer 

equipment £
Furniture and 

fittings £
Total               

£

COST        

At 1 April 2018 - 63,684 47,013 110,697

Additions 6,987 7,161 12,916 27,064

Disposals - - - -

as at 31 March 2019 6,987 70,845 59,929 137,761

as at 1 April 2019 6,987 70,845 59,929 137,761

Additions - 10,942 - 10,942

Disposals - - - -

as at 31 March 2020 6,987 81,787 59,929 148,703

DEPRECIATION        

At 1 April 2018 - 41,447 47,013 88,460

Charge in year 1,397 13,873 1,291 16,561

Disposals - - - -

as at 31 March 2019 1,397 55,320 48,304 105,021

as at 1 April 2019 1,397 55,320 48,304 105,021

Charge in year 2,795 14,845 2,583 20,223

Disposals - - - -

as at 31 March 2020 4,192 70,165 50,887 125,244

NET BOOK VALUE        

At 31 March 2020 2,795 11,622 9,042 23,459

At 31 March 2019 5,590 15,525 11,625 32,740
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7. Trade receivables and other current assets

  2020 £ 2019 £

Trade receivables and other current assets 548,651 614,225

Deposits and advances 263,224 150,007

Prepayments and accrued income 129,784 99,200

Contract assets 1,247,521 834,236

Total 2,189,180 1,697,668

All amounts included in the above table fall due within one year.

Contract assets and trade receivables at 31 March 2020 include £321,000 (2019: £123,000) relating to EU grants.

8. Trade payables and other current liabilities

   2020 £ 2019 £

Trade payables 1,039,982 1,072,493

Pension contributions payable 51,290 138

Accruals and deferred income 1,110,245 1,296,174

Contract liabilities 502,543 731,688

Total 2,704,060 3,100,493

All amounts included in the above table fall due within one year. Please note that trade payables in the prior year including 

the provision totalling £32,401 are now shown as part of note 11.

Contract liability at 31 March 2020 includes £95,000 (2019: £224,000) relating to EU grants. Last year’s figures included an 

error in classification of £40,000 relating to pension contribution within trade payables accounting for the significant change 

in amounts when compared with the current year’s balance. 

9. Financial exposure
As the cash requirements of WFD are substantially met through grant-in-aid provided by the Foreign and Commonwealth 

Office and DFID, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would usually apply to a 

non-departmental public body. WFD, therefore, has low exposure to credit, liquidity, or market risk. WFD operates in many 

foreign countries; as a result, it is necessary to use foreign currency to run operations abroad. Foreign exchange risk is kept 

to a minimum by holding the least required cash in foreign bank accounts.
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10. Leases
The retrospective modified approach of IFRS 16 has been adopted and applied and this excludes initial direct costs from the 

measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of initial application in recognising the lease liabilities in the Statement of 

Financial Position. Included in the SoCNE is the finance expense of £252,000; £244,000 relates to the amortisation of the 

right-of-use asset and £8,000 represents the interest charge.

Set out below is the effect of adopting IFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 and movements during the period in the carrying amount of 

the lease liability:

£

On adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 488,656

Interest accrued 7,947

Payments (249,844)

Lease Liability at 31 March 2020 246,759

The following amounts relating to leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
net expenditure in the year to 31 March 2020:

Amortisation of right-of-use assets 244,328

Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,947

  252,275

Impact on 2020 £

Increase in depreciation expense due to increase in right-of-use asset 244,328

Decrease in administrative expense due to lower operating lease rental costs (249,844)

Increase in finance expenses relating to interest expense on lease liabilities 7,947

Net increase in loss in year 2,431

As a direct consequence of the above, as at 31 March 2020, WFD had nil annual commitments under non-cancellable operating 

leases (2019: £196,000).
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11. Provisions

   2020 £ 2019 £

Provision for dilapidation 25,250 25,250

Other provisions 7,151 7,151

Total 32,401 32,401

The provisions held as at 31 March 2020 include a dilapidation provision with respect to the UK office premises upon surrender 

of the lease. The other provisions figure represents a potential tax liability provision for staff in WFD Tunisia office. These 

provisions are due to be reviewed in the 2020-21 financial year.   

12. Legal status
WFD is a company limited by guarantee, not having a share capital. The liability of the two members, being the Secretary of 

State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs and the Treasury Solicitor, is limited to £1 each.
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13. General fund
The balance of Designated Funds at 31 March 2020 represents a donation designated for a specific purpose.  As in previous 

years, the bank balance is held in a commercial bank.

    Core £ Designated £ Total £

COST        

At 1 April 2019

Property, Plant and Equipment 32,740 - 32,740

Trade and other receivables 1,697,668 - 1,697,668

Cash and cash equivalents 2,154,912 10,559 2,165,471

Trade and other payables (3,132,894) - (3,132,894)

as at 31 March 2019   752,426 10,559 762,985

At 31 March 2020

Property, Plant and Equipment 23,459 - 23,459

Right-of-use assets 244,328 - 244,328

Trade and other receivables 2,189,180 - 2,189,180

Cash and cash equivalents 1,225,487 10,559 1,236,046

Trade and other payables (2,983,220) - (2,983,220)

as at 31 March 2020   699,234 10,559 709,793
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14. Related party transactions
WFD is a non-departmental public body sponsored by the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO). The FCO is regarded as a 

related party. Core funding of £3.3 million was received from the FCO as grant-in-aid. In addition, programme specific funding 

of £691,000 was receivable from the FCO and FCO embassies and £3.3m from the Conflict, Stability and Security Fund (CSSF). 

Funding of £3.9 million was receivable from the Department for International Development (DFID) in the form of an accounta-

ble grant. Programme specific funding of £1.8 million from other grants was also receivable from DFID in the year.  All related 

party transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.

No board member, key manager or other related parties have undertaken any material transactions with the WFD during 

the year.    

15. Events after the reporting period
On 16th June 2020, the Prime Minister announced that from 2 September 2020, the Department for International Development 

and the Foreign and Commonwealth Office would merge into a new department to be called the Foreign, Commonwealth and 

Development Office (FCDO).  All functions of the two existing departments have now transferred into the FCDO.

In August 2020, the government announced its intention to reduce expenditure on Official Development Assistance (ODA) 

in 2020, in line with the reduction in Gross National Income. As a result of this, the FCDO agreed with WFD a reduction in 

the level of grant due to WFD in 2020/21 of £845k. WFD will offset this reduction by savings in programme expenditure and 

central overheads, a freeze on the recruitment of new staff and the use of reserves.	

The accounts have been authorised for issue on the same date as the Comptroller and the Auditor General’s Audit 

Certificate. 
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This photo was taken as part of our programme in the Western Balkans, 
a region where WFD has been supporting the development of democratic 
practices since the early 1990s. For more information on what the programme 
achieved this year, see the Western Balkans section.
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Top countries visiting the website:
UK, US, North Macedonia, Myanmar, Serbia, Nigeria, Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, Albania, Kenya, Uganda

Visitors to our website (www.wfd.org)

Countries and territories where 
website traffic came from

New Twitter followers gained

Total Twitter followers

People reached on average via our 
posts in the last 6 months

Subscribers to our email newsletter

Followers on Facebook

LinkedIn followers to end 
the year



Speaking at our annual parliamentary reception in July 2019, then Secretary of 
State for International Development, Rory Stewart, delivered a speech expressing 
words of encouragement for WFD’s work on democracy assistance: ‘It is with 
humility and a sense of genuine partnership and mutual learning that we will tackle 
the global challenges of democracy today.’
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About WFD

Westminster Foundation for Democracy (WFD) is a non-departmental public body of the Foreign Commonwealth and Devel-

opment Office. It was established as a UK public body in 1992 to support the development of democracy around the world, 

independently from Government and in a transparent manner. Initially, we supported new democratic institutions, political 

parties and independent media by awarding grants. 

Currently, we design and deliver long-term programmes directly all over the world, using UK and international experts, 

through a network of national offices in 33 countries which are based in or near the parliaments of partner countries. All 

employ local staff.

Operating at country, regional and global level, we:

•	 Provide technical advice and training to partners on policy, legislation, elections and engagement;

•	 Support the creation of partnerships, coalitions and peer networks;

•	 Share the diverse range of UK parliamentary, political and institutional experience.

We are committed to working in a responsible, transparent and innovative way. All our international cooperation programmes 

are designed and adapted based on local knowledge and priorities, and benefit from best-in-class monitoring, evaluation and 

learning practice.

WFD also supports the international development activities of political parties represented in the UK House of Commons, and 

we are responsible for recruiting, training and deploying UK nationals to serve in international election observation missions.
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Lord Ahmad of Wimbledon, Minister of State for the Commonwealth, opened 
our Commonwealth conference in March 2020. For more details about the 
programme’s achievements, see the Commonwealth of Nations section.



Reference and administrative details

Westminster Foundation for Democracy

An Executive Non-Departmental Public Body of the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office

The Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs and the Treasury Solicitor are the two named subscribers to 

the Company’s Memorandum of Association. The Secretary of State has formal powers of appointment to WFD’s Board of 

Governors but the Board operates independently and at arm’s length from Government.

WFD receives grant-in-aid from the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office provided out of monies voted by Parlia-

ment to enable it to achieve agreed objectives.

Domiciled in the United Kingdom

WFD is a company limited by guarantee and therefore does not have a share capital

Company registration: 2693163

Registered office: 8th Floor Artillery House, 11-19 Artillery Row, London, SW19 1RT

Principal bank: HSBC Bank, West End Business Banking Centre, 2nd Floor, 16 Kings Street, Covent Garden, London WC2E 8JF

Auditors: National Audit Office, 157-197 Buckingham Palace Road, Victoria, London, SW1W 9SP

For more information

Website: www.wfd.org 

Twitter @WFD_Democracy 

Facebook @WestminsterFoundation

Have a question or feedback?

Tel: +44 (0)20 7799 1311

Email: info@wfd.org 
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